
www.edinburgh.gov.uk/communityplanning 
 

 

 
 

Meeting Wednesday, 15 December 2021 

Time 1.00 pm  

Venue Virtual Meeting - via Microsoft Teams 

 
Edinburgh Partnership Board 
 
  Pages 

 
1. Welcome and Meeting Protocols  
 

 

1.1   Welcome and Meeting Protocols 
 

 

2. Declaration of Interests  
 

 

2.1   Declarations of Interest 
 

 

3. Minutes  
 

 

3.1   Minutes of the Edinburgh Partnership of 21 September 2021 
 

3 - 10 

4. Business  
 

 

4.1   End Poverty Edinburgh 
 
 

Verbal 
Report 

4.2   Climate Strategy 
 
 

11 - 34 

4.3   Collaborative Working with Edinburgh Association of Community 
Councils 
 
 

35 - 38 

4.4   Armed Forces Covenant 
 
 

39 - 46 

4.5   Edinburgh Partnership Budget 
 
 

47 - 52 

4.6   National Care Service 
 

53 - 228 

4.7   Third Sector Interface Research 
 

Verbal 
Report 

Public Document Pack

http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/communityplanning


 

5. Future Meetings  
 

 

5.1   Date of Next Meeting : Tuesday 15 March 2022 at 2pm 
 

 

 
 



 
 

 
THE EDINBURGH PARTNERSHIP BOARD 

 
Tuesday 21 September 2021 – 2:00pm - Meeting held via Microsoft Teams 

 
MINUTE 

 
 

Board members present 
Cllr Adam McVey The City of Edinburgh Council  
Cllr Cammy Day The City of Edinburgh Council 
Gavin Donoghue The University of Edinburgh 
Cllr Robert Aldridge The City of Edinburgh Council 
Cllr Susan Rae The City of Edinburgh Council 
Cllr Iain Whyte The City of Edinburgh Council 
Mark McMullen Scottish Enterprise 
Stevie Kerr Edinburgh Association of Community Councils 
Angus McCann Chair of the Edinburgh Integration Joint Board  
Bridie Ashrowan EVOC 
Calum Campbell NHS Lothian  
Dona Milne NHS Lothian 
Hugo Clark Ministry of Defence 
Sean Scott Police Scotland   
Calum Campbell NHS Lothian 
Dona Milne NHS Lothian  
 
In attendance  
Paula McLeay The City of Edinburgh Council 
Michele Mulvaney The City of Edinburgh Council 
John Heywood The City of Edinburgh Council 
Jon Ferrer The City of Edinburgh Council 
Paula McLeay The City of Edinburgh Council 
Shirley McLaren The City of Edinburgh Council 
Judith Stonebridge NHS Lothian 
Samantha Ainslie Police Scotland  
George Lowder Transport for Edinburgh 
Keith Langley Scottish Fire and Rescue  
 
Apologies  
Lorraine Simpson Edinburgh Chamber of Commerce 
Andrew Kerr The City of Edinburgh Council 
Dave McCallum Skills Development Scotland   

Page 3

Agenda Item 3a



 
 

The Edinburgh Partnership Board – 21 September 2021 
                                         Page 2 

Kenny Rodgers  Scottish Fire and Rescue  
Michael Chalmers Scottish Government 
Audrey Cumberford Edinburgh College 
 
 

1  Minutes 
Decision 
To agree the minutes of 22 June 2021 as a correct record. 

 
2  Local Outcome Improvement Plan and Performance 

 Measures 
The Edinburgh Partnership was required to produce a Local Outcome Improvement 
Plan (LOIP) under the Community Empowerment (Scotland) Act 2015. 
 
The plan set out the partners’ ambitions for the city over a ten-year period to 
address poverty and inequality. Recognising policy shifts in the city and the 
effects of COVID 19, the Board had previously agreed to a revised approach 
including the development of a delivery plan. The report which was presented set out 
the LOIP delivery plan. 
 
Questions were invited from members which focussed on the following themes: 

• Clarification on the actions which had taken place to date. 
• Minimising jargon within the delivery plan. 
• That measurement of outcomes was complicated.   
• That the Delivery Plan was an iterative document, and that the outcome and 

action metrics would be updated and return to the next version of the 
Edinburgh Partnership Board in December 2021. 

• That the aspiration was that the Delivery Plan could be a mechanism for 
Partners to look inward to reflect upon activity and for the Partnership to hold 
each other to account for delivery purposes.   

Decision 

1) To review and agree the LOIP delivery plan; 
 

2) To note the further work which was required to redraft the LOIP document to 
incorporate the reframed priorities, together with revised outcome metrics;  

 
3) To note that the redraft would be brought to the Board in December 2021; 

 
4) To note that progress on the delivery of the LOIP would be subject to annual 

reporting to the Board beginning in September 2022; 

Page 4



 
 

The Edinburgh Partnership Board – 21 September 2021 
                                         Page 3 

 
5) To agree that the next iteration of the Delivery Plan which was reported to the 

Edinburgh Partnership Board would provide further detail on the progress of the 
actions and contained less jargon within the document.  

 

3 Best Value Assurance Improvement Plan: Progress Update 
 
The Edinburgh Partnership Board agreed a Best Value Improvement Plan at its 
meeting on 22 June 2021. The plan set out the actions to address the findings 
from the Best Value Assurance Audit to strengthen community planning in the 
city.  An update on progress in the delivery of the improvement plan and a 
proposed approach to mainstreaming the actions as part of the future Edinburgh 
Partnership core activity was presented. 
 
Discussion ensued from Partners and the following points were highlighted: 
 
• That in response to the enough money to live off focus of the Edinburgh 

Poverty Commission, there would be a review of advice services. 
• That a report would be presented to the income maximisation group on 

Thursday 24 June 2021, to then return for consideration by the LOIP. 
• To note that a further report would be presented to the Edinburgh Partnership 

Board in December 2021. 
• To note that Bridie Ashrowan would be joining the LOIP delivery group. 
• That the 1 in 5: Raising Awareness of Child Poverty in Edinburgh training had 

proved to be both successful and influential and that there was an expression 
of interest by the University of Edinburgh to embed the 1 in 5 training within 
the University. 

• That Poverty Commission Members and the Edinburgh Guarantee group 
were helpful contacts to source 1 in 5 training providers for the University of 
Edinburgh and that Chris Adams would to share with Gavin Donoghue the 
work which had been undertaken in schools to inform how the 1 in 5 training  
could be rolled out to the university. 

• To note that Richard Thomas would be taking on a secondment within Police 
Scotland and that Judith Stonebridge and Nick Croft would be taking on the 
role jointly as Co-Chairs of the LOIP.    

• That a re-shaping of the relationship between Edinburgh Partnership Partners 
and city residents was underway, working with networks of local people, 
through the Community Anchors who were acting as trusted community hubs 
which knew and understood communities. 

• That a process of codesign with Edinburgh’s community & voluntary sector, 
and people in communities was taking place to ensure that there was no 

Page 5



 
 

The Edinburgh Partnership Board – 21 September 2021 
                                         Page 4 

wrong door, but multiple doors, for children and families or older people, 
different for each person, requiring local support. 

Decision 
 
1)  To  note the progress which had been made in implementing the improvement 

plan actions as set out in the appendix of the report;  
 

2) To agree to mainstream the improvement actions with further progress being 
subject to standalone reporting or as part of the annual LOIP reporting as set out 
in the appendix; 
 

3) To agree that partners committed to the re-establishment of the community 
planning support team to continue to progress the Edinburgh Partnership 
development plan and strategic actions identified within the LOIP delivery plan;  
 

4) To agree that partners would nominate representatives to participate in 
discussions with EACC on collaborative working with community councils and 
that Michele Mulvaney would follow up with the Edinburgh Partnership Members 
via email for them to submit their nominations.  

 

4 COP26 
COP26 was the 26th Conference of the Parties to the United Nations Framework 
Convention on Climate Change. The COP itself was a two-week conference of 
formal negotiations, plus multiple side-events typically attracting up to 50,000 people 
with representatives from around 150 countries, including Heads of State, Senior 
Ministers, businesses, Non-Governmental Organisations (NGOs) and media. 
 
This was the first time the UK would host the conference, which was originally 
scheduled for November 2020 but postponed due to the Coivd-19 pandemic.  
Delegates from across the world were expected to attend formal events in the 'blue 
zone' where climate experts, campaigners, policy makers and world leaders would 
debate how to make global progress on climate change.  The conference also 
incorporated side events in the 'green zone', a citizen meeting space where NGOs, 
organisations and national representatives engage with each other and the general 
public on aspects of environmental awareness, social equality and reflections on 
proceedings at the COP.  It was currently anticipated that around 20% of delegates 
will choose to stay in Edinburgh for the duration of the Conference, with many 
visiting Consulates based in the Capital.  This meant that the city had to prepare to 
formally support COP26 delivering a successful event in Scotland. In addition, as the 
capital city of Scotland and the seat of the Scottish Parliament, the city was also 
preparing for an influx of visitors and delegates participating in COP and potentially 
some degree of protest and disruption. 

Page 6



 
 

The Edinburgh Partnership Board – 21 September 2021 
                                         Page 5 

Alongside supporting and managing the formal aspects of COP 26, the global 
climate event represented an important opportunity for Edinburgh to demonstrate 
the steps the city was taking to tackle climate change, and to secure a strong COP 
legacy for the city.  
 
Members of the Partnership discussed the forthcoming COP and the following 
discussion topics emerged: 
 

• That there were ongoing capacity challenges within the NHS, which would 
persist during the COP. 

• That due to the Terminal V music event at Ingliston which was planned, a 
multiagency meeting was taking place to consider the appropriateness of this 
event proceeding. 

• That the COP would attract 10,000-12,000 attendees and that 1 and 2 
November 2021 were the days when the world leaders were expected to be in 
attendance and that a clearer picture on delegates who would be attending 
was expected shortly.   

• Sean Scott provided an update to the Edinburgh Partnership around the 
ongoing work which was underway by Police Scotland, to manage and 
prepare for the event.   

• To note the request from NHS Lothian to engage with EVOC to discuss 
voluntary sector support during the COP.    

• To note that NHS Lothian had concerns regarding their ability to fulfil their 
category one obligations, in the event of an emergency due to the ongoing 
pressures facing the NHS as a result of the pandemic. 

 
Decision 
 
1) To note the co-ordinated support by city partners to ensure the COP26. 
      programme promoted Edinburgh’s NetZero ambitions to a wide audience. 
 
2) To note the progress in co-ordinating the city’s safety, transport and resilience 
      planning through a partnership approach. 
 
3) To note the request from NHS Lothian to engage with EVOC to discuss voluntary 

sector support during the COP.    
 

5 Community Justice Annual Activity Return 2020/21 
Edinburgh’s Community Safety and Justice Partnership (CSJP) was responsible for 
developing and implementing Edinburgh’s Community Justice Outcomes 
Improvement Plan (CJOIP) on behalf of the Edinburgh Partnership (community 
planning). The completed Community Justice Local Area Annual Return 
Template contained examples of partner’s individual and 

Page 7



 
 

The Edinburgh Partnership Board – 21 September 2021 
                                         Page 6 

collective community justice activity during 2019/20. 
 
Decision 
 

1. To approve Edinburgh’s Community Justice Local Area Annual 
Return for 2020/21 (appendix 3 refers). 
 

2. To agree that there would be a one page. 
 

3. To agree that a presentation would be made to the for the new conjoined  
 

6 Edinburgh Community Safety Strategy 2020/2023 Update 
The Edinburgh Community Safety Partnership (ECSP) ratified Edinburgh’s three-
year Community Safety (CS) Strategy on March 2020. Updates on 
the progress of each separate priority theme had been scheduled quarterly to 
be presented to the ECSP over the lifetime of the strategy.  This second yearly 
report provided a collective overview to inform the Edinburgh Partnership of the work 
that each of the three thematic delivery groups had carried out to date under each 
theme.  The EIJB was becoming more strategically connected with the community 
planning frameworks.  The Edinburgh Association of Community Councils and IJB 
had met a to discuss improving this relationship.   

 
Decision  

 
To Note the contents of the second yearly update report of the work that had 
been carried out under Edinburgh’s joint three-year Community Safety Strategy 2020 
– 2023. 
 

7 Edinburgh Community Learning and Development Plan 2021 - 
24 

The CLD Partnership had produced a new three-year community learning and 
development plan 2021 -2024.The plan focused on key areas of activity identified by 
partners, which would add value to community learning and development delivery, 
by identifying where the partnership could bring fresh thinking and collaborative effort 
to make a difference and improve outcomes.  The CLDP wished to update the 
Edinburgh Partnership Board on the new plan and point to next steps. 
 

Decision 
 

To note progress and agree to receive a further progress update from the CLD 
Partnership in March 2022, including what the measures of success look like.   

Page 8



 
 

The Edinburgh Partnership Board – 21 September 2021 
                                         Page 7 

 

8 Date of Next Meeting and Dates for Meetings 2021/2022 
 
Decision  

 
To agree to host the Edinburgh Partnership on the following dates during 
2021/22: 

• Wednesday 15 December 2021 at 1pm 
• Tuesday 15 March 2022 at 2pm 
• Tuesday 28 June 2022 at 2pm 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Edinburgh 2030 Climate Strategy  

1. Executive Summary 

 

1.1 In May 2019, the City of Edinburgh Council declared a climate emergency and set out a 

vision for the city to be net zero by 2030.  This will be key to achieving the fairer, cleaner 

and greener city that citizens and partners said they wanted through previous 

engagement on the City Vision. A t the same time, The Scottish Government passed 

legislation placing a legal duty on public bodies to be net zero by 2045.  

1.2 Following these commitments, the Council led a comprehensive programme of 

engagement with citizens and city partners over the following period which identified 

strong support for a net zero Edinburgh by 2030. The Council then worked with city 

partners to develop a 2030 Climate Strategy and implementation plan for the city.  

1.3 Achieving net zero will require city-wide collaboration at a level, depth and pace that 

exceeds the city response to COVID. The 2030 Climate Strategy sets out priority areas 

of action; with each thematic identifying key strategic actions with the implementation 

plan detailing deliverables and key milestones agreed by key partners. The 2030 Climate 

Strategy Executive Summary has been attached in Appendix 1 for ease.  

1.4 The Strategy also sets out a proposed governance framework which will bring city 

partners together across key workstreams, overseen by a Climate Strategy Programme 

Infrastructure Investment Board. Collective oversight and scrutiny of progress will be key 

to achieving the strategy’s aims. The strategy therefore proposes that the Board reports 

to the Edinburgh Partnership Board in keeping with the agreed development of theme 3 

of the LOIP’s development to include a focus on sustainability.  

2. Recommendations 

 

2.1 The Board is recommended to:  

i. Endorse the 2030 Climate Strategy, noting that it lays out a journey towards a net 

zero city which will continue to develop and evolve through changes to innovation, 

knowledge and resourcing.   

ii. Agree that in keeping with the development of theme 3 of the LOIP ‘A Good Place to 

Live’, the EPB provides an oversight function on behalf of the city, receiving annual 

reporting on progress from the Climate Strategy Investment Programme Board, and 

key governance groups described in the remainder of the paper as appropriate.  

iii. Note that the wider outcomes the strategy aims to achieve are also closely aligned 

with all three LOIP priorities, and it is envisioned the work of the LOIP Delivery 

Group will make an important contribution to wider strategic climate action through 

its delivery of all the LOIP priorities.   

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4b

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s40760/Item%207.4%20-%202030%20Climate%20Strategy%20and%20Implementation%20Plan.pdf


   
 

 2  

3. Main Report 

Background  

3.1 In response to the climate crisis, the City of Edinburgh Council declared a climate 

emergency, established an independent Climate Commission and set a target for the city 

to be net zero by 2030.  

3.2 If Scotland is to meet it’s 2045 target, cities need to make faster progress and Edinburgh 

needs to play its part by striving to reach net zero by 2030.1 This will require action by 

‘city partners’ – that is, organisations across the public, private and voluntary sector, and 

also communities and individual citizens, who can have an impact on the city’s 

emissions by reducing their own footprints and collaborating to unlock change. 

3.3 It is also well recognised that public bodies have a leadership role in reducing emissions 

and preparing for the challenges of climate change.2 In addition to the 2045 target, 

Scottish Government has established requirements for public bodies to reduce and 

report on their emissions targets and progress.  

3.4 The Council has been engaging on climate-related issues with residents and other 

stakeholders for a number of years, including through Edinburgh Talks Climate. This, 

plus engagement with wider city partners, informed the development of the draft 2030 

Climate Strategy which was subject to formal consultation over the summer period.  

3.5 Following this public consultation which took place between June – September 2021, a 

revised version of the 2030 Climate Strategy and implementation plan was developed 

and agreed by Policy and Sustainability Committee in November 2021. Many 

organisations within the Edinburgh Partnership have contributed to the consultation and 

ongoing partner engagement, and are included as delivery partners in the 

implementation plan where they have made an individual specific commitment to support 

particular actions in line with their areas of responsibility and expertise.3  

3.6 On 22 June the Edinburgh Partnership Board, approved a refresh of theme 3 of the LOIP 

which included to increase the focus of the partnership on sustainability, ‘We will work to 

the principles for climate action set out in the Edinburgh City Climate Strategy. Ensuring 

we actively support measures that deliver clean air and reduce environmental impacts 

for example through the development of thriving green spaces and active travel, warm 

homes and local jobs contributing to our journey towards a net zero city by 2030’ 

 

2030 Climate Strategy  

3.7 The 2030 Climate Strategy is for the whole city. It recognises the Council must take a 

leading role in co-creating a green, clean, and sustainable future for the City and 

ensuring a just transition to net zero, but it also recognizes the Council cannot do this 

alone.  

 
1 Delivering on Scotland’s response to the climate emergency, Climate Emergency Response Group, September 2021 
2 https://www.gov.scot/policies/climate-change/decarbonisation-in-the-public-sector/; Scottish Government, September 2021 
3 Including: NHS Lothian, Scottish Enterprise, Edinburgh Integration Joint Board, Skills Development Scotland, Edinburgh College, 

University of Edinburgh, Chamber of Commerce 

 

Page 12

https://consultationhub.edinburgh.gov.uk/ce/edinburghtalksclimate/user_uploads/edinburgh-talks-climate-survey-results-3.pdf
https://consultationhub.edinburgh.gov.uk/ce/2030-climate-strategy/supporting_documents/080621%20FINAL%20Edinburgh%202030%20Climate%20Strategy.pdf
https://consultationhub.edinburgh.gov.uk/ce/2030-climate-strategy/supporting_documents/080621%20FINAL%20Edinburgh%202030%20Climate%20Strategy.pdf


   
 

 3  

3.8 The 2030 Climate Strategy is aimed predominantly at partners within the city who have a 

duty to transition to net zero, those with significant city emissions footprints, and those 

with power and budgets to make impactful change. However, it also speaks to citizens, 

communities and smaller businesses, highlighting actions they could take to help drive 

down emissions.  

3.9 A strategic approach and set of principles to drive city-wide action on climate change are 

provided in the Climate Strategy. These underpin the seven priority actions and the 

wider actions set out in the six thematic chapters of the strategy.  

3.10 The implementation plan mirrors the theme chapters of the 2030 Climate Strategy and 

develops the strategic actions identified in each of those chapters, and includes 52 

strategic actions, 109 deliverables and 317 milestones.  

3.11 Implementation Plan actions have been discussed and agreed with delivery partners – 

many of which are included in the Edinburgh Partnership – in line with their individual 

organisational governance arrangements.  

3.12 Both the 2030 Climate Strategy and Implementation Plan are live and evolving 

documents. An Integrated Impact Assessment has been undertaken and a Strategic 

Environmental Assessment is underway, and it is envisioned the strategy will be re-

visited at appropriate points in these processes and as changes in technology, 

innovation, resourcing, best practice and global and national approaches emerge.   

Governance  

3.13 Delivering the climate strategy will be complex and as described above involve partners 

taking a city-wide approach. As a result, a governance model has been set out which 

aims to provide this robust foundation to support delivery of the Strategy, involving key 

partners and which requests that the Edinburgh Partnership plays a key role in. The 

objectives of the governance approach are to provide:  

3.13.1 a greater focus on city-wide climate delivery leadership;  

3.13.2 a body to monitor and drive priority partnership work;  

3.13.3 a focus on partners’ strategic investment, infrastructure and funding 

opportunities; and  

3.13.4 the co-ordination, alignment and consolidation of priority investment workstreams 

within the Strategy to create a Green Investment Plan 

Page 13



   
 

 4  

 

Figure 1: Proposed governance and delivery Mechanisms 

3.14 The strategy describes a new Climate Strategy Infrastructure Investment Programme 

Board, which will bring city partners4 together to support these objectives by: 

3.14.1 Providing city wide leadership in creating a green, clean and sustainable future 

for the city 

3.14.2 Overseeing, agreeing and driving delivery of thematic activity to develop the 

investment pipeline for the city  

3.15 The Board will be comprised of senior officers with the authority to commit their 

organisation (subject to their own governance arrangements) to the investment 

proposals considered and with a role in coordinating and supporting a strategic green 

investment plan for the city. It will be supported by five workstreams, led by city partners, 

and responsible for the strategic approach and development of the project pipeline for 

that theme. Workstreams will initially drive activity across the following priority areas: 

3.15.1 Adaptation  

3.15.2 Energy efficient public buildings 

3.15.3 Citywide Heat and Energy  

3.15.4 Transport Infrastructure  

3.15.5 Just Economic Transition  

3.16 Collective oversight and scrutiny of progress will be key to ensuring this approach 

supports the collaboration and accelerated action required to achieve the strategy’s 

aims. It is therefore proposed that, in keeping with the development of theme 3 of the 

LOIP ‘A Good Place to Live’ , the EPB provides an oversight function on behalf of the 

city - receiving annual reporting on progress from the Climate Strategy Infrastructure 

Investment Programme Board and key workstreams as appropriate.  

 
4 Full membership of the Programme Board is under discussion with city partners. Initial core members include City of Edinburgh Council; NHS 
Lothian; Edinburgh University; SP Energy Networks; Scottish Gas; Scottish Water; Scottish Futures Trust  

Page 14



 

 

 

3.17 This would also support strategic cohesion in respect of the strategy’s contribution to all 

three LOIP priority themes, and the impact of the LOIP Delivery Group’s work in securing 

a sustainable future for Edinburgh’s citizens.  

4. Next Steps 

4.1 Should Edinburgh Partnership Board approve the recommendations in this report, 

officers will work with city partners to establish the proposed governance framework as a 

matter of urgency. An annual progress report will be brought to the EPB, with additional 

updates to be provided as required and by agreement. 

5. Contact 

Paula McLeay - Head of Policy & Insight City of Edinburgh Council  
Paula.McLeay@edinburgh.gov.uk  
 
 
 

 
  

Page 15



 

Executive Summary, Draft 2030 Climate Strategy | 1 

 

2030 

CLIMATE 

STRATEGY  
 

Delivering a Net Zero, 
Climate Ready 
Edinburgh 

1.  

Executive Summary  

November 2021 

  

P
age 16



 

Executive Summary, Draft 2030 Climate Strategy | 2 

Foreword

Climate change is the biggest threat facing 
our planet. That is why the World Health 
Organisation has placed climate change 
and air pollution at the very top of its list of 
threats to public health.  
 
It’s also why the City of Edinburgh Council 
declared a climate emergency; established 
an independent Climate Commission; and 
set a target for the city to be net zero by 
2030.  
 
As noted by the Climate Emergency 
Response Group, if Scotland as a whole is 
to meet its 2045 target, our cities need to 
make faster progress and Edinburgh 
needs to play its part by striving to reach 
net zero by 2030.5  
 
As the capital city of an industrialised 
country where the industrial revolution was 
born, we have a responsibility to act now to 
play our part globally and to protect and 
improve the city for generations to come. 
The faster we can reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions, the more we can reduce the 
damaging consequences. 
 
2020 saw the world work together to 
combat the public health crisis created by 
a global pandemic. That shone a light on 

 
5 Delivering on Scotland’s response to the climate 

emergency, Climate Emergency Response Group, 
September 2021 

what communities and organisations can 
achieve in the face of an emergency.  
2021 has seen world leaders gathering in 
Scotland for the 26th Conference of Parties 
(COP26) to agree actions to limit global 
temperature rise.  
 
We need to act now to ensure that the 
legacy of COP26 is renewed action on 
climate change – building on the capacity 
for collaborative action that communities 
and organisations demonstrated during the 
pandemic – and is driven at the scale and 
pace needed to respond to the climate and 
nature emergency.  
 
This means that as we continue to deal 
with the lasting effects of the pandemic, we 
need to ensure the city’s recovery is both 
green and fair and one which accelerates 
progress on reducing the city’s emissions 
and adapting the city to be resilient to 
climate change. 
 
To achieve that goal, we need to improve 
air quality, protect and enhance our 
thriving green spaces, support sustainable 
travel and continue to create energy 
efficient, good quality places to live and 
work to make Edinburgh a healthier and 
happier place to live. 

6  A Net Zero Carbon Roadmap for Edinburgh, PCAN, 2020 

 
Young people have been at the forefront of 
demanding faster action on climate change 
and our residents have told us they want 
Edinburgh to become a sustainable, fair 
and thriving city. 
 
Around 80% of people responding to the 
consultation on a draft of this strategy 
supported its vision, aims and actions. The 
question is not whether we act, but how we 
deliver change individually and as a city. 
 
The challenge we face is clear. We must 
reduce our transport emissions 12 times 
faster; emissions from buildings need to be 
reduced twice as fast year on year; and 
our homes need to be retrofitted 50 times 
faster.  
 
The good news is we know from 
independent research that we can get over 
65 percent of the way there with actions 
that pay for themselves within their 
lifespan.6  
 
We also know that taking climate action 
will create opportunities for the city that 
can offer new and exciting skilled jobs and 
make Edinburgh a leader in green 
industries and innovations.  

P
age 17

https://www.edinburghclimate.org.uk/sites/default/files/Edinburgh%20Carbon%20Roadmap_0.pdf


 

Executive Summary, Draft 2030 Climate Strategy | 3 

 
This strategy sets out how we will enable, 
support and deliver action to meet our net 
zero ambition.  
 
It is aimed predominantly at partners within 
the city who have a duty to transition to net 
zero, those with significant city emissions 
footprints, and those with power and 
budgets to make impactful change.   
 
However, it also speaks to citizens, 
communities and smaller businesses, 
highlighting actions they could take to help 
drive down emissions. 
 
Our communities, businesses and 
residents have a strong record of climate 
action and I know the city will work 
together to deliver change at the speed 
and scale needed.  
Together we have enormous power and 
influence over the emissions in the city and 
we can create a thriving net zero future for 
the benefit of everyone. 
 
Cllr Adam McVey Leader of the City of 
Edinburgh Council  
 

Cllr Cammy Day Depute Leader of the City 
of Edinburgh Council 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

P
age 18



 

Executive Summary, Draft 2030 Climate Strategy | 4 

 

A net zero vision for the city 

Our vision for a net zero, climate 
resilient city by 2030 

Citizens told us in the City Vision7 that they 
want Edinburgh to be:  
• A Thriving City that is clean, green and 

sustainable. 

• A Welcoming City that is happy, safe, 

and healthy.  

• A Pioneering City built on data, culture, 

and business.  

• A Fair City that is inclusive, affordable, 

and connected.  

Climate action will contribute to this vision 
by addressing every aspect of our lives 
and city activity. From the houses we live 
in and the buildings we work in, to the way 
we travel about the city, the jobs that we 
hold, and the way we use our consumer 
power. 
 
This strategy is about more than reducing 
greenhouse gas emissions. It’s about 
creating a city which is cleaner, healthier 
and greener, with natural habitats helping 
wildlife to thrive and helping to protect the 

 
7 Edinburgh City vision website 

city from flooding and other climate change 
impacts, and where: 
• People live in neighbourhoods with 

easy access to greenspaces and local 

services reducing the need to travel.   

• Homes are well-insulated, energy 

efficient and heated and powered by 

low-cost, renewable energy. 

• More people work from home or in local 

hubs more of the time. 

• The city has a network of safe and 

attractive active travel routes, and an 

integrated world-class sustainable 

public transport system, which is 

affordable for everyone.   

• Most citizens find they no longer need a 

car, and a network of car clubs and 

electric vehicle charging hubs is 

available to support those who do. 

• The city centre is re-imagined as a 

place for people walking, cycling and 

wheeling, with excellent public transport 

accessibility and with the needs of the 

most vulnerable fully catered for.  

• Edinburgh is a hub for net zero 

innovation, with a new breed of 

sustainable local businesses creating 

local jobs and skills development 

opportunities.  

This strategy lays out how, as a city, we 
will enable, support and deliver action to 
meet our net zero ambition. This will 
require collaboration between a wide range 
of partners across the public, private and 
voluntary sectors, communities, and 
individual citizens, with governance and 
decision-making infrastructure that 
supports bold and decisive action at the 
scale and pace needed to respond to the 
climate emergency. 
 
This strategy is supported by a detailed 
implementation plan which sets out actions 
partners are already committing to in the 
early stages of our journey to net zero.  We 
will work with citizens and partners to 
develop, refine and expand this 
implementation plan as we learn from 
immediate actions and seize new 
opportunities as technology and innovation 
evolves at the local, national and global 
level.  
  

P
age 19

http://www.edinburgh2050.com/


 

Executive Summary, Draft 2030 Climate Strategy | 5 

Summary of the 2030 Climate Strategy Approach and Priority Actions 

This strategy sets out the clear and practical steps 
Edinburgh will take to tackle the challenge of climate 
change and achieve our aim of becoming a net zero city 
by 2030.  

Figure 1 illustrates our strategic approach and principles, which will 
drive city-wide action on climate change. These underpin our 
seven priority actions and the wider actions set out in the thematic 
chapters which follow. 
Throughout this strategy, the Council and key city partners are 
focused on putting in place actions we can implement now, using 
approaches that we know work, and drawing from learning and 
experiences from other cities.8  

 

 
Figure 1: Council strategic approach and principles, which will drive city-wide 
action on climate change

 
8 Key city partners who have agreed to support the delivery of actions are named against the 
relevant actions within each chapter. It is envisioned this list will expand following consultation on 
this strategy.  

1.
Declare a 

climate 
emergency

2.
Set principles 

for action

3. 
Commit to a 

just 
transition

4. 
Set 

progressive 
policies

5. 
Adapt to 

unavoidable 
climate change

6. 
Reduce 

our global 
footprint

7. 
Fabric First

8. 
Electrification 

first

9.
Support 

sustainable 
communities

10.
Accelerate 

energy 
efficiency

11.
Accelerate 

clean energy 
generation

12.
Accelerate 
transport 

decarbonisation

13.
Empower 
citizens

14.
Support a 

circular 
economy

15.
Accelerate 
investment

P
age 20



 

Executive Summary, Draft 2030 Climate Strategy | 0 

Principles 

In developing this strategy, our approach 
has been guided by seven core principles: 
 

Principles for climate action    

 
A Just Transition: Everyone 
must share in the benefits of the 
transition to net zero - focusing on 
fair work, tackling poverty and 
inequality and ensuring that 
everyone can share in the city’s 
success. 

 
Progressive policy: We will work 
with the Scottish Government to 
develop regulatory frameworks 
that are progressive, promote 
innovation and create incentives 
for citizens and businesses to 
make practical changes in the way 
they live and work. 

 
Adapting to unavoidable 
climate change and preventing 
future emissions: We will take 
actions and make changes to 
ensure the city is resilient to future 
climate change and prevent future 
emissions, as well as reducing 
those we currently produce.  

 
Reducing our global footprint: 
We will create a more circular 
economy, supporting action to 
reduce emissions that occur in 
other parts of the world as result 

of purchasing and another activity 
within the city.  

 
Fabric first: We will improve the 
energy efficiency of the city’s 
buildings, adopting fabric first 
approaches to reduce energy 
demand and emissions. 

 
Electrification first: We will 
ensure the network’s capacity can 
respond to the substantive 
increases in the city’s electricity 
demand while keeping an open 
mind to innovation in other energy 
sources, such as green hydrogen. 

 
Creating 20-minute 
neighbourhoods: We will make it 
easier for citizens to access the 
services and amenities they need 
locally. 
 

The Council will play a leadership 
role 

The City of Edinburgh Council has a key 
role to play in providing city leadership on 
climate change.   
 
It will use the levers that are within the 
control or influence of the Council to 
enable net zero action in the city.   
 
These levers include the ability to: 
• build strategic relationships and 

collaborations for change 

• deliver high-quality low carbon 

infrastructure and services 

• make strategic investments to drive 

change  

• lobby for change as the capital of 

Scotland and a major UK city. 

Priorities for climate action  

This strategy recognises that no one action 
will deliver a net zero city. We need to 
tackle climate change on all fronts as part 
of a whole-system approach. But we also 
need to be clear on our key strategic 
priorities for urgent action.  
 
The seven priority actions below respond 
to the top sources of emissions within the 
city and the key enabling activities needed 
to support action to address them.  
 
They are part of a comprehensive 
programme of action set out in the full 
2030 Climate Strategy and supporting 
implementation plan. 
 

1. We will accelerate energy 
efficiency in homes and buildings  

Energy to heat and power the city’s homes 
and other buildings accounts for 68 per 
cent of the city’s emissions. Many of the 
city’s buildings will require energy 
efficiency upgrades (or ‘retrofitting’) if we 
are to reach net zero. Strategic actions to 
support this include: 
• Developing a new mechanism and 

business plan to support Edinburgh’s 

P
age 21



 

Executive Summary, Draft 2030 Climate Strategy | 1 

citizens to affordably retrofit their 

homes. 

• Outlining a collective programme of 

investment in retrofitting the city’s 

public buildings.  

 

2. We will enable the development of 
a citywide programme of heat and 
energy generation and distribution 

Demand for energy is set to increase as 
the city’s population grows. There is a 
need to ensure the city’s energy networks 
can meet this demand and provide clean, 
affordable energy for our citizens and 
businesses.  
 
Strategic actions to support this include: 
• Developing a citywide heat and energy 

masterplan, supported by a pipeline of 

infrastructure proposals, with the 

BioQuarter and South East Edinburgh 

developments acting as exemplars. 

• Working with Energy for Edinburgh to 

develop proposals for community 

energy generation schemes that 

deliver clean energy and help build 

community wealth. 

3. We will accelerate the 
decarbonisation of public transport 

The way we move people, goods and 
services around the city accounts for 31 

per cent of the city’s total emissions. To 
achieve net zero, we need to develop the 
city’s public transport network to deliver 
affordable, integrated, net zero solutions 
for all trip types.  
 
Strategic actions to support this include:  
• Implementing the City Mobility Plan, 

prioritising investment in expanding 

the active travel network, connecting 

communities to services and amenities 

in their neighbourhoods. 

• In partnership with Lothian Buses, 

deliver two pilots for large vehicles on 

EV and hydrogen, then using the 

learning from these pilots to develop a 

costed plan for decarbonising the bus 

fleet. 

• Developing a plan to maximise 

opportunities for shared public service 

charging hubs at strategic city 

locations.  

 

4. We will renew the focus on 
climate resilience and accelerate 
adaptation of the city 

Climate change will bring increased 
flooding, coastal erosion and more 
frequent severe weather – causing 
damage to the economy and disruption for 
citizens. We need to adapt our 
communities, economy, natural and built 

environments to be resilient to unavoidable 
climate change.  
 
Strategic actions to support this include:  
• Setting new planning policy and 

guidance within the City Plan 2030, to 

support sustainable net zero 

development and growth of the city. 

• Developing a costed climate change 

risk assessment for the city and a new 

city adaptation plan, recognising the 

full value of the city’s natural assets. 

• Developing a pipeline of adaptation 

investment proposals, collaborating 

with City Region Deal partners on 

regional approaches to adaptation and 

opportunities to enhance the natural 

environment.  

 

5. We will support citizen 
empowerment, behaviour change 
and community activism  

Action by Edinburgh’s citizens is an 
essential and necessary part of reducing 
the city’s emissions and securing a 
sustainable city for future generations. We 
need to support citizens to be informed 
and engaged and create spaces where we 
can design solutions together.  
 
Strategic actions to support this include:  

• Sponsoring an independent Edinburgh 

Community Climate Forum, to be co-

P
age 22



 

Executive Summary, Draft 2030 Climate Strategy | 2 

created by EVOC, Our Future 

Edinburgh and Edinburgh citizens. 

• Delivering a series of public awareness 

raising campaigns, supported by 

climate action toolkits for citizens and 

community groups. 

 

6. We will support business 
transition and a green circular 
economy 

The climate emergency is the greatest 
threat Edinburgh’s economy has faced 
since the pandemic. Planning for a green 
recovery from Covid offers an opportunity 
for the city to rebuild sustainably, 
increasing Edinburgh’s resilience to future 
economic shocks. Strategic actions to 
support this include: 

• Supporting and encourage city 

businesses to sign up to the Edinburgh 

Climate Compact and commit to reduce 

their emissions. 

• Establishing a business-led Just 

Economic Transition Forum to convene 

the city business community and 

provide leadership on the sector’s 

transition to net zero. 

• Supporting the launch of a new 

Business for Good programme through 

Edinburgh CAN B to provide practical 

support for city businesses to transition 

to net zero. 

 

7. We will collaborate to develop a 
citywide programme of green 
investment proposals 

Research tells us that we can get 65% of 
the way to net zero through interventions 
that pay for themselves over time.  Yet the 
city faces challenges in developing 
projects at the scale required to attract 
investment. We need to align public sector 
budgets and connect investors to a 
portfolio of city green investment 
opportunities.  
 
Strategic actions to support this include: 
Establishing a new Climate Strategy 
Investment Programme Board to consider, 
align and agree investment proposals. 
 

Developing a Green Investment Plan to 
support the city’s transition to net zero. 
A full list of delivery actions is given in the 
2030 Climate Strategy and its supporting 
implementation plan. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 23



 

Executive Summary, Draft 2030 Climate Strategy | 3 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

How we work with partners 

We will call on others to act with us 

To help drive change we are setting out a 
number of strategic asks of the key sectors 
within the city, focused on the actions 
which will have the most impact, targeting 
partners with the greatest emissions and 
the greatest power and resources to make 
change.  
 
We’re asking: 
All strategy delivery partners to sign up 
to the Edinburgh Climate Compact and 
pledge to reduce their emissions, adopt 
sustainable business practices and support 
their staff to make more sustainable 
choices in their professional and private 
lives.  
 
Citizens to make more sustainable 
choices in their everyday lives and use 
their democratic and purchasing power to 
support change in others. 
 
Civil society to support ongoing open 
dialogue about the transformation that 
needs to happen in the city and how we 
can collaborate to take decisions and 
deliver change together. 

 
Public bodies to join up budgets and work 
together in a place-based way to create 
economies of scale and design services 
and new infrastructure around the needs of 
communities. Use their purchasing power 
to encourage sustainable markets, green 
supply chains, and green skills 
development. 
 
Edinburgh Climate Commission to 
challenge the public sector to go faster and 
further on tackling climate change and call 
on the private sector to play a greater role 
in supporting change. Hold Edinburgh to 
collective account while offering expert 
advice and support for change through the 
Climate Compact. 
 
Investors to support city partners to 
develop a pipeline of scalable projects to 
attract capital into the city for programmes 
that deliver social, economic and 
environmental benefits, as well as financial 
returns. 
 
Developers to make the transition to net 
zero practices now, moving faster than 
national regulatory requirements to ensure 

Edinburgh can lead the way on net zero 
development and growth. 
 
Businesses to adopt net zero business 
models as part of a green, resilient and 
more circular Edinburgh economy. Invest 
in sustainable practices that also benefit 
the communities they are a part of.  
 
Edinburgh’s universities and colleges to 
turn their academic expertise into support 
for net zero programmes and projects. 
Unlock the data, innovation and research 
that city partners need to adopt change 
with confidence. Target research and 
teaching towards the skills needed to 
deliver the city’s transition. 
 
Scottish Government to support the city 
to achieve net zero. The city and its 
partners will act individually and 
collectively to drive our net zero ambitions 
forward, but we need the support and 
action of the Scottish Government to 
support our transition. This includes capital 
and revenue resources, sufficient local 
powers, place-based investment strategies 
and leadership to support behaviour 

P
age 24



 

Executive Summary, Draft 2030 Climate Strategy | 4 

change interventions such as private 
homeowner retrofit.  
 
The Strategy lays out a series of specific 
asks of the Scottish Government, which 
come under four key calls for national 
action, to: 
• Share the risk of net zero project and 

programme development, to unlock 

funding options and deliver enhanced 

funding packages, investing in local 

capacity and expertise. 

• Ensure national decisions and 

legislation reinforces and empowers 

city partners to deliver at speed on 

planning, transport, regulations, 

licensing and taxation. 

• Develop place-based funding 

packages that recognise the system-

wide investment needed to reach net 

zero, rather than routing funding 

through policy silos. 

• Develop a programme for targeting 

private owner retrofit at scale and 

pace and a series of incentives to 

support citizen and business transition 

to net zero.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

P
age 25



 

Executive Summary, Draft 2030 Climate Strategy | 5 

How we take decisions together 

Creating a governance framework 
that supports effective action at 
speed and scale  

Achieving net zero by 2030 will require 
city-wide collaboration at a level, depth 
and pace that exceeds the city response to 
COVID. 
  
A new Climate Strategy Investment 
Programme Board will bring city partners9 
together to: 
• Provide city wide leadership in 

creating a green, clean and 

sustainable future for the city. 

• Oversee, agree and drive delivery of 

five thematic workstreams tasked with 

developing the investment pipeline for 

the city. 

• Develop a green infrastructure 

investment plan for Edinburgh.  

The Programme Board would be 
accountable to the Edinburgh Partnership 
Board and comprised of senior officers 
with the authority to commit their 
organisation (subject to their own 
governance arrangements) to the 
investment proposals considered.  

 
9 Full membership of the Programme Board is under discussion 

with city partners. Initial core members include City of 

The Board will be supported by five 
workstreams, led by city partners, and 
responsible for the strategic approach and 
development of the project pipeline for that 
theme.  
 
Workstreams will be led by key partners 
and will drive activity across the following 
priority areas: 
• Adaptation  

• Energy efficient public buildings 

• Citywide Heat and Energy  

• Transport Infrastructure 

• Just Economic Transition  

The LOIP Delivery Group10 will contribute 
to driving wider strategic climate action as 
part of its work to make sure Edinburgh 
residents have enough money to live on, 
access to work, training and learning 
opportunities, and a good place to live.  
City Region Deal partners will be 
represented throughout the structures, with 
responsibility for interfacing with the City 
Region Deal Partnership to identify and 
action opportunities for strategic 
collaboration at the regional level.  
 
Edinburgh’s Climate Commission will 
continue to work independently to 

Edinburgh Council; NHS Lothian; Edinburgh University; SP 
Energy Networks; Scottish Gas; Scottish Water; Scottish Futures 
Trust  

influence and provide constructive 
challenge and expertise to all parts of the 
city as we work to deliver our net zero 
ambition.   
 
The strategy’s delivery will be informed 
and driven by citizen’s views – through the 
Council’s democratic processes, through 
the work of the Commission, and through a 
new Edinburgh Community Climate 
Forum, to be established by EVOC and 
Our Future Edinburgh to provide citizens 
with information, support, and a 
mechanism for collaboration on climate 
action at both the city and neighbourhood 
level to co-produce better outcomes for 
communities. 
 
These structures are not exhaustive – 
there are many other groups that have a 
role to play in supporting whole-system 
climate action and the governance 
framework described in the strategy is 
intended to interact with that wider 
landscape as needed to drive forward city 
climate action at pace and scale. 
 
Figure 2 on the following page, sets out 
proposed governance and delivery 
arrangements to support the city to deliver 
the 2030 Climate Strategy. 

10 The Local Outcome Improvement Delivery Group is part of 

Edinburgh Partnership 

P
age 26



 

Executive Summary, Draft 2030 Climate Strategy | 6 

Figure 2: Proposed governance and delivery Mechanisms 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 27



 

Executive Summary, Draft 2030 Climate Strategy | 7 

 Listening to citizens and empowering communities in all we do 

Citizens have the power to drive 
change 

Edinburgh’s citizens have huge influence 
over the city’s emissions through their 
power to collectively demand change from 
national and local government, the private 
and public sector, local businesses and 
each other. 
 
Citizens must be active participants, 
engaging in and designing the actions to 
deliver a net zero city. City partners need 
to engage, collaborate and listen to 
citizens to secure that trust and support for 
change.  
 
Citizens also have the power to make 
choices in their own lives which can 
contribute to climate action.  
 
We believe the Council in particular, has 
an important role in supporting all citizens 
to be able to make changes and ensure no 
one is left behind: delivering a fair and just 
transition. 
 

We will collaborate to empower 
young people  

Young people have been at the forefront of 
raising awareness on climate change and 
demanding change from those in power.   

We will ensure young people are at the 
centre of decisions that will determine the 
kind of city they inherit. We will work with 
children and young people – through 
schools and in communities – to listen to 
their views, to ensure young people from 
all backgrounds are informed and able to 
have their voice heard. 
 

We will engage to build and maintain 
consent for change 

We will involve citizens in decisions about 
the targeting, scope and speed of large-
scale change through a new Community 
Climate Forum and will ask for citizen 
support on changes which protect the city 
for future generations. 
 
As the scale and complexity of actions 
increase, we will facilitate more in-depth 
engagement approaches, such as citizen 
juries or similar models, to ensure citizens' 
views are central in decision-making. 
 

We will ensure a fair transition to net 
zero  

We know vulnerable groups and people in 
poor health will be more affected by 
reduced air quality, increased damp, and 
severe fluctuations in weather such as 
heatwaves.  
 

Those on lower-incomes may also find 
addressing the impacts of climate change 
harder– for example meeting the costs 
associated with flood damage to property, 
or of switching from gas to more 
sustainable heating systems. 
 
We are committed to working with national 
and local government, public bodies, trade 
unions, the private sector and citizens and 
communities to ensure that climate change 
does not disproportionately impact anyone 
in our society. 
 

We will ensure there is equal access 
to opportunities 

It’s estimated that Scotland’s transition to a 
low-carbon economy could create up to 
367,000 jobs, with Edinburgh being well-
placed to secure a substantial share of 
these. We will work with city partners, to 
align skills development programmes to 
support 

P
age 28



 

Executive Summary, Draft 2030 Climate Strategy | 8 

Edinburgh residents to access new green 
jobs and target those at greatest risk of 
poverty.11  

We will support the creation of net 
zero communities 

Our vision is for all of Edinburgh’s 
neighbourhoods and communities to be 
net zero. 
The Council will work with communities, 
Community Councils, Edinburgh’s 
Universities in one of the 20-minute 
neighbourhood hubs to scope and develop 
funding bids for local pilots to understand 
what it would take to become net zero. The 
pilot scope will be co-produced with 
citizens and will link to Local Place Plans. 
 

We will raise awareness about 
climate change 

We know from consultation and 
engagement that many Edinburgh citizens 
are not fully aware of their carbon footprint, 
or all the actions they could take to reduce 
it.  
 
We will deliver awareness raising 
campaigns to ensure people have access 
to information about climate change, how 
to measure their carbon footprint, and 
where to access support to reduce their 
emissions. This will include information 

 
11 STUC, Green Jobs in Scotland, 2021  

about where people can get financial and 
other help to make changes.  
 

We will focus on making sustainable 
choices easier 

We also know that many citizens are very 
well-informed about climate change, but 
face barriers to making the changes they 
would like to.  
 
The 2030 Climate Strategy sets out the 
actions we will take to create the 
conditions where sustainable choices are 
cheaper and easier for citizens to make. 
They include:  
• Improving sustainable public transport 

and active travel infrastructure. 

• Ensuring people can access the 

services and amenities they need 

locally. 

• Developing sustainable models of 

public services which improve health 

and the environment. 

• Developing projects to provide clean 

and affordable energy. 

• Delivering energy efficient affordable 

housing. 

• Developing funding mechanisms to 

support private owners to retrofit their 

homes. 

• Creating new green and fair work and 

skills development opportunities  

• Improving support for businesses to 

transition to net zero. 

• Supporting local food growing and 

ensuring citizens have opportunities to 

reduce, re-use and recycle.  

 

The Council will also call on Scottish 

Government to improve existing support 

schemes and develop new approaches to 

incentivise change – especially in 

decarbonising homes. 

 

The ask of citizens  

The everyday choices we all make can 
achieve big emissions reductions, and 
citizens all have power to influence others, 
from big business to public policy.  
We’re asking citizens to: 

 

Understand your carbon 
footprint: Use online and other 
resources to learn what your 
impact on the environment is. 

 

Make the easy decisions: Like 
leaving the car at home for 
shorter trips or reducing your 
food waste. These could save 
money or time and can often 
improve quality of life too. 

P
age 29

https://www.stuc.org.uk/files/Policy/STUC_Green_Jobs.pdf


 

Executive Summary, Draft 2030 Climate Strategy | 9 

 

Consider and explore 
investment: Many changes, 
such as home insultation or 
heating, have an upfront cost but 
repay that cost over time. 

 
Use your purchasing power: 
You can send powerful signals to 
businesses by choosing products 
and services that are more 
environmentally friendly, this 
includes locally grown food, low-
packaging items, and goods and 
services which use renewable 
energy and recycled materials 

 
 

Use your democratic power: 
Make your voice heard in local 
and national decision-making and 
tell elected representatives what 
future you want. 

 
Stay involved: Keep engaging 
with local services, community 
groups and neighbours. Support 
the right changes when you see 
them, advocate for change when 
you don’t. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 30



 

Executive Summary, Draft 2030 Climate Strategy | 10 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Investing in change 

Organisations and businesses across the 
city are already investing in climate action 
through their fleets, their buildings, their 
energy sources and their work practices.  
But new investment will still be needed, 
particularly to support access to upfront 
capital investment in buildings and 
infrastructure.  
 

Aligning public sector budgets  

Public sector organisations such as the 
Council, the NHS, the Scottish Ambulance 
Service, Edinburgh’s universities, Police 
Scotland and the Scottish Fire and Rescue 
Service have legal duties to transition to 
net zero and are already investing in 
climate action. 
 
Through stronger more focused 
partnership working and a new Climate 
Strategy Investment Programme Board, 
we will align our operational and 
investment plans – where that makes 
sense – to maximise the collective impact 
on carbon emissions, share knowledge, 
skills and capacity as well as investment 
and operational risks and opportunities.  

 

Maximising national funding 
opportunities  

We will make sure that Edinburgh is well 
placed to successfully access the funding 
which will be available over the coming 
years from the UK Government, the 
Scottish Government and other funding 
bodies such as the National Lottery.  
 
We will focus on accessing funding 
streams that allow us to meet strategic 
objectives of: 
• Adapting to new post-Covid realities 

such as changing how and where we 

work and enhancing active travel 

infrastructure. 

• Preparing the city for the development 

of clean energy heat networks. 

• Adapting to the effects of climate 

change by using ecosystem services 

and enhancing biodiversity. 

• Partnering with Scottish Government to 

develop and test new financing models 

for transformational interventions, 

including the retrofitting of the privately-

owned housing stock across Edinburgh. 

 

Developing large scale place-based 
investment programmes  

We will develop a Green Investment Plan 
for the city, including a pipeline of large-
scale/aggregated investible projects that 
focus on delivering the major heat and 
energy, transport, EV, greenspace, and 
energy efficient housing infrastructure 
needed to make the transition to net zero. 
These projects will provide an opportunity 
to create systemic change, enable rapid 
decarbonisation and adaptation to climate 
change, while creating new jobs, new 
green markets for local industry, and 
improving quality of life for citizens.   
 
We will work with UK finance and 
academic experts to develop strategic 
approaches to mobilising place-based 
climate finance. We will call on the Scottish 
Government to work with us to connect 
national funding to a more strategic place-

P
age 31



 

Executive Summary, Draft 2030 Climate Strategy | 11 

based approach.  
 

Fostering Edinburgh’s investment 
potential 

Edinburgh is the financial capital of 
Scotland and a recognised leading global 
economic hub.  Investment in green 
technology and business practices is 
increasingly at the heart of the finance 
industry and the city is uniquely placed to 
accelerate progress as a world leader in 
research and data innovation. 
 
We will foster the investment potential of 
Edinburgh by working with partners to 
develop ambitious and attractive projects 
and proposals, test innovative finance 
models, including blended finance, and 
new approaches to sharing risk and 
reward.   
 
We will create a Green Investment 
Prospectus that will enable us to easily 
match investors to suitable projects in 
Edinburgh.  
 
We will identify opportunities for Edinburgh 
to develop demonstrator projects with 
citizens to solving the biggest challenges 
on the journey to sustainability while 
building local skills capability and capacity, 
and test new financing structures. 
 

Unlocking private investment 
opportunities  

We will connect investors to city 
opportunities, using models which share 
risk and reward more equitably, and allow 
much larger sums of money to be raised 
through private sector investment. 
 
By working with providers of capital, such 
as the Lothian Pension Fund, we will 
identify compelling opportunities to match 
patient finance to large-scale net zero 
projects which will benefit both investors 
and citizens.

  

P
age 32



 

Executive Summary, Draft 2030 Climate Strategy | 12 

Measuring our success 

Tracking and reporting 

City emissions will be tracked on an annual 
basis and progress measured against a 
target trajectory to net zero. 
We assume citizen and partner action will 
take time to build and will rapidly 
accelerate from around 2026 as learning 
from early action, innovation and 
investment come together to drive whole-
system change at pace.  
 
City and Council emissions will be 
monitored and disclosed publicly on an 
annual basis through CDP12 and the Public 
Bodies Climate Change Duties Report13. 
Signatories of the Climate Compact have 
also committed to monitor and disclose 
their organisational emissions.  
 
We will track progress towards the 
Strategy’s actions through the supporting 
2030 Climate Strategy Implementation 
Plan, and establish a new governance 
framework for overseeing and monitoring 
delivery. 
 
We will participate in a range of national 
and global schemes and initiatives, shown 
in Table 1, supporting climate action and 

 
12 CDP Disclosure Insight Action website 
13 Sustainable Scotland Network reports 

contributing to transparent reporting of 
policy commitments and performance. 
 
Table 1: Table showing the local, national and global 
initiatives which the City of Edinburgh Council are part of 

Local Edinburgh 
Climate 
Commission 

 

National UK100 

 
Global Cities Race to 

Resilience 
 

 Cities Race to 
Zero 
  

 CDP 

 
 Global Covenant 

of Mayors for 
Climate and 
Energy 

 

 Climate-KIC 

 
 Cities CAN B 

 
 

Carbon Scenario Tool 

The Council has collaborated with the 
Edinburgh Climate Change Institute (ECCI) 
to develop an open source quantitative 
emissions calculation tool.  

 

The ‘Carbon Scenario Tool’ has been 
designed to inform Council decision 
making, by giving councillors and officers 
validated data on emissions impact at 
project, programme or city level, presented 
as a dashboard which includes wider 
sustainability impacts, such as air quality. 
 

Measuring co-benefits  

Alongside net zero emissions we will 
monitor, measure and report progress 
against wider sustainability objectives and 
co-benefits. This will provide a 
comprehensive view of Edinburgh’s wider 
sustainability progress. 
Progress towards these wider outcomes 
will be monitored using the indicators set 
out in the 2030 Climate Strategy 
Implementation Plan.  
 
 
 
 

P
age 33

http://www.cdp.net/en/responses
https://sustainablescotlandnetwork.org/reports


 

Executive Summary, Draft 2030 Climate Strategy | 1 

 

 
 
You can get this document on audio, CD, or in Braille or large print if you ask us. Please contact Interpretation and Translation Service 
(ITS) on its@edinburgh.gov.uk and quote reference number 21-7059B. ITS can also give information on community language translations.  
You can get more copies of this document by contacting strategyandinsight@edinburgh.gov.uk 

 

 
 P

age 34



 

 

 

Collaborative working with Edinburgh Association of Community 
Councils 

Executive Summary 

 
1.1 This report provides a progress update on the Best Value improvement action of 

developing a collaborative framework with the Edinburgh Association of 

Community Councils (EACC).  It outlines progress to date in developing a 

bilateral improvement plan with the City of Edinburgh Council, together with 

proposals to take forward this work with the participation of Edinburgh 

Partnership members. 

Recommendations 

 

2.1 The Board is recommended to:  

i. note the improvement actions between City of Edinburgh Council and 

community councils as outlined in this report; 

ii. agree to contribute to ongoing discussions with the EACC on developing a 

collaborative framework with the Edinburgh Partnership; and 

iii. agree to receive a further report on this in March 2022. 

 

Main Report 

 

3.1 The Best Value Assurance Audit identified areas where further improvement was 

recommended relating to partnership working and community engagement. In 

response the Edinburgh Partnership set up a Working Group tasked with 

developing appropriate responses to the issues raised.  The work of this Group 

culminated in the Edinburgh Partnership approval of an improvement plan in 

June 2021.  

3.2 A key action under the theme of community empowerment was to: 

Develop a framework for collaboration with the Edinburgh Association of 

Community Councils and the community councils, to ensure they can fulfil their 

statutory function in representing local communities and build a productive 

relationship with all community planning partners and the Council in particular.     

3.3 To take this forward, a bilateral group was set up comprising City of Edinburgh 

Council senior managers and EACC members.  Two meetings have been held to 

date and an improvement plan produced.  The plan focuses on strengthening the 

relationship between the Council and community councils both in the short-term 

Page 35

Agenda Item 4c



 2  

and by addressing structural issues in the medium term.  A summary of the 

actions is set out below. 

Immediate way of working – communications 

• Information flow – actions to improve the information posted on the 

Edinburgh Partnership website, provision of structural diagrams and glossary 

of terms on community planning arrangements in the city and activity to raise 

awareness of community planning. 

• Access to Council and Contacts – Council key contact list to be produced 

and maintained and contacts for community council chairs to be kept up to 

date.  

• Communication and dialogue – Measures to strengthen senior management 

participation in EACC meetings, improvements to information sharing based 

on community councils identifying their areas of interest, briefing on 

community councils and community planning to be produced for Council 

officers. 

Medium term actions - structures 

• Community council elections – to hold the next community council election in 

2024 and to review the approach to marketing elections to identify 

improvements. 

• Community council boundaries – to carry out a review of community council 

boundaries in 2023. 

• Council support for neighbourhood networks and locality community planning 

partnerships – implementation of the Council Place review to establish a 

Community Empowerment Team. 

• Support for community councils – review support arrangements for 

community councils, explore options for increasing information on Council 

business, develop a mechanism for information sharing within communities 

to support collaborative working, carry out a training needs analysis to inform 

a potential development programme for community councils. 

• Maximise local information and capacity building – mapping of local networks 

to identify potential efficiencies and opportunities for sharing knowledge. 

3.4 A significant issue for the EACC was the need for resources to develop the 

capacity and facilitate the engagement in representing community councils in 

strategic processes.  Currently in line with statutory requirements, revenue 

support is provided direct to individual community councils by the City of 

Edinburgh based on a set amount per head of population in their area, with 

additional uplifts for accommodation costs where relevant.  As a non-statutory 

body funding is not provided to the EACC although they provide a co-ordinating 

function and are members of the Edinburgh Partnership Board. 

Page 36



 3  

3.5 The Edinburgh Partnership until 2018/19 allocated an annual amount of £500 to 

the EACC to support its costs in participating in the Board.  With subsequent 

budget decisions allocations to support the participation of the community of 

place (EACC) and community of interest (Edinburgh Equality and Rights 

Network) members ceased. 

3.6 Significant discussion has taken place at the bilateral meetings on this issue.  

From an EACC perspective funding is required to: 

• facilitate communication with all community councils in partnership activity 

• strengthen the role of community councils 

• support their independent status of community councils   

• provide for an independent executive resource to ensure community council 

representation and advocacy in policy fora.   

3.7 Whilst this request is reflected in the improvement plan it is acknowledged that it 

is a matter for Edinburgh Partnership members, not just the Council, and needs 

to be based on a clear understanding and definition of the support required and 

an option appraisal for how this might best be achieved.  The issue of funding for 

EACC needs to be considered within the wider context of the Edinburgh 

Partnership budget as noted elsewhere on the agenda. 

3.8 Similarly a key issue for discussion with partners is the matter of EACC’s desire 

to develop a written concordat with the Edinburgh Partnership on behalf of 

community councils.  This is considered important if the parties are to move 

forward based on a relationship of trust and respect founded on a firm 

understanding of roles. 

3.9 In raising the community council’s concerns, the EACC has recognised that this 

is not just an Edinburgh issue but a national one.  On that basis the Chair has 

approached CoSLA and the Improvement Service to open discussions with the 

Scottish Government on what can be done nationally to support change, with the 

potential to use the learning from Edinburgh to inform the approach. 

3.10 The need to now progress this work with the input of partners recognises the 

original action under the Best Value improvement plan to develop a collaborative 

framework with the Edinburgh Partnership.  Partners agreed at the September 

2021 meeting to nominate representatives to participate in these discussions.  To 

date responses have been received from Police Scotland, Edinburgh University, 

Scottish Enterprise, Scottish Fire and Rescue Service and NHS Lothian.  A 

further prompt is made to the remaining members to identify an officer to 

participate in discussions.  An initial meeting is proposed to take place in January 

2022. 

3.11 The outcome of these discussions will be reported to the Board in March 2022. 

 

Page 37



 4  

Contact 

Michele Mulvaney – Strategy Manager (Communities) 
Michele.mulvaney@edinburgh.gov.uk 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

  

  

 
 
 
 

Page 38



 

 

 

Edinburgh Community Covenant – Progress Report 

1. Executive Summary 

The purpose of this report is to provide an update to the Board on the delivery of 
the Armed Forces Community Covenant (AFCC) in Edinburgh since the last 
Report dated June 2018 and to seek the Board’s approval for the planned 
activities for the year ahead. 
 

2. Recommendations 

 
2.1 The Board is recommended to:  

i. endorse the future planned activities to support the continued delivery of the 
AFCC in Edinburgh.  
 

3. Main Report 

 

3.1 The Edinburgh Partnership Board signed the Armed Forces Community 
Covenant on 12 March 2012 along with the MOD, Veterans Scotland and the 
Department for Work and Pensions. These signatories represent the wide range 
of stakeholders that have agreed to support the aims of the Covenant. In 
addition, on 5 March 2019 the City of Edinburgh Council signed the Covenant in 
Business. The signing of both Covenants has marked a step change in how the 
military community within Edinburgh interacts with and participates in community 
life within Scotland’s Capital City. Covenant Partners meet 2-3 times per year 
and activity is guided by a Covenant Plan. The whole Covenant structure is 
underpinned by strong working relationships. 

 
Overview 
3.2 With half of the reporting period spent in the shadow of COVID, the Armed 

Forces Covenant has rightly taken a lower profile since March 2020.    There has, 
however, been some real progress and we have kept the network alive virtually 
thanks to pre-existing, strong, and positive relationships across the Partnership.  
Commander Edinburgh Garrison has engaged wherever the city community 
interfaces with Armed Forces and Veterans interests; he has attended the 
Edinburgh Partnership (EP) meetings, the Local Outcomes Improvement 
Programme (LOIP), SW Edinburgh locality partnership meetings and, until Mar 
20, had started a rotation between Colinton and Firhill Community Council 
meetings.   

Page 39

Agenda Item 4d



 2  

Operational Activities 

3.3 We are proud that personnel from all three services, Regular and Reservist, have 
supported the Scottish Government, NHS Lothian, and the Scottish Ambulance 
Service in Edinburgh during the pandemic, in a wide variety of roles from mobile 
testing teams to ambulance drivers and vaccinators (Operation RESCRIPT) – 
this support continues.  The Army’s support to COP 26 (Operation URRAM) was 
coordinated from Redford Barracks.  Overseas deployments have continued 
throughout the pandemic, with 2 SCOTS concluding one of the last Afghan 
deployments in early 2021. 

Structural Change.    

3.4 HQ 51 Infantry Brigade and HQ Scotland moved from Stirling to Edinburgh in 
March 2021 which, combined with that HQ’s re-rolling to focus it on the ‘Firm 
Base’ in Scotland, may change the way Covenant engagement is conducted in 
the City in future.  The RN has established a new 1* Regional Command 
appointment (Brigadier Andy Muddiman Royal Marines), who will act as the 
Navy’s interface between national and local authorities in Scotland.  The ongoing 
‘Integrated Review’ will sustain current troop levels in Lothian Region, but 3 
RIFLES is now scheduled to be replaced in Dreghorn Barracks by 1 R IRISH 
from 2027.  Redford Barracks remains scheduled for closure and any changes to 
current closure dates (2025) still have to be confirmed.   

Covenant Relationships.   

3.5 In addition to engagement activity through community planning and partnerships 
and noting that detailed progress is covered elsewhere in this report, the Armed 
Forces’ focus in Edinburgh for the Covenant is on: 

3.5.1 Schools. We are closely and routinely engaged with our Garrison Schools 
to ensure that the impact of service life, particularly transition to the 
Scottish educational system, is understood by families and can be 
supported appropriately by schools. We have supported these schools 
with access to the MOD’s Education Support Fund.   

3.5.2 Developing the Young Workforce.  We have been working with 
Developing the Young Workforce’s Schools Coordinators to deliver a 
range of meta-skills and STEM-based activities to the 11-16 age group in 
Edinburgh schools (James Gillespie; Firhill and Liberton High Schools in 
2020/21) and in Edinburgh College through our Youth Development 
Teams.   

3.5.3 Education and Skills Development.  We have a close working 
relationship with Edinburgh Napier University.  They are part of the 
Scottish Credit Qualifications Framework project (along with Skills 
Development Scotland and MoD) to correspond military skills to the 
Scottish education system and this project is invaluable.  In addition, we 

Page 40



 3  

are working with Edinburgh Napier University and Edinburgh College to 
improve the service community’s access to learning: in particular, service 
people and their spouses need a better pathway to map their existing 
qualifications onto existing HE and FE courses and there has to be 
sufficient flexibility to accommodate service demands which make 
planning for a routine very difficult. 

3.5.4 Employers.  We have collaborated with the LP, C of EC, and Edinburgh 
Chamber of Commerce employer outreach activity.  The focus of our 
employer engagement has been to persuade employers to commit to or 
advance their commitment to the Covenant Employer Recognition 
Scheme.   

3.5.5 Veterans.  Edinburgh’s veterans’ community is substantial and its 
character, age-range and the needs of its members is extremely diverse.  
Our focus is on ensuring that the transition from military to civilian life is 
smooth and positive, and on ensuring that Edinburgh employers and 
society appreciate the very real value that the vast majority of service 
leavers can add to the community and business here.  For the vulnerable 
few who need support, we want to ensure that links between MOD 
institutions (Defence Transition Service and Vets UK Welfare Service) and 
the City’s veterans’ support networks (for example, NHS Lothian’s 
Veterans’ 1st Point (V1P) and Department for Work and Pensions) and 
service charities and housing associations are well developed; we are also 
focused, through initiatives like the successful AF Covenant e-Learning 
package, on ensuring that those on the ‘front line’ of social and healthcare 
support know how to connect with advice and support for vulnerable 
serving and ex-serving members of the AF Community and their families. 

3.5.6 Estate.  Some of our estate is heavily used and much valued by the local 
community.  We have reviewed our contractor support to keep access to 
Covenanter’s Wood in Colinton open and safe for the local community and 
have supported Oxgangs Youth Football Team with access to Redford 
sports pitches when existing facilities were closed during COVID.   

Lothian Armed Forces and Veterans Group (LAFVG).   

3.6 In addition to the City of Edinburgh council Covenant Partnership and the 
Edinburgh partnership, we wish to exploit the opportunities offered by the LAFVG 
as a forum for Lothian Local Authority Covenant leads, NHS Lothian, Edinburgh 
Napier and respective AF and veterans support institutions to identify AF/veteran 
community needs, to support Covenant initiatives and to share best practice.  
The cessation in Oct 20 of the Lothian Armed Forces and Veterans Project 
(LAFVP), which served as a proactive secretariat for the LAFVG, may limit 
ambition, but an embryonic LAFVG Covenant Video project to supplement the e-
Learning package indicates that the LAFVG continues to be useful. 

Page 41



 4  

Delivery of the Armed Forces Covenant in Edinburgh 

3.7 Routine Business 

3.7.1 A minimum of 2 Edinburgh Armed Forces Group meetings per year, which 
have continued virtually during the last 18 months 

3.7.2 A Covenant Action Plan to guide work in this area has been updated 

3.7.3 Review of role and membership of EAFG has been undertaken 

3.7.4 MOD formal participation in the Edinburgh Partnership Board continued 

3.7.5 Active participation in the Lothian Armed Forces and Veterans Group 
(LAFVG) 

3.7.6 Availability of up-to-date information targeted to the Armed Forces 
community on City of Edinburgh Council website with links to housing, 
health, education, and employment 

3.7.7 Continued promotion and roll out of the Armed Forces Covenant               
e-Learning package to City of Edinburgh Council staff 

3.7.8 Promotion of the Armed Forces Covenant Fund to partners and the local 
community.  

3.8 Activities during Report period around the themes of Delivering the Armed Forces 
Covenant, Housing, Health and Social Care, Education and Training and 
Employment. The Board is invited to note that work to progress some of the 
planned activities in the last 18 months has been delayed due to Coronavirus.  

Delivering the Armed Forces Covenant 

3.9 City of Edinburgh Council undertook line management of the personnel employed 
in the LAFVP team and management of the associated budget. The Project 
extended twice in the last 2 years. There is a small budget underspend and 
approval has been received from the Armed Forces Covenant Fund Trust to 
divert these funds to a project that will update the e-learning training. A significant 
contribution was made by the Council Officer supporting the Covenant in the  
evaluation of the LAFVP which was undertaken by Napier University. 

3.10 The Council Officer participated in a focus group discussion on the Armed Forces 
Covenant legislation that is due to be introduced in 2022. Partners have been 
kept up to date and had an opportunity to comment on this 

3.11 Significant work undertaken by the Council to support the delivery of the Armed 
Forces Covenant was recognised by the award of a Gold Employer Recognition 
Scheme award in 2019 

3.12 The MOD has continued to participate in a range of Community Engagement 
activities across the city 

 

Page 42



 5  

Housing 

3.13 In 2019 a housing options brief was delivered to MOD personnel and third sector 
organisations that support the transition of Service personnel 

3.14 Combined Veterans housing register with Edindex was delayed due to impact of 
Covid-19 pandemic. Veterans Scotland, Veterans Housing and Housing Options 
Scotland have been contacted to rescope project in December 2021. 

3.15 Progress recent commitment from the Edindex board (the Council and 
Edinburgh-based Housing Associations) to support nominations for up to 15 new 
build homes per year to disabled veterans, using the “Community within a 
Community” model. Five new veterans’ homes at Canonmills are due to be 
completed in January 2022.  Edinburgh’s forward programme of affordable 
housing was approved by Housing, Homelessness and Fair Committee on 4th 
November 2021 in the Strategic Housing Investment Plan (SHIP) 2022-27. The 
SHIP will be reviewed for future veterans housing opportunities in Jan/Feb 2022.  

Education and Training 

3.16 We work closely with Edinburgh Napier University as they are a dedicated 
supporter of the Armed Forces Corporate Covenant having fulfilled their covenant 
pledges and continuing to build on their commitment to the armed forces 
community each year. Their support in the areas of research, education and 
public engagement is demonstrated through the many projects they are involved 
in internally and externally for the benefit of the armed forces community, for 
example; 

3.16.1 Research – delivering a two year Forces in Mind Trust funded project 
specifically looking at the transition process in Scotland with regards to 
housing, health and wellbeing, education and employment. They are also 
involved in a research project looking at the support in place for military 
children in Scotland. 

3.16.2 Education -  close working with CTP to deliver educational opportunities 
workshops to those transitioning from service, close working with MoD to 
allow those in active service to undertake FE and HE opportunities and 
reviewing their own internal offering to be more “forces friendly” 

3.16.3 Public Engagement – they work closely with the PRC to promote 
education as a viable option, they engage with Colinton Primary School on 
outreach initiatives and they support a number of charities such as 
Rock2Recovery with their service deliveryPoverty Commission and 
Citizens Basic Income Group – Garrison and Veterans charities included 
in distribution on communication  

Employment 

3.17 Successful Business Breakfast in October 2021 targeted towards employers that 
have not signed up to the Armed Forces Covenant in Business 

Page 43

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s39972/7.5%20-%20Strategic%20Housing%20Investment%20Plan%20SHIP%202022-27.pdf


 6  

Health and Social Care 

3.18 LAFVP brief on the Armed Forces Covenant to clinical leads. 

Funding Opportunities.  

3.19 Details of the Armed Forces Covenant Fund and the MOD Education Support 
Fund have been widely shared within the Council area. A small number of 
schools within the Edinburgh Council area were successful in applying for a total 
of £284,000 from the MOD Education Support Fund since 2018. Successful 
Covenant Fund projects in the Edinburgh area include: 

3.19.1 Funding towards the Colinton Timeline project (installation of new 
ornamental, steel railings/interpretive panels) 

3.19.2 A contribution to the Colinton Tunnel project 

3.19.3 Firrhill High School – Study Group – with Children 1st Project Worker 

3.19.4 Edinburgh & Lothian Greenspace Trust - Dreghorn Nursery Outdoor 
Activities 

Future Planned Activities.  

3.20 Continued collaboration to update the e-learning which will include LAFVP 
evaluation feedback 

3.21 Continued partnership working with the Lothian local authorities and other 
stakeholders through the LAFVG  

3.22 Raise awareness of the Covenant in Business to the partners of the EPB and 
using the ‘Capitalising on Military Talent’ booklet to raise awareness of the 
employability of Armed Forces Veterans  

3.23 Further Housing Options briefs 

3.24 Implementation of the Armed Forces Covenant legislation in 2022 

Conclusion  

3.25 I am aware that many representatives have changed since the last report and 
may not appreciate why Covenant commitments are so important for helping our 
community overcome the disadvantages of service life.  When one talks of the 
Covenant, there is a tendency to think immediately of veterans.  Vulnerable ex-
service people certainly need Edinburgh society’s support, but the impact of 
service life on the serving community and their families must not be overlooked:  
our service commitments make routine and predictability difficult; we must move 
frequently if we are to have a meaningful family life; accessing facilities and 
opportunities that normal households take for granted is often difficult; the 
disadvantages are often obscure and all too often tolerated phlegmatically by our 
people.  If the COVID pandemic has rightly focused our support and attention on 
the healthcare services, our people have also been heavily committed to sustain 

Page 44



 7  

and support them, in some cases deploying away from home for months at a 
time.    

3.26 Looking to 2022 and beyond, my ask of the Edinburgh Partnership, on behalf of 
Edinburgh’s Armed Forces and Veterans’ community, is quite simple, please: 

3.26.1 encourage staff on the interface of public service to develop their 
understanding of the service community and veterans through the 
Covenant e-Learning package (and, when they are available, the 
supporting video packages) and to ask their customers whether they or 
their partner is or has served in the military;  

3.26.2 commit your institution to the Covenant Employer Recognition Scheme or 
advance it to the next level; and, 

3.26.3 where we bring specific Covenant challenges to your attention, please 
work with us to address them. 

3.27 I am enormously grateful to the Edinburgh Partnership for the goodwill and 
commitment its members have shown to the Covenant during this challenging 
reporting period. 

4. Contact 

H I M Clark 
Lieutenant Colonel  
Commander Edinburgh Garrison 
Email: Hugo.Clark407@mod.gov.uk 
 

  

   

 

Page 45

mailto:Michele.mulvaney@edinburgh.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Edinburgh Partnership Budget 

1. Executive Summary 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide the Board with an update on the budget 
collectively provided to meet the development and operational costs of the 
Edinburgh Partnership.  Agreement is sought on the reprofiling of the spend, 
together with seeking future financial contributions from partners. 

 
 

2. Recommendations 

 
2.1 The Board is recommended to:  

i. note the budget position as detailed in this report and set out in the appendix; 
ii. agree option 2 as set out under 3.11 below; 
iii. agree that partners will consider further financial contributions, in advance of 

the Board meeting in March 2022; 
iv. agree to receive a report setting out budget requirements at the March 2022 

meeting. 
 

3. Main Report 

 

3.1 With the revised governance model, and the allocation of the previous budget, 
statutory partners with a duty to support community planning processes were 
asked to contribute financially to support the Partnership’s operational and 
development activity. 

3.2 The contribution, set at £10k, replicated that of legacy public sector partners 
contributions, and was requested for the purposes of funding activity across all 
levels of the governance arrangements including support for neighbourhood 
networks. 

3.3 One off funding of £30k was secured from contributions of £10k each from Police 
Scotland, NHS Lothian and Scottish Enterprise.  The Scottish Fire and Rescue 
Service was unable to make a financial contribution.  Recognising the existing in 
kind support and direct funding by the City of Edinburgh Council, no request was 
made for a further contribution.  Other partners were not asked to contribute. 

3.4 The £30k was supplemented by a small residual amount of funding from the 
previous budget which ran for 2015 to 2018, giving a total opening budget in 
2019/20 of £30,456. 

Page 47

Agenda Item 4e



 2  

3.5 In September 2019 the Board agreed to allocate the budget as follows: 

• up to £1,000 to support the development of each of the 13 neighbourhood 
networks (£13,000)  

• £1,000 to meet revenue costs associated with the Board 

• the remaining budget to be used to meet research and project costs. 

3.6 A subsequent decision was taken to ringfence up to £15,000 to support the 
advice service review being taken forward under priority 1 of the Local Outcome 
Improvement Plan (LOIP). 

3.7 The expenditure to date of £3,524 has been used to support meetings, Edinburgh 
Partnership website and consultancy costs to facilitate the development of the 
empowerment strategy and LOIP priority 3 (see breakdown in appendix).  This 
leaves a balance of £26,931 for allocation.   

3.8 To date no draw down has been made in respect of the neighbourhood networks.  
This is in part due to the pandemic which meant the networks fell into abeyance 
with them only restarting meeting earlier this year.  With the move to virtual 
meetings some of the anticipated support costs for events or meetings are not 
required currently.  Whilst the costs have not been defined, it is likely that some 
level of support may be required in future to provide a digital solution to enable 
the networks to communicate more effectively across the city.  Options for this 
are currently being explored and may form the basis of a future ask of the 
Edinburgh Partnership.   

3.9 Similarly, up to £15k was provisionally ringfenced to support the delivery of the 
advice service review which is a key action under the LOIP priority 1.  The 
notional amount underestimated the work required to deliver on this objective. It 
was agreed that this work should be carried out independently and consequently 
was subject to a procurement process.  Unfortunately, this process was 
unsuccessful in securing a provider, with the invited tenderers either feeling the 
timing of the work was too constrained or it was not an area of work that was 
appropriate to their expertise.  To ensure this work can move forward it was 
agreed to invite an academic to bid for the work.  The subsequent bid has come 
in at £24,450, which is £9,450 more than provisionally identified. 

3.10 Taking account of the spend to date, ringfenced allocation for the neighbourhood 
networks and the cost of the advice service review, there is a projected shortfall 
in the budget of £10,518. 

3.11 The Board is asked to consider how it wants to manage this recognising that the 
budget will need to be reprioritised or further contributions secured from partners 
to meet the additional cost if commitments are to be met. Consideration also 
needs to be given to future budget requirements, particularly to meet recurring 
costs such as the Edinburgh Partnership website.   Immediate options the 
Partnership might consider are: 

Page 48



 3  

Option 1 – Contribute additional funding to meet the immediate budget 
shortfall of £10,518 

Pros – existing commitments will be met 

Cons – the cost of support for the neighbourhood networks is yet to be defined so 
monies are being set aside without certainty that the allocation will be 
needed/sufficient 

Option 2 - Reprioritise the budget to meet the full cost of the advice service 
review with the residual balance being ringfenced for neighbourhood 
networks 

Pro – Key area of work will be delivered 

Con – The support to neighbourhood networks will be reduced to £2,481 

3.12 It is important to note that both options will leave the Partnership with no budget 
to support ongoing development work and regular commitments such as 
operating costs for the website.   

3.13 Given the above, and immediate budget pressure, it is recommended that Option 
2 is agreed.  This will allow the short term pressure to be met and a key area of 
work to be delivered.  It is proposed that as part of this decision, partners agree 
to consider replenishing the budget.   This will be informed by work carried out 
through the LOIP Delivery Group and Community Planning Support Group to 
provide a detailed costing of future requirements.  This will include support for the 
neighbourhood networks. 

3.14 Also, on the agenda is a report covering EACC’s desire to consider future 
resourcing and funding to participate in community planning in the round.  A 
report on this will be brought forward in March 2022 and may have budget 
implications.   

3.15 If agreed, the intention would be to provide the necessary information to the 
Board at the March 2022 meeting.  Although the requirement is yet to be defined, 
recognising budget setting timescales, all partnership members are asked to 
consider at this stage a contribution to the budget to facilitate the decision making 
process of the Board in March 2022. 

4. Contact 

Michele Mulvaney – Strategy Manager (Communities) 
Michele.mulvaney@edinburgh.gov.uk 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 49



 4  

APPENDIX 1 
 

Edinburgh Partnership Budget 2019/2022 
 
 
 

Community Planning Partnership       
71570       
Spend to Date - October 2021       
  £ £   

Partner Contribution (19/20) 
-

30,000.00     
Residual Balance on Previous Funding -456.41     

Opening Balance (19/20)   
-

30,456.41   
        
19/20 Costs:       
Development Workshop 1,200.00     
Food & Drink 596.02     
Room Hire 60.00     
Other 45.25     
Drawdown 19/20   1,901.27 0 
        

Closing Balance (19/20)   
-

28,555.14   
        
20/21 Costs:       
Development Workshop 180.00     
Web Domain Costs 244.96     
Other -60.00     
Drawdown 20/21   364.96 0 
        

Closing Balance (20/21)   
-

28,190.18   
        
21/22 Costs:       
Animate - Join the Dots 1,200.00     
Travel Reclaimed  58.20     
Drawdown 21/22   1,258.20   
        

Closing Balance (21/22)   
-

26,931.98   
        

 
 

 
 

   

Page 50



 5  

   

 
 
 
 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Scottish Government National Care Service Consultation 

1. Executive Summary 

1.1 This paper provides a short summary of the community planning partner 
responses to the Scottish Government consultation on the National Care Service 
(NCS). The NCS proposals are potentially the most significant change to care 
and support in Scotland since the establishment of the NHS. The proposals are 
significant and complex in their own right but could also have substantial and 
reformative impact on the NHS and local government in particular.  

 
1.2 The paper suggests that following the Scottish Government response to the 

consultation, that the partnership should come together for a dedicated 
discussion on the implications of any future proposals on citizens in need of care 
and support; key community planning partners and; partnership working in the 
city. 

 

2. Recommendations 

 
2.1 The Board is recommended to:  

i. Note the summary of responses made by community planning partners to the 
Scottish Government consultation on the National Care Service  

ii. Agree to hold a dedicated community planning partnership discussion on the 
National Care Service once the Scottish Government publishes its response. 
 

3. Main Report 

3.1 The Scottish Government consultation on a NCS for Scotland set out proposals 
for the future delivery of social care in Scotland, following the recommendations 
of the Independent Review of Adult Social Care (the Feeley review). The 
consultation closed on 2 November 2021. 

3.2 The Scottish Government proposal is that children’s services, social work and 
social care, justice social work, prisons, alcohol and drug services and mental 
health services, as well as health care and nursing are included in the scope of 
NCS, and that Integration Joint Boards (IJBs) will be reformed to become 
Community Health and Social Care Boards, the delivery body for the NCS. 

3.3 Edinburgh Partnership Board members were contacted to ask for their 
organisation’s response to the consultation, so that these could be considered 

Page 53

Agenda Item 4f



 2  

together. This paper provides an overview of the responses of the City of 
Edinburgh Council, NHS Lothian, Edinburgh Voluntary Organisations’ Council  
(EVOC) (via a stakeholder workshop), as well as the Edinburgh Child Protection 
Committee. The full submissions are shown in the appendix.   

Overarching views 

3.4 The responses showed that there is general support for the principles of 
improving social care and social work and recognition that change is needed 
(e.g. move to prevention to deliver better and more sustainable improvements, 
greater collaboration, improvements in quality, training, fair work, support to 
unpaid carers).  

3.5 There is also agreement that long term underfunding of social care is a major 
contributing factor to the challenges experienced with the current system. 
Therefore, additional funding within the existing structure could bring 
improvements without major organisational change. 

3.6 However, partners considered that there was insufficient detail set out in the 
consultation document to enable them to make an adequate assessment of the 
potential impact. 

3.7 It was also noted that there appears to have been no involvement of citizens or 
people who use services including children and young people as part of the 
development of the proposals, and there has been no equalities impact 
assessment. 

3.8 The following sections summarise partners’ responses under the key themes of 
opportunities, challenges, the scope of the proposals and partners’ asks of the 
Scottish Government. 

Opportunities 

3.9 Partners considered there to be opportunities in the following areas: 

3.9..1 Increased funding for social care: estimates from the Scottish 
Government are for additional investment in excess of £800m to support 
the proposals;   

3.9..2 Embedding earlier intervention and prevention; inclusivity; improved 
support and engagement of unpaid carers; removal of eligibility and 
complex processes: 

3.9..3 Service and outcome improvements through greater national 
collaboration, particularly around workforce, careers, pay, service 
standards, specialist and complex care, data and information sharing;  

3.9..4 National standards for commissioning and a move away from large, 
short-term contracts which are task-based;  

Page 54



 3  

3.9..5 To build in investment in communities of place and interest, in community 
cohesion and in community anchor organisations. 

Concerns and Risks 

3.10 Partners raised a range of concerns including: 

3.10..1 Questions were raised about the timing of proposing reform of this scale 
and significant when the impact of Covid is still being managed. There is 
a risk of disruption to services and a further risk that staff may take the 
opportunity through restructuring of leaving services which are already 
experiencing high levels of vacancies.  

3.10..2 More specifically, the consultation does not describe the form and 
function of the new care service in sufficient detail to allow meaningful 
responses to be made to many of the consultation questions or to enable 
a fully informed position to be taken. The following are examples of areas 
where more detail is needed: 

3.10..3 For NHS Boards and local authorities: governance, roles, responsibilities 
and accountability – for example, it is not clear which body/bodies would 
employ front line staff, which has a bearing on responsibilities and 
accountabilities for safety and quality of care;  

a. commissioning and procurement arrangements; 

b. roles of existing partnerships e.g. Alcohol and Drug; 

c. operational delivery.     

3.10..4 The scope of the proposals extends beyond those recommended in the 
Feeley review, to include children’s and justice services, with no rationale 
given for their inclusion (see scope section below). 

3.10..5 The solutions proposed in the consultation document are not evidence-
based; greater clarity is needed on how these reforms will positively 
contribute to tackling poverty; improving wellbeing and shifting the 
balance of care; what criteria will determine which aspects of community 
health and social care improvement should be managed Scotland-wide?  

3.10..6 The future role and funding of local government and NHS Boards would 
fundamentally change, with potential risks to the financial sustainability of 
local government in particular; The ability of local government to use 
borrowing to pay for infrastructure investment, development of the city 
and wider priorities such as net zero could be severely undermined.  

3.10..7 Social care would no longer be subject to local democratic processes 
and the role and nature of local democratic accountability would be 
reduced in scope. 

Page 55



 4  

3.10..8 Structural change would not be sufficient to tackle some of the perceived 
problems (e.g. the complexity of Scottish public sector). Person centred 
and rights-based services are not dependent on the structure of the 
service but the ethos of the management and staff of the service. 
Similarly, the quality of working relationships between professionals is 
key to effective practice across organisational boundaries.   

3.10..9 The separation of the planning and delivery of community health and 
social care from other aspects of healthcare. 

3.10..10 Fragmenting health services between a new body and the NHS.   

3.10..11 A national organisation would not be able to sufficiently respond to local 
need and so while there may be a need for national consistency this needs 
to be coupled with sufficient local variation and agility within local 
partnerships.  

3.10..12 Local innovation and good practice would be diminished under the NCS 
e.g. the high level of community child health input into Child Protection 
processes, via the dedicated Child Protection Hub.  

3.12 Finally, the timescale for implementation appears to be very tight given the 
significance and complexity of the proposals. 

Scope 

3.13 Key themes from partners’ responses about the range of services proposed to be 
included in the NCS were: 

3.13..1 The Council believes that Children’s services, Criminal Justice Social Work 
and Homelessness should remain out of scope and that the case has not 
been made for including adult social care. For each of these services, 
close alignment with local support services (local education, housing 
support, debt and benefit advice) is crucial to effective support. Indeed, 
there is a significant risk that reforms which separate children’s services 
and social work from local education would create new silos and barriers 
to collaboration which would adversely impact Edinburgh’s children and 
their families. 

3.13..2 In contrast, EVOC consider that the inclusion of children’s services gives an 
opportunity for services to be built around the child, family, or person who 
needs support; reducing complexity and ensuring improved transitions and 
support for those that need to access a range of services.  

3.13..3 There is very little information about children’s services contained in the 
consultation paper and the most recent comprehensive review process in 
this service area (The Independent Care Review i.e. The Promise) did not 
arrive at the conclusion that service reorganisation in this way would 
benefit children.  

Page 56



 5  

3.13..4 Transition between children and adult services, noted in the consultation as 
being a challenge, is already being addressed in children’s services 
through, for example, Continuing Care legislation and resulting practice 
changes.   

3.13..5 NHS Lothian believe that all health services (including specialist mental 
health) should remain within the NHS, given the relationship and 
interdependencies between health services. This would include GP 
contracts. GPs have also expressed concerns about the impact on 
professional standards and accountability of moving responsibility for GPs 
to the NCS.   

Asks 

3.14 Partners made a number of requests to the Scottish Government as part of their 
response: 

3.14..1 Reforms are taken forward in partnership with councils   

3.14..2 A genuinely collaborative relationship with the Third Sector as equal partner 
and with the role of local communities in understanding needs and providing 
solutions needs to be recognised e.g. in new commissioning. 

3.14..3 Better pay and conditions for social care across sectors is supported  

3.14..4 Investment in communities of place and interest, in community cohesion 
and in community anchor organisations. 

3.14..5 Embedding lived experience needs to be properly supported. 

3.14..6 Careful consideration of the size and composition of Community Health and 
Social Care Boards and the process for appointing members.   

Implications for the Edinburgh Partnership 

3.15 While details of the proposed National Care Service are not yet available, there is 
no doubt that the Scottish Government intends to implement major structural 
change, and at pace. 

3.16 There will undoubtedly be major changes to current Partnership members’ roles 
and remits, new organisations to be incorporated and potentially changes to 
priorities, as well as a period of uncertainty and disruption as restructuring takes 
place. 

3.17 Given the magnitude of the proposed changes and their implications, it is 
recommended that, following the Scottish Government response to the 
consultation, the partnership should come together for a dedicated discussion on 
the implications of any future proposals on citizens in need of care and support; 
key community planning partners and; partnership working in the city. 

4. Contact 

Page 57



 6  

Eleanor Cunningham, Lead Policy Officer   
eleanor.cunningham@edinburgh.gov.uk 
 
 
 

  

5. Appendices – consultation responses 

1. The City of Edinburgh Council  (links to document below) 

2. NHS Lothian (links to document below) 

3. EVOC  (links to EVOC’s website) 

On behalf of Edinburgh’s community & voluntary sector 
From EVOC – Edinburgh’s TSI 

 

4. Edinburgh Child Protection Committee  (links to document below) 

  

Page 58

mailto:eleanor.cunningham@edinburgh.gov.uk
https://www.evoc.org.uk/wordpress/wp-content/media/2021/11/EVOC-National-Care-Service-Consultation-Response.pdf
https://www.evoc.org.uk/wordpress/wp-content/media/2021/11/EVOC-TSI-National-Care-Service-Consultation-Response-Final.pdf


 7  

1. The City of Edinburgh Council Response 

 
Summary 

1. The City of Edinburgh Council welcomes this opportunity to respond to the Scottish 
Government Consultation on the establishment of a new National Care Service for 
Scotland.  

 
2. This response is being submitted in addition to a submission responding to the 

consultation questions. This is being done to ensure the Council’s views on the 
proposals are adequately articulated as the questions asked are not sufficiently open 
so as to allow all the required points to be made.  

 
3. In Summary, the Council: 

i. Supports the principles for improving social care and social work articulated by 
the Feeley Review 

ii. Recognises the challenges in delivering a shift in the balance of care; meeting 
the needs of service users within reducing budgets; the challenges of mixed local 
markets and current procurement methods; the undervaluing of care and carers 
and; the limited investment in preventative models of care that exist in the social 
care and social work system and welcomes the Government’s commitment to 
working towards a better and better resourced system of care in Scotland. 

iii. Believes that there are some key opportunities for service and outcome 
improvements through greater national collaboration; particularly around 
workforce, careers, pay, service standards, specialist and complex care, data 
and information sharing  

iv. Asks that these reforms are taken forward in partnership with councils and 
informed by officers working locally to deliver services alongside those with a 
strategic expertise.  

 
However, the council: 

v. Believes that the Scottish Government has not yet laid out a convincing and 
evidence-based proposal showing that structural change is the best means of 
resolving these issues or delivering on improvement opportunities.  

vi. Is concerned by the ambiguity in the proposals being put forward for consultation 
which seem to go well beyond any mandate established during the election and 
asks that the Scottish Government further consult once it is able to lay out 

Page 59



 8  

sufficiently detailed material and an options appraisal for consideration by service 
users, stakeholders, providers and statutory partners.  

vii. Is concerned that proposals for change of this magnitude are being brought 
forward at a time of great service stress, as a result of the pandemic, and for a 
workforce and a wider system that continues to operate under great strain with 
limited resilience.  

viii. Believes that Children’s services, Criminal Justice Social Work and 
Homelessness should remain out of scope.  

ix. Notes that many of the issues with the current system identified by the Feeley 
Review are a result of a reducing/underfunded local authority budget – despite 
local authority efforts to protect front line service spend.  

x. Believes that a concerted effort to address that underfunding would, at this point 
in time, have more impact than structural change without the service level 
upheaval and distraction involved in establishing a new body.  

xi. Notes that the financial implications for local government could extend beyond 
the services referenced to impact the debt profile of the Council and its ability to 
leverage capital and borrowing for investment in critical infrastructure and other 
policy priorities such as addressing the climate emergency. 

xii. Is concerned that the reforms are being proposed without reference to the wider 
system of interdependent services; in particular, the potential for these reforms to 
reshape the nature and role of local government as a consequence of the 
establishment of the new care service rather than by design to better serve 
Scotland’s residents 

xiii. Would like to see greater clarity on how these reforms will positively contribute to 
tackling poverty; improving wellbeing and shifting the balance of care 

xiv. Expects the Scottish Government to lead by example in terms of producing 
detailed equality impact assessments and consulting direct with service users 
including children and young people.  

xv. Notes the experience of establishing Public Health Scotland shows how long 
establishing a new national body could take with a relatively simple landscape of 

Page 60



 9  

services and professions and is concerned that the timeframe set out for a 
National Care Service feels overly ambitious and unrealistic in this context. 

 
4. The response below further explains the Council position summarised above and 

includes some more technical detail around key areas such as key service areas, 
workforce, funding, governance, information sharing and procurement. 

 

Response to the Consultation   
 

General comments and questions  
5. The City of Edinburgh Council welcomes this opportunity to respond to the Scottish 

Government consultation on the establishment of a new National Care Service for 
Scotland.  

 
6. The Council shares the Scottish Government’s commitment to ensuring that social 

care and social work services are highly valued; are built on a rights based and 
personalised approach; achieve improved outcomes for service users; are 
adequately resourced and result in a meaningful shift in the balance of care.  

 
7. The Council is keen to work with COSLA and the Scottish Government on any 

forthcoming material with the aim of improving the delivery of health and social care 
in Scotland and believes that any  proposal for a National Care Service would only be 
strengthened by the operational and practical knowledge of service delivery and local 
markets held by Councils 

 
8. However, the consultation does not describe the form and function of the new care 

service in sufficient detail to allow meaningfully responses to be made or for this 
process to be considered as having fulfilled requirements to consult on reform of this 
nature and scale.  

 

Page 61



 10  

9. While the Council provides as full a response as possible on key issues below, the 
following questions would need to addressed in order to give due consideration to the 
Government’s ambition for an National Care Service :  

 
i. What issues, challenges or opportunities is the NCS being established to 

address?  

ii. What evidence is there that nationalisation of a service is the best answer and 
were other options considered?  

iii. What services would be in scope of the reform and what is the rationale for their 
inclusion? 

iv. Is the Government considering progressing that in a single step or as part of a 
staged approach?  

v. How are staff going to be integrated into the new body and how will they be 
organised? 

vi. Will the duties relating to all services being nationalised be removed from Local 
Government? 

vii. How will support functions currently delivered within Councils (such as ICT, 
procurement, information governance, HR) be impacted? 

viii. How will governance actually work and how is it envisaged that the systems of 
governance interact? 

ix. There are significant strategies, objectives, ambitions and plans across the 
proposed scope of the new body and into the wider public service landscape. 
How will the wider policy landscape be joined up under this new body and as part 
of the reform approach? 

x. What level of local democratic accountability is anticipated in the new systems? 

xi. What are the envisaged implications of this move on the form and function of local 
government and how do these reforms contribute positively to localism? 

xii. What is the proposed means of paying for the substantive costs involved in 
increasing and extending entitlements as well as the costs associated with 
structural reform of this scale?  

xiii. How will capital investments and assets be accounted?  

xiv. Given the lack of detail in the current consultation, will there be further 
consultation before legislation is proposed? 

 
Service based concerns  

10. The City of Edinburgh Council has made every effort, within the context of reducing 
public budgets to protect front line services, particularly those aimed at vulnerable 
residents and to prioritise poverty and prevention within its work and budgets. 

Page 62



 11  

However, reduced local budgets have ultimately reduced the Council’s capacity to 
invest or expand local provision in line with the consultation proposals. Despite this, 
and particularly during COVID, the council would highlight and celebrate the efforts 
and work of key front line staff groups and the effective collaboration between 
community planning partners.  

 
11. As mentioned, the consultation makes several commitments to deliver free and 

increased provision for services in scope. Estimates from the Scottish Government 
are for additional investment in excess of £800m to achieve this outcome. If 
Edinburgh based social work and social care were to receive an uplift of £80m to 
extend eligibility, accessibility, support, pay and employment standards then 
significant transformative action could be achieved immediately within the city. This 
could be delivered without a loss in capacity and the general upheaval and disruption 
associated with structural change. 

 
12. Scottish Government commitment to the additional resource investment required to 

improve outcomes identified in the consultation regardless of whether or not services 
are centralised would also ensure that professional and citizen engagement in the 
reforms will be focused on its relative merits rather than seeing it as a means to 
secure ongoing financial security.  

 
13. These general remarks aside, the following issues relating to specific services are 

highlighted for consideration by the Scottish Government.  

 
Children’s services and Education  

14. The Council notes that children, young people and their families have not been 
consulted directly on the proposals for service redesign and that wider impact 
assessment including those relating to communities with protected characteristics 
have not been undertaken. Reform of these services needs to be based on evidence 
of how it will improve services and outcomes for young people.   

 
15. The published proposals do not consider or describe the interplay between children’s 

services and education. Councils have previously taken the view that the benefit of 
having children’s services and social work closely aligned with local education 
provision is critically important to child protection, general wellbeing and the 
improvement of educational attainment. There is a significant risk that reforms which 
separate children’s services and social work from local education would create new 
silos and barriers to collaboration which would adversely impact Edinburgh’s children 
and their families.  

 
16. In addition, audits conducted into child protection incidents or incidents involving 

vulnerable adults nearly always point to a break down in local relationships, trust and 
information sharing as a major contributing factor to increased risk and harmful 

Page 63



 12  

incidents. Further disruption to service provision and capacity resulting from structural 
reform, following on from the impact of responding to a global pandemic could, not 
only undermine the local ability to positively contribute to children’s outcomes but 
also present an increased local risk to child protection.  

 
17. Given that the Scottish Government has not described how inclusion into a national 

body would meaningfully improve outcomes for children and noting the absence of 
evidence to support this move and the potential increase in risk to services should 
reform go ahead, the City of Edinburgh Council believes that children services should 
be out of scope of the new body.  

 
Local Government as a social care provider  

18. The suggestion that local government will retain a role as a social care service 
provider within the social care market and under a national service model of 
commissioning is untested. In order to take a view on this, Council’s would need to 
be clear on whether the government is proposing removing the service; duties 
relating to the service; governance and accountability for service delivery; associated 
service budgets and; the relevant workforce or, whether some hybrid of the above is 
intended. For greater operational and public clarity, legal obligations to provide a 
service should sit alongside the budgets to deliver on that obligation and the 
accountability for service delivery. Splitting these by leaving duties with the Council 
would be undesirable and Council’s should not be expected to continue as a service 
provider within a mixed economy of provision in these circumstances – although 
some may choose to do so.  

 
Criminal Justice Social Work 

19. The CJ community has already, and relatively recently, undergone a period of reform 
- from the establishment of Community Justice Authorities to the establishment of 
Criminal Justice Scotland. The case for reform and uncertainty when the service is 
facing particular challenges in COVID-19 recovery and expect high volumes of work 
from the courts over the next three years has not been made within the consultation.  

 
20. Again, structural change without additional resources will see no change in the level 

and quality of services offered to our citizens. There needs to be a shift in the amount 
invested in community disposals rather than prisons.  If the additional resources 
implied in this proposal were to be made available to Local Government, it could be 
transformative for the criminal justice service and outcomes for offenders.  

 
21. In addition, the evidence is clear that better access to welfare, housing, and 

employability assistance, as well as health care, have an important role in reducing or 
even prevent offending. Similarly, the shift away from short prison sentences needs 

Page 64



 13  

effective, evidence-based community interventions. All of which call for local 
approaches. 

 
Homelessness  

22. Homelessness services are also noted as potentially in scope for the new services 
although no information as to the scale or rational for its inclusion has been given. 

 
23. Councils have made considerable progress in addressing homelessness through 

their Rapid Rehousing Transition Plans, and Edinburgh has introduced effective 
models of prevention and early intervention in collaboration with a range of local 
partners.  

 
24. The local context is crucial in shaping the demand and the type of response needed 

to support those who find themselves homeless or at risk of being homeless. 
Edinburgh’s housing market is shaped by its uniquely high cost of renting or buying 
homes, with a large private rented sector and the lowest proportion of social rented 
homes in the country This means that often, significant numbers of people presenting 
as homeless are struggling with affordability and debt alongside those who have 
significant and complex social care and support service needs. In the majority of 
cases a close working relationship between homelessness services, housing 
development and support services, advice, debt and benefit support are needed to 
meet homelessness duties. As such, inclusion of homelessness in the scope of the 
new body would not be supported.  

 
25. However, for those with significant health and social care support needs, there may 

be some benefit in establishing a strengthened approach which offers additional 
eligibility, entitlements and access to services. The Council would be keen to engage 
on this type of additionality within the reform proposals. 

 
Personalisation and Direct Payments  

26. More progress is needed to ensure that people are given the support that they need 
to take up the option of a personal budget to meet their needs in a way that best suits 
them. This has been challenging for a range of reasons, including the availability of 
options to support choice where commissioning and market support play a key role. 
However, there is a tension between the proposals to introduce standards of care 
and consistency and the flexibility needed to deliver personalisation and the benefits 
of direct payments.  The Scottish Government has not laid out how it, and the newly 
formed NCS would be better placed to address the current tensions and barriers to 
fully realising the objectives of self directed support.  

 
Reform of the IJB  

27. The Council recognises that despite local progress on integration, there remains a 
need to improve the framework of services in place to meet people’s social care 

Page 65



 14  

needs. A large part of the local challenge relates to pressures arising from the 
mismatch between the level of demand and the resources available to meet needs 
and an inability to substantively deliver a shift in the balance of care.  

 
28. The consultation does not articulate how or why the proposals for change would be 

able to improve on and overcome the challenges currently faced by the IJB. 
Integration is also relatively new as a structure and we should invest in improving the 
effectiveness of IJBs rather than introducing more change and restructuring. The 
Council believes that improvement is possible within the existing framework with local 
leadership, expertise and the right financial framework. 

 
Local Partnership working during national restructuring 

29. When considering the benefit, opportunities and risks of the Scottish Government 
proposals, consideration should be given from the learning and experience of recent 
centralisation of services and the establishment of national bodies such as Fire, 
Police, Criminal Justice, Integration and Public Health for example, local experience 
has been that: 

 
i. Structural reform absorbs significant amounts of organisational energy, capacity 

and resource which is often to the detriment of service delivery; 
ii. the ability to engage and collaborate locally can stall for a number of years while 

the national body establishes itself; 
iii. the ability thereafter of the national body to work flexibly with local partners can be 

hindered by a national desire for consistency of approach;  
iv. sometimes the national approach adopted is at odds with local practices and 

approach;  
v. National direction and national priorities for budget use can be to the detriment of 

local solutions and priorities that reflect the needs of citizens within a given 
community;  

vi. local place-based decision making is made more difficult in respect of capital and 
asset ownership and management; and 

vii. expected operational efficiencies are often optimistic and unrealised. 
 

Workforce  

30. It is unclear what workforce(s) are in scope and what being in scope would mean. 
There are workforce implications in the long term should a National Care Service be 
established but the proposals themselves, and the prospect of this level of upheaval 
in an already pressured system, while still managing and coping with the 
consequences of a pandemic also creates immediate workforce implications and 
risks to the service.  

  

Page 66



 15  

31. The risk that substantive numbers within the social care and social work profession 
will take the prospect of change at this magnitude and at this point in time as impetus 
to leave or retire is significant. In Edinburgh, more people aged over 80 work in adult 
social care than those aged under 20. There will be an immediate escalation in the 
recruitment risk and associated cost to the service and the employer during this 
period of uncertainty and change.  

 
32. However, workforce is one area where a more national framework would potentially 

benefit the service and its long term sustainability and attraction as a positive career 
choice. Harmonisation of pay and fair work principles, improved training and career 
pathways, and improved workforce planning could benefit from national collaboration 
and consistency. The national framework for teachers offers a potential model for 
improvements which could be implemented relatively quickly and without the need for 
structural reform.  

 
Governance  

33. The governance within the consultation is loosely described, with a lack of clarity on 
the form, duties and responsibilities and how the system would work as a whole and 
integrate with partners. It is not clear how duties relating to the services that are in 
scope would be disaggregated from current legislation and allocated to the new body.  
What is suggested does not immediately look simpler or less bureaucratic and it is 
unclear as to whether the proposals are seeking to lay out a governance system as 
part of the wider system of public service delivery or a means of achieving national 
control of social care. The lack of detail means it is difficult to comment on any 

Page 67



 16  

specifics and it is recommended that the governance proposal should address the 
following matters: 

 
I. The structures which will be put in place to improve service delivery – 

structural reform does not just result in improved service and there needs to 
be more detail on what will be put in place; 

II. Where legislative duties will sit whilst ensuring responsibility, accountability 
and service delivery sit together; 

III. How CHSCBs will be effective with accountability to ministers rather than the 
National Care Service 

IV. The loss of local democracy and accountability with service delivery being 
accountable to one minister rather than local people and communities;  

V. How national consistency and oversight will be managed whilst still ensuring 
local decisions and solutions; and 

VI. Further detail on how the service will integrate on housing, education and 
policing recognising that being a statutory consultee is not integration. 

VII. The relationship between the NCS and Criminal Justice Scotland and other 
relevant national bodies  

 
34. Local democratic accountability is not achieved through the membership of a small 

number of Councillors on a Board or Partnership. Divorcing services targeting some 
of our most vulnerable resident from local democratic accountability is not desirable 
and there is no evidence to suggest that communities and citizens themselves are 
empowered more and have greater recourse to action in the face of a complaint 
about local service delivery within a nationalised service model.  

 
 Funding  
 

35. The proposals provide no detail as to how the identified additional entitlements and 
rights and the costs associated with the development and ongoing running costs of 
the new body would be funded. In Edinburgh, the budget for the services potentially 
in scope is £380m per annum with demand for current provision and entitlements 
expected to grow by £8m per annum before any additional commitments are 
accounted for. 

 
36. Depending on the scope of the reform, these proposals could therefore remove about 

40% of the Council’s budget. The financial implications for local government could 
extend beyond the services referenced to impact the wider debt profile of the Council 
and its ability to leverage capital and borrowing for investment in critical infrastructure 
and other policy priorities such as addressing the climate emergency. The Council is 
at the heart of investing in the regeneration, development and improvement of 

Page 68



 17  

Edinburgh as a city and removing this budget would radically limit its potential to 
invest in the wider roles, responsibilities and duties the Council holds and which are a 
shared priority for the government. 

 
37. The consultation is not clear on how capital and capital assets will be dealt with if 

social care and social work services are centralised along with their revenue budgets. 
The purchase, rental or sale of capital assets will need careful operational, financial 
and legal consideration before progressing.  

 
38. The mixed market of social care is also linked to the overall cost of social care. The 

consultation document does not deal with the difficult issue of profit within the sector 
and the different local pressures on markets with a strong private sector component.  

 
39. Audit Scotland report on police integration reflected the challenges of a proposal for 

change built on the assumption of efficiencies. Nationalising a service does not 
necessarily result in efficiency especially when a service has experienced a historic 
budget gap. The Scottish Government should provide detail on any assumptions it is 
making about cost savings and efficiency in its options appraisal. 

 
40. Scottish Government should provide absolute clarity on these points given the 

potentially significant ongoing financial implications of these proposals for the whole 
of Scotland and for the financial stability of local government. This includes detail as 
to whether the intention is to fund these proposals through taxation.  

 
Other considerations  
 

Procurement 
41. It is acknowledged that for certain service needs there might be some benefits to a 

more collective approach to procurement in terms of efficiencies and scale that it 
would be helpful to explore. However, there are existing mechanisms, frameworks 
and organisations such as Scotland Excel which could be utilised before establishing 
a new body with a similar remit or function.  

 
42. In addition, the Council’s experience is that the market is fragmented and locally 

based, with the majority of social care provision being delivered by SMEs and the 
third sector. Further, and more importantly in terms of service delivery, there is a real 
risk that such a national approach would detract from the collaborative locality 
networks which local authorities, including the Council, have been developing with 
key partners over years.   

 
43. In particular, the Council is currently undertaking work in Community Based Networks 

and Hubs, through current work in the Edinburgh PACT and 20 minute 

Page 69



 18  

neighbourhoods, which is seeking to build a community “circle of support” with 
statutory services, third sector and independent organisations working collaboratively 
and collectively to meet individual outcomes.  Such an approach could be placed at 
risk by the proposals. In addition, a national approach would be less able to respond 
to localised procurement objectives, for instance ensuring roles for local community 
organisations, SMEs and the third sector, and more generally developing local 
markets. 

 
44. Market shaping is certainly required to meet the demands the Council is experiencing 

in particular sectors, with increases in numbers of older people, especially those with 
disabilities, complex and multiple needs and increases in the number of children with 
disabilities. A national strategic approach to this could be of assistance, perhaps with 
a regional focus based on capacity and gap analysis.   

 
45. However, the Council’s experience, through listening to social care providers, is that 

traditional forms of procurement do not necessarily deliver the outcomes that are 
needed for these services. Instead, better outcomes are more likely to be secured 
through those contracts that are developed from significant co-production with 
service providers and service users. Again, it is difficult to see how such an approach 
could be facilitated on a national scale without losing that collaborative, local 
approach.  

 

Information Governance 
46. While it is recognised that a National Care Service will require data in achieve its 

functions, the existing legislative landscape already enables proportionate and 
relevant data sharing.  Data protection law already provides legal gateways which 
ensure that personal data can be shared when appropriate, and without reliance on 
consent.   

 
47. It is accepted that there can be some concerns over the legality of sharing personal 

data in certain contexts; however, in order to ensure public trust, it is recommended 
that this be tackled through better communication and guidance to improve 
confidence and the development of a shared culture in this space rather than the use 
of legislation 

  
48. Investment in better communications, guidance and/or codes of practice would 

consolidate a consistent approach to data collection and information flows without 
eroding individual rights and public trust. 

 
49. On a practical level, prescriptive data collection would be complex to achieve given 

the number and variety of organisations involved. It may also cause organisation to 
collect data that they do not need, and a national record may then retain information 
longer than would otherwise be required creating tension and potential non-

Page 70



 19  

compliance with data protection legislation. There is also the potential for numerous 
data controllers to jointly control an individual record creating a confusing picture in 
terms of responsibilities over ‘the record’ and individual entries within it.  Numerous 
and varying access rights would require central administration.   

 
50. The creation of an over-arching record will also require consideration in terms of 

statutory responsibility and control. Should responsibilities for record-keeping be 
centralised to a single body, that same body will need to also become responsible for 
current and historic records held by organisations losing that responsibility, ensuring 
that these are then managed and made accessible according to the Public Records 
(Scotland) Act 2011, Data Protection Act 2018 and other legislation.  

 
51. Such a national recording system is likely to require extensive resource to ensure 

effective central administration, system support, and regulatory compliance. If a 
devolved record-keeping model is chosen instead, where different organisations 
retain responsibilities for their own records, it is hard to see how the National Care 
Service will be able to reduce the duplication of systems and create the integrated 
social and health care record that seems to be a key aim of the proposal. 

 
52. A more practical and less burdensome approach to support consistent and effective 

information flow and service user experience would be create a series of thematic but 
detailed good practice codes addressing record-keeping, data sharing, and rights to 
access information.   

 
53. Scottish Public Services Ombudsman (SPSO) already provides the priorities 

identified in the consultation and a model complaints handling system (including for 
social care services) and it is unclear what is likely to be achieved by introducing a 
new system specific to the national Care Service. Similarly, legislation already exists 
to facilitate relevant and proportionate information sharing with regulators.  Further 
legislation in this area is not needed 

 
 
 
  

Page 71



 20  

 

 

 

A National Care Service for Scotland - Consultation 

 

RESPONDENT INFORMATION FORM 

 
Please Note this form must be completed and returned with your response. 

To find out how we handle your personal data, please see our privacy policy: 
https://www.gov.scot/privacy/ 

 

Are you responding as an individual or an organisation?  

 Individual 

 Organisation 

Full name or organisation’s name 

Phone number  

Address  

 

Postcode  

 

 

Email 

 

The Scottish Government would like your  

permission to publish your consultation  

The City of Edinburgh Council 

0131 200 2000 

Policy and Insight, Business Centre 2.1, Waverley Court, 4 East Market Street, Edinburgh 

EH8 8BG 
 

policyandinsight@edinburgh.gov.uk 

Information for organisations: 

The option 'Publish response only (without name)’ is 
available for individual respondents only. If this 
option is selected, the organisation name will still be 
published.  

If you choose the option 'Do not publish response', 
your organisation name may still be listed as having 
responded to the consultation in, for example, the 
analysis report. 

 

Page 72

https://www.gov.scot/privacy/


 21  

response. Please indicate your publishing  

preference: 

 

 Publish response with name 

 Publish response only (without name)  

 Do not publish response 

We will share your response internally with other Scottish Government policy teams 
who may be addressing the issues you discuss. They may wish to contact you again in 
the future, but we require your permission to do so. Are you content for Scottish 
Government to contact you again in relation to this consultation exercise? 

 Yes 

 No 

 

Individuals - Your experience of social care and support 

If you are responding as an individual, it would be helpful for us to understand what 
experience you have of social care and support. Everyone’s views are important, and it 
will be important for us to understand whether different groups have different views, but 
you do not need to answer this question if you don’t want to. 

 

Please tick all that apply 

 I receive, or have received, social care or support 

 I am, or have been, an unpaid carer  

 A friend or family member of mine receives, or has received, social care or 
support 

 I am, or have been, a frontline care worker 

 I am, or have been, a social worker 

 I work, or have worked, in the management of care services 

 I do not have any close experience of social care or support. 

Organisations – your role 

Please indicate what role your organisation plays in social care 

 

 Providing care or support services, private sector 

 Providing care or support services, third sector 

Page 73



 22  

 Independent healthcare contractor 

 Representing or supporting people who access care and support and their 
families 

 Representing or supporting carers 

 Representing or supporting members of the workforce 

 Local authority 

 Health Board 

 Integration authority 

 Other public sector body 

 Other 
 
Questions 
Improving care for people 
 

Improvement 
 

Q1. What would be the benefits of the National Care Service taking responsibility for 
improvement across community health and care services? (Please tick all that 
apply) 

 

 Better co-ordination of work across different improvement organisations 

 Effective sharing of learning across Scotland 

 Intelligence from regulatory work fed back into a cycle of continuous 
improvement 

 More consistent outcomes for people accessing care and support across 
Scotland 

 Other – please explain below 

  
The City of Edinburgh Council welcomes this opportunity to respond to the Scottish 
Government Consultation on the establishment of a new National Care Service (NCS) 
for Scotland.  

The Council shares the Scottish Government’s commitment to ensuring that social care 
and social work services are highly valued; are built on a rights based and personalised 
approach; achieve improved outcomes for service users; are adequately resourced and 
result in a meaningful shift in the balance of care.  

Page 74



 23  

A national approach has the potential to bring benefits  to health and social care in key 
areas for example supporting the long-term sustainability and attraction of social care 
and social work as a positive career choice; approach to workforce; data use and 
information sharing. However, there is no evidence that these improvements require a 
national care service in order for there to be national progress.  

The Council is keen to work with COSLA and the Scottish Government on any 
forthcoming material with the aim of improving the delivery of health and social care in 
Scotland and believes that any  proposal for a National Care Service would only be 
strengthened by the operational and practical knowledge of service delivery and local 
markets held by Councils. 

The Council has provided an additional response paper setting out the Councils 
response to the proposals to establish a National Care Service, highlighting the need for 
additional information on a wide range of aspects of the proposals in order for 
meaningful consultation to take place and requests that a second phase of consultation 
is held once this information is available.   

 

Q2. Are there any risks from the National Care Service taking responsibility for 
improvement across community health and care services? 

 

The consultation does not describe the form and function of the new care service in 
sufficient detail to allow meaningfully responses to be made or for this process to be 
considered as having fulfilled requirements to consult on reform of this nature and scale. 

The Council has set out 14 questions which need to be addressed in order to give due 
consideration to the Government’s ambition for a National Care Service – please see 
the detailed additional response paper provided.  

The areas of improvement highlighted above could benefit from stronger national 
frameworks but there is no evidence to support that the establishment of the NCS is 
required in order to achieve these improvements.  

Audit Scotland report on police integration reflected the challenges of a proposal for 
change or improvement through centralisation and restructuring that are built on the 
assumption of efficiencies. Nationalising a service does not necessarily result in 
efficiency especially when a service has experienced a historic budget gap. The 
Scottish Government should provide detail on any assumptions it is making about cost 
savings and efficiency in its options appraisal. 

Indeed, many (although not all) of the challenges social care and social work services 
experience are due to resourcing and the ability for Scotland to meaningfully shift the 
balance of care.   

The City of Edinburgh Council has made every effort, within the context of reducing 
public budgets, to protect front line services, particularly those aimed at vulnerable 

Page 75



 24  

residents such as social care, homelessness and children’s services, and to prioritise 
poverty and prevention within its work and budgets. However, reduced local budgets 
have ultimately reduced the Council’s capacity to invest or expand local provision in line 
with the consultation proposals. Despite this, and particularly during COVID, the council 
would highlight and celebrate the efforts and work of key front line staff groups and the 
effective collaboration between community planning partners.  

As mentioned, secure resourcing and delivering a shift in the balance of care is key to 
an improvement in social care and social work. The consultation makes several 
commitments to deliver free and increased provision for services in scope. Estimates 
from the Scottish Government are for additional investment in excess of £800m to 
achieve this outcome. If Edinburgh based social work and social care were to receive 
an uplift of £80m to extend eligibility, accessibility, support, pay and employment 
standards then significant transformative action could be achieved immediately within 
the city. This could be delivered without a loss in capacity and the general upheaval and 
disruption associated with structural change. 

Scottish Government commitment to the additional resource investment required to 
improve outcomes identified in the consultation, regardless of whether or not services 
are centralised, would also ensure that professional and citizen engagement in the 
reforms will be focused on its relative merits rather than seeing it as a means to secure 
ongoing financial security. 

In terms of risk, the proposals provide no detail as to how the identified additional 
entitlements and rights and the costs associated with the development and ongoing 
running costs of the new body would be funded. In Edinburgh, the budget for the 
services potentially in scope is £380m per annum with demand for current provision and 
entitlements expected to grow by £8m per annum before any additional commitments 
are accounted for. 

Depending on the scope of the reform, these proposals could therefore remove about 
40% of the Council’s budget. The financial implications for local government could 
extend beyond the services referenced to impact the wider debt profile of the Council 
and its ability to leverage capital and borrowing for investment in critical infrastructure 
and other policy priorities such as addressing the climate emergency. The Council is at 
the heart of investing in the regeneration, development and improvement of Edinburgh 
as a city and removing this budget would radically limit its potential to invest in the wider 
roles, responsibilities and duties the Council holds and which are a shared priority for 
the government. 

 

 
 
Access to Care and Support 
 
Accessing care and support   

Page 76



 25  

 
Q3. If you or someone you know needed to access care and support, how likely would 

you be to use the following routes if they were available? 
 

Speaking to my GP or another health professional. 

Not at all likely Unlikely Neither likely 
nor unlikely 

Likely Very likely 

     
 

Speaking to someone at a voluntary sector organisation, for example my local 
carer centre, befriending service or another organisation. 

Not at all likely Unlikely Neither likely 
nor unlikely 

Likely Very likely 

     
 

Speaking to someone at another public sector organisation, e.g. Social Security 
Scotland  

Not at all likely Unlikely Neither likely 
nor unlikely 

Likely Very likely 

     
 

Going along to a drop in service in a building in my local community, for example 
a community centre or cafe, either with or without an appointment. 

Not at all likely Unlikely Neither likely 
nor unlikely 

Likely Very likely 

     
 

Through a contact centre run by my local authority, either in person or over the 
phone. 

Not at all likely Unlikely Neither likely 
nor unlikely 

Likely Very likely 

     
 

Contacting my local authority by email or through their website.  

Not at all likely Unlikely Neither likely 
nor unlikely 

Likely Very likely 

     
 

Using a website or online form that can be used by anyone in Scotland. 

Page 77



 26  

Not at all likely Unlikely Neither likely 
nor unlikely 

Likely Very likely 

     
 

Through a national helpline that I can contact 7 days a week. 

Not at all likely Unlikely Neither likely 
nor unlikely 

Likely Very likely 

     
 

Other – Please explain what option you would add. 

The Council would welcome the opportunity to engage in discussions about operational 
and process arrangements, once the fundamental issues of the scope, scale and 
funding of an NCS, and the consequential impact on local government, are clearer.  

 

 

Q4. How can we better co-ordinate care and support (indicate order of preference)?  
 

 Have a lead professional to coordinate care and support for each individual. 
The lead professional would co-ordinate all the professionals involved in the 
adult’s care and support. 

 Have a professional as a clear single point of contact for adults accessing care 
and support services. The single point of contact would be responsible for 
communicating with the adult receiving care and support on behalf of all the 
professionals involved in their care, but would not have as significant a role in 
coordinating their care and support.  

 Have community or voluntary sector organisations, based locally, which act as 
a single point of contact. These organisations would advocate on behalf of the 
adult accessing care and support and communicate with the professionals 
involved in their care on their behalf when needed.  

 

Support planning   

 

Q5. How should support planning take place in the National Care Service? For each of 
the elements below, please select to what extent you agree or disagree with each 
option: 

 
a. How you tell people about your support needs 

 

Page 78



 27  

Support planning should include the opportunity for me and/or my family and 
unpaid carers to contribute. 

Strongly 
Agree 

Agree Neither 
Agree/Disagree 

Disagree Strongly 
Disagree 

     
 

If I want to, I should be able to get support from a voluntary sector organisation or 
an organisation in my community, to help me set out what I want as part of my 
support planning.  

Strongly Agree Agree Neither 
Agree/Disagree 

Disagree Strongly 
Disagree 

     
 
b. What a support plan should focus on: 
 

Decisions about the support I get should be based on the judgement of the 
professional working with me, taking into account my views.  

Strongly Agree Agree Neither 
Agree/Disagree 

Disagree Strongly 
Disagree 

     
 

Decisions about the support I get should be focused on the tasks I need to carry 
out each day to be able to take care of myself and live a full life. 

Strongly 
Agree 

Agree Neither 
Agree/Disagree 

Disagree Strongly 
Disagree 

     
 

Decisions about the support I get should be focused on the outcomes I want to 
achieve to live a full life. 

Strongly 
Agree 

Agree Neither 
Agree/Disagree 

Disagree Strongly 
Disagree 

     
 

c. Whether the support planning process should be different, depending on the 
level of support you need: 

 
I should get a light-touch conversation if I need a little bit of support; or a more 
detailed conversation with a qualified social worker if my support needs are more 
complex. 

Page 79



 28  

Strongly Agree Agree Neither 
Agree/Disagree 

Disagree Strongly 
Disagree 

     
 

If I need a little bit of support, a light-touch conversation could be done by 
someone in the community such as a support worker or someone from a 
voluntary sector organisation. 

Strongly 
Agree 

Agree Neither 
Agree/Disagree 

Disagree Strongly 
Disagree 

     
 

However much support I need, the conversation should be the same. 

Strongly Agree Agree Neither 
Agree/Disagree 

Disagree Strongly 
Disagree 

     
 

Light touch and/or more detailed support planning should take place in another 
way – please say how below  

 

The Council would welcome the opportunity to engage in discussions about operational 
and process arrangements, once the fundamental issues of the scope, scale and 
funding of an NCS, and the consequential impact on local government, are clearer.  

 

 

Q6. The Getting It Right For Everyone National Practice model would use the same 
language across all services and professionals to describe and assess your 
strengths and needs. Do you agree or disagree with this approach?   

 
 Agree 

 Disagree 

Please say why.  

The current proposals do not outline why a National Care Service with the scope 
described is required in order to make the type of service improvements in approach 
and practice outlined above.  

The Council would welcome the opportunity to engage in discussions about operational 
and process arrangements, once the fundamental issues of the scope, scale and 
funding of an NCS, and the consequential impact on local government, are clearer.  

Page 80



 29  

Q7. The Getting It Right for Everyone National Practice model would be a single 
planning process involving everyone who is involved with your care and support, 
with a single plan that involves me in agreeing the support I require. This would be 
supported by an integrated social care and health record, so that my information 
moves through care and support services with me. Do you agree or disagree with 
this approach?    

 
 Agree 

 Disagree 

Please say why.  

The current proposals do not outline why a National Care Service with the scope 
described is required in order to make the type of service improvements in approach 
and practice outlined above.  There are no legal barriers to these improvements rather 
ones of culture, confidence and training.  

The Council would welcome the opportunity to engage in discussions about operational 
and process arrangements, once the fundamental issues of the scope, scale and 
funding of an NCS, and the consequential impact on local government, are clearer.  

 

 
Q8. Do you agree or disagree that a National Practice Model for adults would improve 

outcomes? 
 

 Agree 

 Disagree 

Please say why.  

Self-directed support is an example of a national approach which has been limited in its 
impact in improving outcomes for people, and the learning is applicable to these 
proposals.  

For self-directed support to be effective, more progress is needed to ensure that people 
are given the support that they need to take up the option of a personal budget to meet 
their needs in a way that best suits them. This has been challenging for a range of 
reasons, including the availability of options to support choice, where commissioning 
and market support play a key role.  

However, there is a tension between the proposals to introduce standards of care and 
consistency and the flexibility needed to deliver personalisation and the benefits of 
direct payments.  The Scottish Government has not laid out how it, and the newly 
formed NCS would be better placed to address the current tensions and barriers to fully 
realising the objectives of self-directed support or a general improvement to practice 
and outcomes. 

Page 81



 30  

 

Right to breaks from caring 
 
 
Q9. For each of the below, please choose which factor you consider is more important 

in establishing a right to breaks from caring. (Please select one option from each 
part. Where you see both factors as equally important, please select ‘no 
preference’.) 

 
Standardised support packages versus personalised support 

 Personalised support to 
meet need 

 Standardised levels of support No preference 

 
A right for all carers versus thresholds for accessing support 

 Universal right for all carers  Right only for those who meet 
qualifying thresholds 

 No preference 

 
Transparency and certainty versus responsiveness and flexibility 

 Certainty about 
entitlement 

 Flexibility and responsiveness  No preference 

 
Preventative support versus acute need 

 Provides preventative 
support 

 Meeting acute need  No preference  

 
Q10. Of the three groups, which would be your preferred approach? (Please select one 

option.)  
 

 Group A – Standard entitlements  

 Group B – Personalised entitlements 

 Group C – Hybrid approaches  

Please say why. 

The Council would welcome the opportunity to engage in discussions about operational 
and process arrangements, once the fundamental issues of the scope, scale and 
funding of an NCS, and the consequential impact on local government, are clearer.  

 

In addition, supporting carers through to breaks from caring is dependent on:  

Page 82



 31  

a) people having the information and support they need to consider options;  

b) the availability of options to support choice;  

c) adequate funding to support the delivery of duties, powers and rights;  

d) noting also that there is a tension between the proposals to introduce standards of 
care and consistency and the flexibility needed to deliver personalisation within very 
local markets.  

 

Using data to support care 

 
Q11. To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following statements?  

 
There should be a nationally-consistent, integrated and accessible electronic social care 
and health record. 

Strongly Agree Agree Neither 
Agree/Disagree 

Disagree Strongly 
Disagree 

   X  
 
Information about your health and care needs should be shared across the services that 
support you.  

Strongly Agree Agree Neither 
Agree/Disagree 

Disagree Strongly 
Disagree 

 X    
 

Q12. Should legislation be used to require all care services and other relevant parties to 
provide data as specified by a National Care Service, and include the requirement 
to meet common data standards and definitions for that data collection?  

 
 Yes 

 No 

Please say why. 

While it is recognised that a National Care Service will require data to achieve its 
functions, the existing legislative landscape enables proportionate and relevant data 
sharing.  Data protection law already provides legal gateways which ensure that 
personal data can be shared when appropriate, and without reliance on consent. The 
challenges experienced are often more related to inter and cross organisational culture 
and the confidence and training within organisations to fully utilise legislative 
frameworks.  

It is accepted that there can be some concerns over the legality of sharing personal 
data in certain contexts; however, in order to ensure public trust, it is recommended that 

Page 83



 32  

this be tackled through better communication and guidance to improve confidence and 
the development of a shared culture in this space rather than the use of legislation. 

On a practical level, prescriptive data collection would be complex to achieve given the 
number and variety of organisations involved. It may also cause organisation to collect 
data that they do not need, and a national record may then retain information longer 
than would otherwise be required creating tension and potential non-compliance with 
data protection legislation.  

There is also the potential for numerous data controllers to jointly control an individual 
record creating a confusing picture in terms of responsibilities over ‘the record’ and 
individual entries within it.  Numerous and varying access rights would require central 
administration. 

The creation of an over-arching record will also require consideration in terms of 
statutory responsibility and control. Should responsibilities for record-keeping be 
centralised to a single body, that same body will need to also become responsible for 
current and historic records held by organisations losing that responsibility, ensuring 
that these are then managed and made accessible according to the Public Records 
(Scotland) Act 2011, Data Protection Act 2018 and other legislation.  

Such a national recording system is likely to require extensive resource to ensure 
effective central administration, system support, and regulatory compliance. If a 
devolved record-keeping model is chosen instead, where different organisations retain 
responsibilities for their own records, it is hard to see how the National Care Service will 
be able to reduce the duplication of systems and create the integrated social and health 
care record that seems to be a key aim of the proposal. 

 

Q13. Are there alternative approaches that would address current gaps in social care 
data and information, and ensure a consistent approach for the flow of data and 
information across the National Care Service?  

 
Investment in better communications, guidance and/or codes of practice would 
consolidate a consistent approach to data collection and information flows without 
eroding individual rights and public trust. 

A more practical and less burdensome approach to support consistent and effective 
information flow and service user experience would be create a series of thematic but 
detailed good practice codes addressing record-keeping, data sharing, and rights to 
access information. 

Scottish Public Services Ombudsman (SPSO) already provides the priorities identified 
in the consultation and a model complaints handling system (including for social care 
services) and it is unclear what is likely to be achieved by introducing a new system 
specific to the national Care Service. Similarly, legislation already exists to facilitate 

Page 84



 33  

relevant and proportionate information sharing with regulators.  Further legislation in this 
area is not needed. 

 

Complaints and putting things right 
 

Q14. What elements would be most important in a new system for complaints about 
social care services? (Please select 3 options) 

 
 Charter of rights and responsibilities, so people know what they can expect 

 Single point of access for feedback and complaints about all parts of the 
system 

 Clear information about advocacy services and the right to a voice 

 Consistent model for handling complaints for all bodies 

 Addressing complaints initially with the body the complaint is about 

 Clear information about next steps if a complainant is not happy with the initial 
response 

 Other – please explain: 

The Scottish Public Services Ombudsman (SPSO) already provides the above noted 
priorities and it is unclear what is likely to be achieved by introducing a new system 
specific to the National Care Service. 

Q15. Should a model of complaints handling be underpinned by a commissioner for 
community health and care?  

 

  Yes 

  No 

Please say why. 

As above, the Scottish Public Services Ombudsman (SPSO) has already produced a 
model complaints handling procedure for a range of public services including social care 
services.  It would be sensible that a National Care Service be included within their 
remit to ensure a consistent approach to complaint handling across the public sector. 

 

 

Q16. Should a National Care Service use a measure of experience of those receiving 
care and support, their families and carers as a key outcome measure? 

 Yes 

 No 

Page 85



 34  

Please say why. 

The Council would welcome the opportunity to engage in discussions about how the 
outcomes achieved for individuals and their families can be assessed and evaluated,  
once the fundamental issues of the scope, scale and funding of an NCS, and the 
consequential impact on local government, are clearer.  

 
Residential Care Charges 

 
Q17. Most people have to pay for the costs of where they live such as mortgage 

payments or rent, property maintenance, food and utility bills. To ensure fairness 
between those who live in residential care and those who do not, should self-
funding care home residents have to contribute towards accommodation-based 
costs such as (please tick all that apply):  

 
 Rent 

 Maintenance 

 Furnishings 

 Utilities 

 Food costs 

 Food preparation 

 Equipment 

 Leisure and entertainment 

 Transport 

 Laundry 

 Cleaning 

 Other – what would that be 

It should be noted that the specific nature of local markets can vary the cost of these 
items. Edinburgh as a whole as a higher service cost  and a higher cost of living than 
other parts of Scotland.  

Where a national approach might be possible and have benefits still requires further 
detail and evidence to establish that delivering on those benefits requires a new national 
care service.  

The Council would welcome the opportunity to engage in discussions about 
charging/funding arrangements but it is unclear how a national arrangement could full 
resolve these issues.  

 

Page 86



 35  

Q18. Free personal and nursing care payment for self-funders are paid directly to the 
care provider on their behalf. What would be the impact of increasing personal and 
nursing care payments to National Care Home Contract rates on: 
 

Self-funders 

This would not address the nature and pressures inherent in the local market in 
Edinburgh with a high prevalence of affluent self funders and the private sector. Indeed, 
the NCHC rates, while helpful and evidence based, are often subject to local top up 
rates to reflect that market and the demand for care homes in Edinburgh.  

Again – if the proposal above were progressed, it could be delivered through COSLA 
and Local Government. 

Care home operators 

This would not address the nature and pressures inherent in the local market in 
Edinburgh with a high prevalence of affluent self funders and the private sector. Indeed, 
the NCHC rates, while helpful and evidence based, are often subject to local top up 
rates to reflect that market and the demand for care homes in Edinburgh.  

Local authorities 

This would not address the nature and pressures inherent in the local market in 
Edinburgh with a high prevalence of affluent self funders and the private sector. Indeed, 
the NCHC rates, while helpful and evidence based, are often subject to local top up 
rates to reflect that market and the demand for care homes in Edinburgh 

 

 

Q19. Should we consider revising the current means testing arrangements?  
 

 Yes 

 No 

If yes, what potential alternatives or changes should be considered?  

The Council would welcome the opportunity to engage in discussions about operational 
and process arrangements, once the fundamental issues of the scope and scale and 
funding of an NCS, and the consequential impact on local government, are clearer.  

The issued raised about the cost of care; whether it is free or not, can only be fully 
discussed if more detail is provided on how those costs would be met by the public 
purse. Whether this is through taxation, an assumption around efficiencies in a new 
national system, or some other means.  

Despite the best efforts and achievements of local government to protect and invest in 
social care, homelessness, children’s services, education, prevention and early 
intervention and wider wellbeing services, there is an overriding issue about sufficient 

Page 87



 36  

public money to support these services. The consultation has noted that additionality 
and improvements to social care and social work would cost at least £800m. Providing 
this level of financial investment and certainty for financial planning would drive 
immediate improvements to people’s outcomes.  

 

 

National Care Service 

 
Q20. Do you agree that Scottish Ministers should be accountable for the delivery of 

social care, through a National Care Service? 
 

 Yes 

 No, current arrangements should stay in place 

 No, another approach should be taken (please give details) 

The Council supports the principles for improving social and social work articulated by 
the Feeley Review, recognises the challenges in achieving these improvements and 
believes that there are some key opportunities for service and outcome improvements 
through greater national collaboration. 

However, we believe that the Scottish Government has not yet laid out what issues a 
national care service as proposed in the consultation would resolve. What options have 
been assessed and what evidence there is that structural change of this nature is the 
best means of resolving these issues or delivering on improvement opportunities.  

The consultation also hasn’t laid out how accountability to Scottish Ministers would be 
achieved in practice nor how this would ensure greater service level accountability to 
those receiving care.  

The ambiguity in the proposals being put forward for consultation make a meaningful 
consultation with stakeholders difficult and the Council asks the Scottish Government to 
carry out a further phase of consultation once it is able to lay out sufficiently detailed 
material and an options appraisal for consideration by service users, stakeholders, 
providers and statutory partners.  

When considering the benefit, opportunities and risks of the Scottish Government 
proposals, consideration should be given from the learning and experience of recent 
centralisation of services and the establishment of national bodies such as Fire, Police, 
Criminal Justice, Integration and Public Health. Please see the Council’s additional 
response paper for further details. 

A key area of ambiguity in relation to accountability and governance relates to the 
suggestion that local government will retain a role as a social care service provider 
within the social care market and under a national service model of commissioning. In 

Page 88



 37  

order to take a view on this, Councils would need to be clear on whether the 
government is proposing: a) removing the service; b) duties relating to the service; c) 
governance and accountability for service delivery; d) associated service budgets and; 
e) the relevant workforce or, whether some hybrid of the above is intended.  

Where accountability and governance should best be aligned depends upon the answer 
to questions of this nature. A decision or a view cannot be taken in the abstract. 
However, breaking the link between local service delivery and local accountability is not 
desirable from a local government perspective and nor is there evidence to suggest that 
it will improve outcomes.  

Please see our detailed additional response paper for the full set of questions and 
further details of our concerns.  

 

Q21. Are there any other services or functions the National Care Service should be 
responsible for, in addition to those set out in the chapter? 

 
There is a role for the NCS in providing a national overview for improvement planning, 
workforce planning, consistency around data gathering and ensuring that improvements 
identified from inspections are collated with improvement support targeted as 
necessary.  

However, these improvements could be achieved without structural reform – dependent 
upon the resourcing context.  

Q22. Are there any services or functions listed in the chapter that the National Care 
Service should not be responsible for? 
 

Children’s Services (see response to Q23) and Justice (Q37).   

Homelessness services are also noted as potentially in scope for the new services 
although no information as to the scale or rational for its inclusion has been given. 

Councils have made considerable progress in addressing homelessness through their 
Rapid Rehousing Transition Plans, and Edinburgh has introduced effective models of 
prevention and early intervention in collaboration with a range of local partners. 

The local context is crucial in shaping the demand and the type of response needed to 
support those who find themselves homeless or at risk of being homeless. Edinburgh’s 
housing market is shaped by its uniquely high cost of renting or buying homes, with a 
large private rented sector and the lowest proportion of social rented homes in the 
country.  

This means that often, significant numbers of people presenting as homeless are 
struggling with affordability and debt alongside those who have significant and complex 
social care and support service needs.  

Page 89



 38  

In the majority of cases, a close working relationship between homelessness services, 
housing development and support services, advice, debt and benefit support are 
needed to meet homelessness duties. As such, inclusion of homelessness in the scope 
of the new body would not be supported. 

However, for those with significant health and social care support needs, there may be 
some benefit in establishing a strengthened approach which offers additional eligibility, 
entitlements and access to services. The Council would be keen to engage on this type 
of additionality within the reform proposals. 

 

Scope of the National Care Service  

Children’s services 
 

Q23. Should the National Care Service include both adults and children’s social work 
and social care services?  

  
 Yes  

 No  

Please say why.  

 
The Council notes that children, young people and their families have not been 
consulted directly on the proposals for service redesign and that wider impact 
assessment including those relating to communities with protected characteristics have 
not been undertaken.  

Reform of these services needs to be based on evidence of how it will improve services 
and outcomes for young people.   

The published proposals do not consider or describe the interplay between children’s 
services and education. Councils have previously taken the view that the benefit of 
having children’s services and social work closely aligned with local education provision 
is critically important to child protection, general wellbeing and the improvement of 
educational attainment. There is a significant risk that reforms which separate children’s 
services and social work from local education would create new silos and barriers to 
collaboration which would adversely impact Edinburgh’s children and their families. 

In addition, audits conducted into child protection incidents or incidents involving 
vulnerable adults nearly always point to a break down in local relationships, trust and 
information sharing as a major contributing factor to increased risk and harmful 
incidents. Further disruption to service provision and capacity resulting from structural 
reform, following on from the impact of responding to a global pandemic could not only 
undermine the local ability to positively contribute to children’s outcomes but also 
present an increased local risk to child protection. 

Page 90



 39  

Given that the Scottish Government has not described how inclusion into a national 
body would meaningfully improve outcomes for children and noting the absence of 
evidence to support this move and the potential increase in risk to services should 
reform go ahead, the City of Edinburgh Council believes that children services should 
be out of scope of the new body. 

Q24. Do you think that locating children’s social work and social care services within the 
National Care Service will reduce complexity for children and their families in 
accessing services?  

 
For children with disabilities, 

 Yes 

 No  

Please say why. 

See response to Q23 

 
For transitions to adulthood 

 Yes 

 No  

Please say why.  

See response to Q23 – many of the challenges for transitioning services – for example 
for disabled young people, reflect the absence of services within the adult market. 
A national look at complex specialist provision and how it is supported to develop 
and ease transitions would be welcome.  

For children with family members needing support 

 Yes 

 No  

Please say why.  

See response to Q23 

 

Q25. Do you think that locating children’s social work services within the National Care 
Service will improve alignment with community child health services including 
primary care, and paediatric health services?  

 
 Yes 

  No 

Please say why. 

Page 91



 40  

See response to Q23 

 

Q26. Do you think there are any risks in including children’s services in the National 
Care Service?  

 
 Yes 

 No  

If yes, please give examples 

See response Q23. 

 

Healthcare 
 
Q27. Do you agree that the National Care Service and at a local level, Community 

Health and Social Care Boards should commission, procure and manage 
community health care services which are currently delegated to Integration Joint 
Boards and provided through Health Boards?  

 
 Yes 

 No 

Please say why.  

As above, the consultation does not provide sufficient detail to allow meaningfully 
responses to be made or for this process to be considered as having fulfilled 
requirements to consult on reform of this nature and scale. The consultation does not 
articulate how or why the proposals for change would be able to improve on and 
overcome the challenges currently faced by the IJB.  

Integration is also relatively new as a structure and we should invest in improving the 
effectiveness of IJBs rather than introducing more change and restructuring. The 
Council believes that improvement is possible within the existing framework with local 
leadership, expertise and the right financial. The Council is committed to ensuring a shift 
in the balance of care.  

 

Q28. If the National Care Service and Community Health and Social Care Boards take 
responsibility for planning, commissioning and procurement of community health 
services, how could they support better integration with hospital-based care 
services?  

 
While recognising that better integration with hospital-based care services is crucial, see 
response to Q27 above – further details of the proposals are required. 

Page 92



 41  

It is unclear as to what the new proposed system would be seeking to do differently that 
cannot be achieved with the appropriate support and funding framework within a 
renewed local system. 

 

 

Q29. What would be the benefits of Community Health and Social Care Boards 
managing GPs’ contractual arrangements? (Please tick all that apply) 

 
 Better integration of health and social care 

 Better outcomes for people using health and care services 

 Clearer leadership and accountability arrangements 

 Improved multidisciplinary team working 

 Improved professional and clinical care governance arrangements 

 Other (please explain below) 

Please see response to Qs 2 and 27.  

Q30. What would be the risks of Community Health and Social Care Boards managing 
GPs’ contractual arrangements? (Please tick all that apply) 

 
 Fragmentation of health services 

 Poorer outcomes for people using health and care services 

 Unclear leadership and accountability arrangements 

 Poorer professional and clinical care governance arrangements 

 Other (please explain below) 

Please see response to Qs 2 and 27.  

 
Q31. Are there any other ways of managing community health services that would 

provide better integration with social care? 
 

Please see response to Q 27.  

 

Social Work and Social Care 
 

Q32. What do you see as the main benefits in having social work planning, assessment, 
commissioning and accountability located within the National Care Service? 
(Please tick all that apply.) 

 

Page 93



 42  

 Better outcomes for service users and their families. 

 More consistent delivery of services. 

 Stronger leadership. 

 More effective use of resources to carry out statutory duties. 

 More effective use of resources to carry out therapeutic interventions and 
preventative services. 

 Access to learning and development and career progression. 

 Other benefits or opportunities, please explain below: 

Please see answers to Q2, specifically: 

The consultation does not describe the form and function of the new care service in 
sufficient detail to allow meaningfully responses to be made or for this process to be 
considered as having fulfilled requirements to consult on reform of this nature and scale. 

And: 

If Edinburgh based social work and social care were to receive an uplift from the £800m 
additionality identified in the consultation to extend eligibility, accessibility, support, pay 
and employment standards then significant transformative action could be achieved 
immediately within the city. This could be delivered without a loss in capacity and the 
general upheaval and disruption associated with structural change. 

As noted above (Q21) there is a role for the NCS in providing a national overview for 
improvement planning, workforce planning, consistency around data gathering and 
ensuring that improvements identified from inspections are collated with improvement 
support targeted as necessary.  

Given that the consultation has not described a system approach to accountability or 
governance, it is difficult to respond with views as to whether these could offer an 
improvement. 

In addition, the proposal is unclear as to how the new body would contribute to and be 
accountable for wider government goals around, wellbeing, poverty, prevention and 
public health outcomes.  

 

 

Q33. Do you see any risks in having social work planning, assessment, commissioning 
and accountability located within the National Care Service? 

 

Divorcing services targeting some of our most vulnerable resident from local democratic 
accountability is not desirable and there is no evidence to suggest that communities and 
citizens themselves are empowered more and have greater recourse to action in the 
face of a complaint about local service delivery within a nationalised service.  

Page 94



 43  

In addition, the Council’s experience is that the market is fragmented and locally based, 
with the majority of social care provision being delivered by SMEs and the third sector. 
Further, and more importantly in terms of service delivery, there is a real risk that such a 
national approach would detract from the collaborative locality networks which local 
authorities, including the Council, have been developing with key partners over years. 

Further details are given in our additional response paper. 

 

Nursing 

Q34. Should Executive Directors of Nursing have a leadership role for assuring that the 
safety and quality of care provided in social care is consistent and to the 
appropriate standard?  Please select one. 
 

 Yes  

 No 

 Yes, but only in care homes 

 Yes, in adult care homes and care at home  

Please say why 

The Council would welcome the opportunity to engage in discussions about ensuring 
safety and quality, once the fundamental issues of the scope, scale and funding of an 
NCS, and the consequential impact on local government, are clearer.  

 

Q35. Should the National Care Service be responsible for overseeing and ensuring 
consistency of access to education and professional development of social care 
nursing staff, standards of care and governance of nursing? Please select one. 
 

 Yes 

 No, it should be the responsibility of the NHS 

 No, it should be the responsibility of the care provider 

Please say why 

See answer to Q34. 

 
 

Q36. If Community Health and Social Care Boards are created to include community 
health care, should Executive Nurse Directors have a role within the Community 
Health and Social Care Boards with accountability to the National Care Service for 
health and social care nursing? 

 

Page 95



 44  

 Yes 

 No 

If no, please suggest alternatives 

See answer to Q34. 

 

Justice Social Work  

Q37. Do you think justice social work services should become part of the National Care 
Service (along with social work more broadly)? 

 

 Yes 

 No 

Please say why.  

The CJ community has already, and relatively recently, undergone a period of reform - 
from the establishment of Community Justice Authorities to the establishment of 
Criminal Justice Scotland.  

The case for reform and uncertainty when the service is facing particular challenges in 
COVID-19 recovery and expect high volumes of work from the courts over the next 
three years has not been made within the consultation. 

Again structural change without additional resources will see no change in the level and 
quality of services offered to our citizens. There needs to be a shift in the amount 
invested in community disposals rather than prisons.  If the additional resources implied 
in this proposal were to be made available to Local Government, it could be 
transformative for the criminal justice service and outcomes for offenders. 

In addition, the evidence is clear that better access to welfare, housing, and 
employability assistance, as well as health care, have an important role in reducing or 
even preventing offending. Similarly, the shift away from short prison sentences needs 
effective, evidence-based community interventions. All of which call for local 
approaches. 

The consultation hasn’t explored how these proposals fit in to the system of 
organisations and governance currently established ie, what would the relationship be 
between Criminal Justice Scotland and the new body. 

 

 

Q38. If yes, should this happen at the same time as all other social work services or 
should justice social work be incorporated into the National Care Service at a later 
stage? 

 

Page 96



 45  

 At the same time 

 At a later stage 

Please say why.  

See response to Q37. 

 
Q39. What opportunities and benefits do you think could come from justice social work 

being part of the National Care Service? (Tick all that apply) 
 

 More consistent delivery of justice social work services 

 Stronger leadership of justice social work 

 Better outcomes for service users 

 More efficient use of resources 

 Other opportunities or benefits - please explain 

See response to Q37. 

 

Q40. What risks or challenges do you think could come from justice social work being 
part of the National Care Service? (Tick all that apply) 

 

 Poorer delivery of justice social work services. 

 Weaker leadership of justice social work. 

 Worse outcomes for service users. 

 Less efficient use of resources. 

 Other risks or challenges - please explain: 

See response to Q37. 

 

Q41. Do you think any of the following alternative reforms should be explored to improve 
the delivery of community justice services in Scotland? (Tick all that apply) 

 

 Maintaining the current structure (with local authorities having responsibility for 
delivery of community justice services) but improving the availability and 
consistency of services across Scotland. 

 Establishing a national justice social work service/agency with responsibility for 
delivery of community justice services. 

Page 97



 46  

 Adopting a hybrid model comprising a national justice social work service with 
regional/local offices having some delegated responsibility for delivery. 

 Retaining local authority responsibility for the delivery of community justice 
services, but establishing a body under local authority control to ensure 
consistency of approach and availability across Scotland. 

 Establishing a national body that focuses on prevention of offending (including 
through exploring the adoption of a public health approach). 

 No reforms at all. 

 Another reform – please explain: 

See response to Q37. 

 

Q42. Should community justice partnerships be aligned under Community Health and 
Social Care Boards (as reformed by the National Care Service) on a consistent 
basis?  
 

 Yes 

 No  

Please say why. 

 See response to Q37. 

 

Prisons  

Q43. Do you think that giving the National Care Service responsibility for social care 
services in prisons would improve outcomes for people in custody and those being 
released? 

 

 Yes  

 No  

Please say why. 

See response to Q37. 

Q44. Do you think that access to care and support in prisons should focus on an 
outcomes-based model as we propose for people in the community, while taking 
account of the complexities of providing support in prison? 
 

 Yes 

 No 

Please say why. 

Page 98



 47  

See response to Q37. 

 

Alcohol and Drug Services 

 

Q45. What are the benefits of planning services through Alcohol and Drug 
Partnerships? (Tick all that apply) 
 

 Better co-ordination of Alcohol and Drug services  

 Stronger leadership of Alcohol and Drug services 

 Better outcomes for service users  

 More efficient use of resources 

 Other opportunities or benefits - please explain  

These services are current delegated to IJBs. As with other aspects of the existing 
arrangements, please see response to Q27.   

 

Q46. What are the drawbacks of Alcohol and Drug Partnerships? (Tick all that apply) 
 

 Confused leadership and accountability  

 Poor outcomes for service users  

 Less efficient use of resources 

 Other drawbacks - please explain  

Please see response to Q27.  

 

Q47. Should the responsibilities of Alcohol and Drug Partnerships be integrated into the 
work of Community Health and Social Care Boards?  
 

 Yes  

 No  

Please say why.  

Please see response to Q27.  

 

Q48. Are there other ways that Alcohol and Drug services could be managed to provide 
better outcomes for people?  
 

Page 99



 48  

Please see response to Q27.  

 

Q49. Could residential rehabilitation services be better delivered through national 
commissioning?  
 

 Yes  

 No  

Please say why.  

Please see response to Q27.  

 

Q50. What other specialist alcohol and drug services should/could be delivered through 
national commissioning? 
 

Please see response to Q27.  

 
Q51. Are there other ways that alcohol and drug services could be planned and 

delivered to ensure that the rights of people with problematic substance use 
(alcohol or drugs) to access treatment, care and support are effectively 
implemented in services?  
 

Please see response to Q27.  

 

Mental Health Services 

 

Q52. What elements of mental health care should be delivered from within a National 
Care Service? (Tick all that apply) 
 

 Primary mental health services 

 Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services 

 Community mental health teams 

 Crisis services 

 Mental health officers 

 Mental health link workers 

 Other – please explain 

We agree with recommendation 20 of the Feeley review, that improvements in the 
consistency, quality and equity of care and support experienced by service users, their 

Page 100



 49  

families and carers, and improvements in the conditions of employment, training and 
development of the workforce are key.  

Investment and development of the mental health offer to children, young people and 
adults also needs to be made. 

However, the proposed solution of delivering aspects within a National Care Service is 
not clear as to how this would drive improvements that could not be achieved through 
local reform and investment. As noted in Q2, a significant uplift in funding at a local 
authority level could bring significant improvements without the disruption of structural 
change. 

 

 

Q53. How should we ensure that whatever mental health care elements are in a 
National Care Service link effectively to other services e.g. NHS services? 
 

See response to Q52 

 

National Social Work Agency 

Q54. What benefits do you think there would be in establishing a National Social Work 
Agency? (Tick all that apply) 
 

 Raising the status of social work 

 Improving training and continuous professional development 

 Supporting workforce planning 

 Other – please explain 

The Council shares the Scottish Government’s commitment to ensuring that social care 
and social work services are highly valued.  

As noted above, a national framework approach has the potential to bring benefits to 
with workforce, supporting its long-term sustainability and attraction as a positive career 
choice. 

In principle, there is the potential for the benefits listed above. However, the consultation 
document does not provide enough information on the role of NSWA to support a 
judgement about the more detailed questions below.   

The Council would welcome the opportunity to engage in discussions about the 
potential role and arrangements for a National Social Work Agency once the 
fundamental issues of the scope, scale and funding of an NCS, and the consequential 
impact on local government, are clearer.  

 

Page 101



 50  

 

Q55. Do you think there would be any risks in establishing a National Social Work 
Agency? 
 

As noted earlier, the proposals for an NCS create immediate workforce implications and 
risks to the service. The risk that substantive numbers within the social care and social 
work profession will take the prospect of change at this magnitude and at this point in 
time as impetus to leave or retire is significant. 

 

Q56. Do you think a National Social Work Agency should be part of the National Care 
Service?  
 

 Yes 

 No  

Please say why 

See response to Q54 

Q57. Which of the following do you think that a National Social Work Agency should 
have a role in leading on? (Tick all that apply) 
 

 Social work education, including practice learning 

 National framework for learning and professional development, including 
advanced practice 

 Setting a national approach to terms and conditions, including pay 

 Workforce planning 

 Social work improvement 

 A centre of excellence for applied research for social work 

 Other – please explain 

 See response to Q54 

 
Reformed Integration Joint Boards: Community Health and Social 
Care Boards 
 

Governance model 

Q58. “One model of integration… should be used throughout the country.” (Independent 
Review of Adult Social Care, p43). Do you agree that the Community Health and 
Social Care Boards should be the sole model for local delivery of community 
health and social care in Scotland?  

Page 102

https://www.gov.scot/publications/independent-review-adult-social-care-scotland/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/independent-review-adult-social-care-scotland/


 51  

 
 Yes 

 No 

Please say why.  

The Council recognises that despite local progress on integration, there remains a need 
to improve the framework of services in place to meet people’s social care needs. A 
large part of the local challenge relates to pressures arising from the mismatch between 
the level of demand and the resources available to meet needs and an inability to 
substantively deliver a shift in the balance of care. 

The consultation does not articulate how or why the proposals for change would be able 
to improve on and overcome the challenges currently faced by the IJB. Integration is 
also relatively new as a structure and we should invest in improving the effectiveness of 
IJBs rather than introducing more change and restructuring. The Council believes that 
improvement is possible within the existing framework with local leadership, expertise 
and the right financial framework. 

When considering the benefit, opportunities and risks of the Scottish Government 
proposals, consideration should be given from the learning and experience of recent 
centralisation of services and the establishment of national bodies such as Fire, Police, 
Criminal Justice, Integration and Public Health. Please see the Council’s additional 
response paper for further details. 

The governance within the consultation is loosely described, with a lack of clarity on the 
form, duties and responsibilities and how the system would work as a whole and 
integrate with partners. It is not clear how duties relating to the services that are in 
scope would be disaggregated from current legislation and allocated to the new body.  
What is suggested does not immediately look simpler or less bureaucratic and it is 
unclear as to whether the proposals are seeking to lay out a governance system as part 
of the wider system of public service delivery or a means of achieving national control of 
social care. The lack of detail means it is difficult to comment on any specifics.  

Please see the Council’s supplementary paper (paragraph 33) for details of the aspects 
of governance which we believe need to be addressed to support further consideration 
of the proposals.   

Q59. Do you agree that the Community Health and Social Care Boards should be 
aligned with local authority boundaries unless agreed otherwise at local level?  
 

 Yes 

 No 

 

Q60. What (if any) alternative alignments could improve things for service users?  
 

Page 103



 52  

There is insufficient detail to consult on Q59 and Q60 . Please see response to Q57. 

 

 
Q61. Would the change to Community Health and Social Care Boards have any impact 

on the work of Adult Protection Committees?  
 

There is insufficient detail to consult on this question. Please see response to Q57. The 
Council would welcome the opportunity to engage in further discussions once these 
details are available.  

Membership of Community Health and Social Care Boards 

 
Q62. The Community Health and Social Care Boards will have members that will 

represent the local population, including people with lived and living experience 
and carers, and will include professional group representatives as well as local 
elected members. Who else should be represented on the Community Health and 
Social Care Boards?  
 

Please see our additional detailed response paper which sets out a number of 
questions and concerns about the proposed arrangements on democratic 
accountability.  

Local democratic accountability is not achieved through the membership of a small 
number of Councillors on a Board or Partnership. Divorcing services targeting some of 
our most vulnerable resident from local democratic accountability is not desirable and 
may have weaken local democracy.  

In addition, there is no evidence to suggest that communities and citizens themselves 
are empowered more and have greater recourse to action in the face of a complaint 
about local service delivery within a nationalised service. 

 

Q63. “Every member of the Integration Joint Board should have a vote” (Independent 
Review of Adult Social Care, p52). Should all Community Health and Social Care 
Boards members have voting rights?  
 

 Yes 

 No 

 

Q64. Are there other changes that should be made to the membership of Community 
Health and Social Care Boards to improve the experience of service users?  

 

 

Page 104

https://www.gov.scot/publications/independent-review-adult-social-care-scotland/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/independent-review-adult-social-care-scotland/


 53  

Please see response to Q 61 and our additional detailed response paper.  

 

Community Health and Social Care Boards as employers 

 

Q65. Should Community Health and Social Care Boards employ Chief Officers and their 
strategic planning staff directly?  
 

 Yes 

 No 

 

Q66. Are there any other staff the Community Health and Social Care Boards should 
employ directly? Please explain your reasons. 
 

As noted above in earlier responses, there are a number of fundamental aspects of the 
proposals which are unclear. The Council would welcome the opportunity to engage in 
further discussions once these details are available.  

Commissioning of services 
 
 
Structure of Standards and Processes 
 
Q67. Do you agree that the National Care Service should be responsible for the 

development of a Structure of Standards and Processes 
 

 Yes 

 No 

 

If no, who should be responsible for this? 

 Community Health and Social Care Boards 

 Scotland Excel 

 Scottish Government Procurement  

 NHS National Procurement 

 A framework of standards and processes is not needed 

 
Q68. Do you think this Structure of Standards and Processes will help to provide 

services that support people to meet their individual outcomes? 
 

Page 105



 54  

 Yes 

 No 

 
Q69. Do you think this Structure of Standards and Processes will contribute to better 

outcomes for social care staff? 
 

 Yes 

 No 

 
Q70. Would you remove or include anything else in the Structure of Standards and 

Processes?  
The IRASC found that in the commissioning of services, budget constraints, and a focus 
on price, lead to poor outcomes for people who use services and negatively impacts on 
the level of provision. The IRASC also does not fully address the issue of profit within 
local markets.  

As noted above, if Edinburgh based social work and social care were to receive an uplift 
of £80m to extend eligibility, accessibility, support, pay and employment standards then 
significant transformative action could be achieved immediately within the city. This 
could be delivered without a loss in capacity and the general upheaval and disruption 
associated with structural change. 

  

Market research and analysis 

Q71. Do you agree that the National Care Service should be responsible for market 
research and analysis? 
 

 Yes 

 No 

 

If no, who should be responsible for this? 

 Community Health and Social Care Boards 

 Care Inspectorate 

 Scottish Social Services Council 

 NHS National Procurement 

 Scotland Excel 

 No one 

 Other- please comment 

Page 106



 55  

Please see response to Q69. 

 

 
National commissioning and procurement services 
 
Q72. Do you agree that there will be direct benefits for people in moving the complex 

and specialist services as set out to national contracts managed by the National 
Care Service?  
 

 Yes 

 No 

 

If no, who should be responsible for this? 

 Community Health and Social Care Boards 

 NHS National Procurement 

 Scotland Excel 

 
Regulation 
 
Core principles for regulation and scrutiny 
 
Q73. Is there anything you would add to the proposed core principles for regulation and 

scrutiny?  
 

N/A 

 

Q74. Are there any principles you would remove?  
 

See response to Q72. 

 

Q75. Are there any other changes you would make to these principles? 
 

See response to Q72. 

 

Strengthening regulation and scrutiny of care services 
 

Page 107



 56  

Q76. Do you agree with the proposals outlined for additional powers for the regulator in 
respect of condition notices, improvement notices and cancellation of social care 
services?  
 

 Yes 

 No  

 Please say why.  

See response to Q72 above re the location of a regulatory function. 

We would agree that there is a case to strengthen current responses and that the 
proposals are reasonable. 

 

 

Q77. Are there any additional enforcement powers that the regulator requires to 
effectively enforce standards in social care?  
 

No. The effectiveness of additional powers described should be monitored and further 
powers considered if ongoing concerns remain. 

 
Market oversight function 
 

Q78. Do you agree that the regulator should develop a market oversight function? 
  

 Yes 

 No 

 

Q79. Should a market oversight function apply only to large providers of care, or to all? 
 

 Large providers only  

 All providers 

 

Q80. Should social care service providers have a legal duty to provide certain 
information to the regulator to support the market oversight function?  
 

 Yes 

 No 

 

Page 108



 57  

Q81. If the regulator were to have a market oversight function, should it have formal 
enforcement powers associated with this?  
 

 Yes  

 No 

 

Q82. Should the regulator be empowered to inspect providers of social care as a whole, 
as well as specific social care services? 
 

 Yes  

 No 

Please say why 
We agree that a strong market oversight function would help to address the risks of 
market failures.  

Scotland Excel’s role and experience in this area should be considered.  

 

Enhanced powers for regulating care workers and professional standards 

Q83. Would the regulator’s role be improved by strengthening the codes of practice to 
compel employers to adhere to the codes of practice, and to implement sanctions 
resulting from fitness to practise hearings?  
 

The quality and effectiveness of support for vulnerable people is the priority for all 
stakeholders. We agree that standards and codes of practice should be enforceable. 

 

 

Q84. Do you agree that stakeholders should legally be required to provide information to 
the regulator to support their fitness to practise investigations? 
 

Yes. 

 

 

Q85. How could regulatory bodies work better together to share information and work 
jointly to raise standards in services and the workforce?  
 

Existing arrangements enable fair, lawful and transparent data sharing which balances 
the rights of all involved. Clarity of relative roles and responsibilities is crucial.  

 

Page 109



 58  

Q86. What other groups of care worker should be considered to register with the 
regulator to widen the public protection of vulnerable groups? 
 

Further consideration is needed of the merits and risks of including all groups, with an 
impact assessment conducted as part of the evidence gathering process to support 
decision making – this is particularly relevant for personal assistants. 

Valuing people who work in social care 
 

Fair Work 
 

Q87. Do you think a ‘Fair Work Accreditation Scheme” would encourage providers to 
improve social care workforce terms and conditions? 
 

 Yes 

 No 

Please say why. 

The development and promotion of Fair Work First in delivering procurement in the 
public sector is a welcome move.  

The proposals to improve fair work practices across the social care sector, including 
providing funding to increase the number of social care workers receiving the Real 
Living Wage, are welcome. There is a body of evidence that demonstrates the 
importance of earning a Real Living Wage to tackle in-work poverty – a common 
experience for many people working in this sector.  

The Fair Work Convention Social Care report, published in 2019, for example, 
highlighted significant failings within the sector including the widespread use of 
precarious zero hour contracts. While a reserved matter, the Scottish Government has 
an opportunity to build on the principles of the Fair Work Convention and the 
recommendations of the Feeley Review to underpin an effective fair work regime into 
the National Care Service.  

The current market driven environment of social care too often focuses on the needs of 
balancing finances rather than the needs of service users resulting in the 
commissioning process being inconsistent with a fair work agenda. Accordingly, Fair 
Work First is a positive first step in ensuring that public money is spent in a fair and 
transparent way and that all commissioning and procurement activities are delivered 
through a person-centred, human rights based approach.  

 

 

Page 110



 59  

Q88. What do you think would make social care workers feel more valued in their role? 
(Please rank as many as you want of the following in order of importance, e.g. 1, 
2, 3…) 

 

1 Improved pay 

1 Improved terms and conditions, including issues such as improvements to 
sick pay, annual leave, maternity/paternity pay, pensions, and 
development/learning time 

2 Removal of zero hour contracts where these are not desired 

4 More publicity/visibility about the value social care workers add to society 

4 Effective voice/collective bargaining 

3 Better access to training and development opportunities 

3 Increased awareness of, and opportunity to, complete formal accreditation 
and qualifications  

3 Clearer information on options for career progression  

 Consistent job roles and expectations 

3 Progression linked to training and development 

3 Better access to information about matters that affect the workforce or 
people who access support 

 Minimum entry level qualifications 

 Registration of the personal assistant workforce  

 Other (please say below what these could be) 

 

Please explain suggestions for the “Other” option in the below box 

 

 

 

 

Page 111



 60  

Q89. How could additional responsibility at senior/managerial levels be better 
recognised? (Please rank the following in order of importance, e.g. 1, 2, 3…): 

 

1 Improved pay 

1 Improved terms and conditions 

2 Improving access to training and development opportunities to support 
people in this role (for example time, to complete these) 

2 Increasing awareness of, and opportunity to complete formal accreditation 
and qualifications to support people in this role  

 Other (please explain) 

 

Please explain suggestions for the “Other” option in the below box 

 

 

 

 

Q90. Should the National Care Service establish a national forum with workforce 
representation, employers, Community Health and Social Care Boards to advise it 
on workforce priorities, terms and conditions and collective bargaining? 

 

 Yes 

 No 

Please say why or offer alternative suggestions 

As noted above in earlier responses, there are a number of fundamental aspects of the 
proposals for an NCS which are unclear. The Council would welcome the opportunity to 
engage in further discussions once these details are available.  

Workforce planning 
 

Q91. What would make it easier to plan for workforce across the social care sector?  
(Please tick all that apply.) 
 

 A national approach to workforce planning 

 Consistent use of an agreed workforce planning methodology 

Page 112



 61  

 An agreed national data set 

 National workforce planning tool(s) 

 A national workforce planning framework 

 Development and introduction of specific workforce planning capacity 

 Workforce planning skills development for relevant staff in social care 

 Something else (please explain below) 

It is unclear what workforce(s) are in scope and what being in scope would mean.  

However, workforce is one area where a more national framework would potentially 
benefit the service and its long term sustainability and attraction as a positive career 
choice. Harmonisation of pay and fair work principles, improved training and career 
pathways, and improved workforce planning could benefit from national collaboration 
and consistency. The national framework for teachers offers a potential model for 
improvements which could be implemented relatively quickly and without the need for 
structural reform. 

 

Training and Development 

Q92. Do you agree that the National Care Service should set training and development 
requirements for the social care workforce? 
 

 Yes 

 No 

Please say why 

As noted above in earlier responses, there are a number of fundamental aspects of the 
proposals for an NCS which are unclear. The Council would welcome the opportunity to 
engage in further discussions once these details are available.  

Q93. Do you agree that the National Care Service should be able to provide and or 
secure the provision of training and development for the social care workforce? 
 

 Yes 

 No 

 

Personal Assistants 

Q94. Do you agree that all personal assistants should be required to register centrally 
moving forward? 
 

 Yes 

Page 113



 62  

 No 

Please say why.  

See response to Q85.  

 

Q95. What types of additional support might be helpful to personal assistants and 
people considering employing personal assistants? (Please tick all that apply) 
 

 National minimum employment standards for the personal assistant employer 

 Promotion of the profession of social care personal assistants 

 Regional Networks of banks matching personal assistants and available work 

 Career progression pathway for personal assistants 

 Recognition of the personal assistant profession as part of the social care 
workforce and for their voice to be part of any eventual national forum to 
advise the National Care Service on workforce priorities 

 A free national self-directed support advice helpline 

 The provision of resilient payroll services to support the personal assistant’s 
employer as part of their Self-directed Support Option 1 package 

 Other (please explain) 

See response to Q93 

 

Q96. Should personal assistants be able to access a range of training and development 
opportunities of which a minimum level would be mandatory?  

 

 Yes 

 No 

  

Page 114



 63  

2. NHS Lothian Response   

 
 
 
A National Care Service for Scotland - Consultation 
 
RESPONDENT INFORMATION FORM 
 
Please Note this form must be completed and returned with your response. 

To find out how we handle your personal data, please see our privacy policy: 
https://www.gov.scot/privacy/ 
 
Are you responding as an individual or an organisation?  

 Individual 

X Organisation 

Full name or organisation’s name 

Phone number  

Address  

 

Postcode  
 
 
Email 

 
The Scottish Government would like your  
permission to publish your consultation  
response. Please indicate your publishing  
preference: 
 
X Publish response with name 

 Publish response only (without name)  

 Do not publish response 

Lothian Health Board 

Waverley Gate, 2-4 Waterloo Place, Edinburgh 

Switchboard – 0131 242 1000 

EH1 3EG 

ChiefExecutive@nhslothian.scot.nhs.uk 

Information for organisations: 

The option 'Publish response only (without name)’ is 
available for individual respondents only. If this 
option is selected, the organisation name will still be 
published.  

If you choose the option 'Do not publish response', 
your organisation name may still be listed as having 
responded to the consultation in, for example, the 
analysis report. 

 

Page 115

https://www.gov.scot/privacy/


 64  

We will share your response internally with other Scottish Government policy teams 
who may be addressing the issues you discuss. They may wish to contact you again in 
the future, but we require your permission to do so. Are you content for Scottish 
Government to contact you again in relation to this consultation exercise? 

X Yes 

 No 

 
Individuals - Your experience of social care and support 
If you are responding as an individual, it would be helpful for us to understand what 
experience you have of social care and support. Everyone’s views are important, and it 
will be important for us to understand whether different groups have different views, but 
you do not need to answer this question if you don’t want to. 
 
Please tick all that apply 

 I receive, or have received, social care or support 

 I am, or have been, an unpaid carer  

 A friend or family member of mine receives, or has received, social care or 
support 

 I am, or have been, a frontline care worker 

 I am, or have been, a social worker 

 I work, or have worked, in the management of care services 

 I do not have any close experience of social care or support. 

Organisations – your role 
Please indicate what role your organisation plays in social care 
 

 Providing care or support services, private sector 

 Providing care or support services, third sector 

 Independent healthcare contractor 

 Representing or supporting people who access care and support and their 
families 

 Representing or supporting carers 

 Representing or supporting members of the workforce 

 Local authority 

X Health Board 

 Integration authority 

 Other public sector body 

 Other  

Page 116



 65  

Questions 
 

1. Improving care for people 
 
 
Improvement 
 
 
Q1. What would be the benefits of the National Care Service taking responsibility for 

improvement across community health and care services? (Please tick all that 
apply) 

 
 Better co-ordination of work across different improvement organisations 

 Effective sharing of learning across Scotland 

 Intelligence from regulatory work fed back into a cycle of continuous 
improvement 

 More consistent outcomes for people accessing care and support across 
Scotland 

X Other – please explain below 

The above benefits are worthy aims for a redesigned system for improvement activities.     

 
Q2. Are there any risks from the National Care Service taking responsibility for 

improvement across community health and care services? 
 

Yes, simply because any process of change comes with risks. 

The Feeley report discusses (at page 58) the respective current roles of Healthcare 
Improvement Scotland and the Care Inspectorate.   It recommends that they should 
work in partnership, carrying out complimentary activities.  The Feeley report also says 
there needs to be a re-balancing of the role of the Care Inspectorate, and that some of 
its quality assurance aspects should shift to integration joint boards. 

When taking this forward, it would be helpful to carefully identify all the different bodies 
that are currently involved in improvement activities.   Having several bodies doing 
broadly similar things may create confusion and lead to expertise and knowledge being 
held in different organisations.     

A helpful approach is to consider: 

1.  What issues or problems are we trying to fix? 

2.  How can we best design a solution which will efficiently, effectively, and sustainably 
address the identified issues or problems? 

 

Page 117



 66  

Access to Care and Support 
 
 
Accessing care and support 
 
Q3. If you or someone you know needed to access care and support, how likely would 

you be to use the following routes if they were available? 
 

Speaking to my GP or another health professional. 

Not at all 
likely 

Unlikely Neither likely 
nor unlikely 

Likely Very likely 

     
 

Speaking to someone at a voluntary sector organisation, for example my local 
carer centre, befriending service or another organisation. 

Not at all 
likely 

Unlikely Neither likely 
nor unlikely 

Likely Very likely 

     
 

Speaking to someone at another public sector organisation, e.g. Social Security 
Scotland  

Not at all 
likely 

Unlikely Neither likely 
nor unlikely 

Likely Very likely 

     
 

Going along to a drop in service in a building in my local community, for example 
a community centre or cafe, either with or without an appointment. 

Not at all 
likely 

Unlikely Neither likely 
nor unlikely 

Likely Very likely 

     
 

Through a contact centre run by my local authority, either in person or over the 
phone. 

Not at all 
likely 

Unlikely Neither likely 
nor unlikely 

Likely Very likely 

     
 

Contacting my local authority by email or through their website.  

Not at all 
likely 

Unlikely Neither likely 
nor unlikely 

Likely Very likely 

     
  

Page 118



 67  

Using a website or online form that can be used by anyone in Scotland. 

Not at all 
likely 

Unlikely Neither likely 
nor unlikely 

Likely Very likely 

     
 

Through a national helpline that I can contact 7 days a week. 

Not at all 
likely 

Unlikely Neither likely 
nor unlikely 

Likely Very likely 

     
 

Other – Please explain what option you would add. 

 

As this is an organisational response, we have not offered a response to the options at 
Question 3.  The question is tailored to the experience of individuals.    

We have also not offered responses to other questions in this section (Questions 4-7) 
which appear to be looking for a response from individuals, or are focussed on social 
care or social work. 

 

 
Q4. How can we better co-ordinate care and support (indicate order of preference)?  
 
 

 Have a lead professional to coordinate care and support for each individual. 
The lead professional would co-ordinate all the professionals involved in the 
adult’s care and support. 

 Have a professional as a clear single point of contact for adults accessing care 
and support services. The single point of contact would be responsible for 
communicating with the adult receiving care and support on behalf of all the 
professionals involved in their care, but would not have as significant a role in 
coordinating their care and support.  

 Have community or voluntary sector organisations, based locally, which act as 
a single point of contact. These organisations would advocate on behalf of the 
adult accessing care and support and communicate with the professionals 
involved in their care on their behalf when needed.  

 
  

Page 119



 68  

Support planning 
 

Q5. How should support planning take place in the National Care Service? For each of 
the elements below, please select to what extent you agree or disagree with each 
option: 

 
a. How you tell people about your support needs 

 
Support planning should include the opportunity for me and/or my family and 
unpaid carers to contribute. 
Strongly 
Agree 

Agree Neither 
Agree/Disagree 

Disagree Strongly 
Disagree 

     
 

If I want to, I should be able to get support from a voluntary sector organisation or 
an organisation in my community, to help me set out what I want as part of my 
support planning.  
Strongly 
Agree 

Agree Neither 
Agree/Disagree 

Disagree Strongly 
Disagree 

     
 
b. What a support plan should focus on: 
 

Decisions about the support I get should be based on the judgement of the 
professional working with me, taking into account my views.  
Strongly 
Agree 

Agree Neither 
Agree/Disagree 

Disagree Strongly 
Disagree 

     
 

Decisions about the support I get should be focused on the tasks I need to carry 
out each day to be able to take care of myself and live a full life. 
Strongly 
Agree 

Agree Neither 
Agree/Disagree 

Disagree Strongly 
Disagree 

     
 

Decisions about the support I get should be focused on the outcomes I want to 
achieve to live a full life. 
Strongly 
Agree 

Agree Neither 
Agree/Disagree 

Disagree Strongly 
Disagree 

     
  

Page 120



 69  

c. Whether the support planning process should be different, depending on the 
level of support you need: 

 
I should get a light-touch conversation if I need a little bit of support; or a more 
detailed conversation with a qualified social worker if my support needs are more 
complex. 
Strongly 
Agree 

Agree Neither 
Agree/Disagree 

Disagree Strongly 
Disagree 

     
 

If I need a little bit of support, a light-touch conversation could be done by 
someone in the community such as a support worker or someone from a 
voluntary sector organisation. 
Strongly 
Agree 

Agree Neither 
Agree/Disagree 

Disagree Strongly 
Disagree 

     
 

However much support I need, the conversation should be the same. 
Strongly 
Agree 

Agree Neither 
Agree/Disagree 

Disagree Strongly 
Disagree 

     
 

Light touch and/or more detailed support planning should take place in another 
way – please say how below  
 

 

 
Q6. The Getting It Right For Everyone National Practice model would use the same 

language across all services and professionals to describe and assess your 
strengths and needs. Do you agree or disagree with this approach?  

 
 Agree 

 Disagree 

Please say why.  

 

As this is an organisational response, we have not offered a response to this question.  
It appears to be aimed at individuals. 

 

  

Page 121



 70  

Q7. The Getting It Right for Everyone National Practice model would be a single 
planning process involving everyone who is involved with your care and support, 
with a single plan that involves me in agreeing the support I require. This would be 
supported by an integrated social care and health record, so that my information 
moves through care and support services with me. Do you agree or disagree with 
this approach?  

 
 Agree 

 Disagree 

Please say why.  

 

As this is an organisational response, we have not offered a response to this question.  
It appears to be aimed at individuals 

   

 
Q8. Do you agree or disagree that a National Practice Model for adults would improve 

outcomes? 
 

 Agree 

 Disagree 

Please say why.  

We welcome a national practice model as this will help develop and implement 
consistent standards.  However more than this will be required to improve outcomes. 

 

 

  

Page 122



 71  

Right to breaks from caring 
 
 
Q9. For each of the below, please choose which factor you consider is more important 

in establishing a right to breaks from caring. (Please select one option from each 
part. Where you see both factors as equally important, please select ‘no 
preference’.) 

 
Standardised support packages versus personalised support 

 Personalised support to 
meet need 

 Standardised levels of 
support 

No preference 

 
A right for all carers versus thresholds for accessing support 

 Universal right for all 
carers 

 Right only for those who 
meet qualifying thresholds 

 No preference 

 
Transparency and certainty versus responsiveness and flexibility 

 Certainty about 
entitlement 

 Flexibility and 
responsiveness 

 No preference 

 
Preventative support versus acute need 

 Provides preventative 
support 

 Meeting acute need  No preference  

 
Q10. Of the three groups, which would be your preferred approach? (Please select one 

option.)  
 

 Group A – Standard entitlements  

 Group B – Personalised entitlements 

 Group C – Hybrid approaches  

Please say why. 
 

We have not offered a response to questions 9 & 10 as they relate to social care, and 
believe it is appropriate for other organisations to respond. 

 

  

Page 123



 72  

Using data to support care 
 
 

Q11. To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following statements?  
 

There should be a nationally-consistent, integrated and accessible electronic social care 
and health record. 

Strongly 
Agree 

Agree Neither 
Agree/Disagree 

Disagree Strongly 
Disagree 

X     
 

Information about your health and care needs should be shared across the services that 
support you.  

Strongly 
Agree 

Agree Neither 
Agree/Disagree 

Disagree Strongly 
Disagree 

 X    
 
Q12. Should legislation be used to require all care services and other relevant parties to 

provide data as specified by a National Care Service, and include the requirement 
to meet common data standards and definitions for that data collection?  

 
X Yes 

 No 

Please say why. 

We have answered ‘Yes’ because currently there is not the necessary degree of 
standardisation, transparency, and data sharing that we need across the system. 

We do recognise that organisations may be in differing positions of readiness, and there 
is a risk that artificial timescales in legislation (or lack of requisite funding to progress 
technical requirements) could lead to less efficient systems.   Interoperability standards 
could allow organisations to move forward with existing technology and use new 
technology to enhance their ability to view and update data. 

 
Q13. Are there alternative approaches that would address current gaps in social care 

data and information, and ensure a consistent approach for the flow of data and 
information across the National Care Service?  

 
There needs to be further analysis carried out to develop a comprehensive 
understanding of the gaps.  The lack of efficient role-based access is more likely to be 
the main issue. 

There needs to be careful attention to the issue of role-based access, to ensure data 
minimisation and attend to privacy and data protection issues.    

Page 124



 73  

The consultation states (at page 37): ‘People expect their social care and health 
information, where appropriate and at the right time, to be available to the people that 
need to see it. We already have many means to record this information, so do not 
expect to replace medical records or other well-functioning systems where they already 
exist.’        ‘Through the NCS, a nationally-consistent, integrated and accessible 
electronic social care and health record would be put in place that can be used and 
seen by all those who provide health and care support.’ 

It may be helpful to have realistic expectations of what an integrated health and social 
care record will achieve, and how quickly that can be secured.   Different parts of the 
NHS repeatedly ask patients to provide their information, and there is no single health 
record which has a complete record of their history and engagement with various 
services.    A member of staff only needs to see what is necessary for them to carry out 
their duties, which takes us back to the issue of role-based access.    

 

  

Page 125



 74  

Complaints and putting things right 
 
Q14. What elements would be most important in a new system for complaints about 

social care services? (Please select 3 options) 
 

 Charter of rights and responsibilities, so people know what they can expect 

 Single point of access for feedback and complaints about all parts of the 
system 

X Clear information about advocacy services and the right to a voice 

X Consistent model for handling complaints for all bodies 

X Addressing complaints initially with the body the complaint is about 

 Clear information about next steps if a complainant is not happy with the initial 
response 

 Other – please explain: 

 

Q15. Should a model of complaints handling be underpinned by a commissioner for 
community health and care?  

 
  Yes 

X  No 

Please say why. 

The consultation document says (at page 43):  ‘We will consider whether it is 
appropriate to appoint a commissioner for social care.’     The question asks whether 
there should be a commissioner for ‘community health and care’.   These are two 
different things, neither of which have been defined.  The proposal has not been 
developed so it is not possible to answer YES to this question at this point.  There 
needs to be clarity of the scope of the role for any commissioner, recognising that there 
are other commissioners already in place and established systems for handling 
complaints in both the NHS and councils.     Regarding the NHS, there is the Scottish 
Public Services Ombudsman, the Independent National Whistleblowing Officer, and the 
Patient Advice and Support Service.  

  

Page 126

https://www.spso.org.uk/
https://www.spso.org.uk/
https://inwo.spso.org.uk/
https://www.cas.org.uk/pass


 75  

Q16. Should a National Care Service use a measure of experience of those receiving 
care and support, their families and carers as a key outcome measure? 

 
X Yes 

 No 

Please say why. 

Note: This question is referred to as Question 15 in the consultation document. 

The experience of those of who use or benefit from services is a key outcome.  Care 
being ‘person-centred’ or ‘patient-centred’ is a basic element of quality.  WHO Quality - 
Quality of Care - A process for making strategic choices in health systems 
 
 

  

Page 127

https://www.who.int/management/quality/assurance/QualityCare_B.Def.pdf
https://www.who.int/management/quality/assurance/QualityCare_B.Def.pdf


 76  

Residential Care Charges 
 
 

Q17. Most people have to pay for the costs of where they live such as mortgage 
payments or rent, property maintenance, food and utility bills. To ensure fairness 
between those who live in residential care and those who do not, should self-
funding care home residents have to contribute towards accommodation-based 
costs such as (please tick all that apply):  

 
 Rent 

 Maintenance 

 Furnishings 

 Utilities 

 Food costs 

 Food preparation 

 Equipment 

 Leisure and entertainment 

 Transport 

 Laundry 

 Cleaning 

 Other – what would that be 

We have not offered a response to this question as it relates to social care, and believe 
it is appropriate for other organisations to respond. 

 

  

Page 128



 77  

 
Q18. Free personal and nursing care payment for self-funders are paid directly to the 

care provider on their behalf. What would be the impact of increasing personal and 
nursing care payments to National Care Home Contract rates on: 

 
Self-funders 

 

 

Care home operators 

 

 

Local authorities 

 

 

Other 

We have not offered a response to this question as it relates to social care, and believe 
it is appropriate for other organisations to respond. 

 

 
Q19. Should we consider revising the current means testing arrangements?  

 
 Yes 

 No 

If yes, what potential alternatives or changes should be considered?  

We have not offered a response to this question as it relates to social care, and believe 
it is appropriate for other organisations to respond. 

 

 

  

Page 129



 78  

2. National Care Service 
 
 

Q20. Do you agree that Scottish Ministers should be accountable for the delivery of 
social care, through a National Care Service? 

 
X Yes 

 No, current arrangements should stay in place 

 No, another approach should be taken (please give details) 

The proposal for a National Care Service is a positive one.   There are fundamental 
challenges regarding the funding of social care and the current structure in the Scottish 
public sector for health and social care functions.   The proposals do progress many of 
the recommendations from the Feeley Report (which we support).    

We strongly support integrating public services as much as possible, in line with the 
principles laid down by the Christie Commission.   We strongly support the proposal that 
there should be a National Care Service built on the principles of universality and equity, 
of seeing investment in care as a preventative measure for the nation, and of seeing 
this universal and equitable access to care as human rights.  

The Feeley report recommended a National Care Service for all adult social care 
support. It recognised an expectation of national accountability from Scottish Ministers 
but recognised a continuing role for local authorities as public providers of social work 
and social care services.   A proposal to make the Scottish Ministers ‘accountable for 
delivery’ goes beyond Feeley.  Additionally, the consultation proposals extend the scope 
of functions and services which the National Care Service would be accountable for, 
with a direct impact on the NHS and the role of NHS Boards.    

We welcome further clarification as to how the NHS will operate and how the whole 
system of governance and accountability will work.    There are some proposals on 
health functions which we do not support, and others where there needs to be further 
consideration given to how the system will work in practice, and what the implications of 
any structural change will be. For these reasons it is not always possible to definitively 
respond ‘YES’ or ‘NO’ to some of the consultation questions, as further analysis and 
information is required. 

In the interests of helping the Scottish Government identify and work through the issues 
and avoid repeating the challenges created by the Public Bodies (Joint Working) 
(Scotland) Act 2014, we have set out below our position and questions to consider. 

 

 

 

3. Risk of Dis-integration of public services at all levels 

Page 130

https://www.gov.scot/publications/commission-future-delivery-public-services/


 79  

 

The National Health Service is currently not a single national body, but rather 
several discrete legal entities established via the National Health Service (Scotland) 
Act 1978 which are accountable to Scottish Ministers.      

The Feeley Report (at page 42) says: ‘To ensure parity and clarity with the NHS we 
recommend that the Scottish Government should at the same time establish NHS 
Scotland in law on an equal footing to a National Care Service, to oversee delivery 
by individual NHS Boards.’ 

 

This is a significant initial step which the consultation document appears to overlook. 

 Recommendation 16 of the Feeley report says: 
 
‘16. A National Care Service for Scotland should be established in statute along with, 

on an equal footing, NHS Scotland, with both bodies reporting to Scottish Ministers.’ 
 

The consultation document (at page 15) refers to the National Care Service as ‘single 
national body, with clear lines of accountability to Ministers at a national level.’   

 
We think it would be helpful to avoid splitting accountability at Government level 
between health and social care, with each function having its own Accountable Officer.   
You may wish to consider that it could be better if health and social care reported into 
one Accountable Officer at Government level, as this would instil an integrated, holistic, 
approach from the top.   This would give the Government greater flexibility to address 
the challenges in health & social care, remove barriers to progress and innovation, and 
pursue improvement by addressing behaviours throughout the system.    We do not 
think that the fundamental challenges can be addressed simply through a structural 
response which does not do anything to reduce the complexity of the Scottish public 
sector or address the causes of the problems we are seeking to resolve.       
 
Given the inherent funding challenges in both social care and health, creating complex 
and unclear systems of governance and accountability will make things worse.    We do 
welcome the perspective from the consultation paper that the costs of the proposals are 
an investment in society, and that there is to be a focus on early  
intervention and prevention.  
 
We note that the Government has committed to increase investment in social care by 
25%, and that all proposals will be assessed for value for money, looking ‘at the overall 
benefits of improving people’s experience of care and the outcomes they achieve, as 
well as the direct costs or savings of providing that care’.  We also note that the 
consultation document includes the following: 
‘We will remove eligibility criteria in their current form by moving away from a focus on 
risk and instead focusing on enabling people to access the care and support that they 
need to lead a full life.’ (page 19) 

‘A critical aspect of the new approach is a single adult’s plan and a single planning 
process….  This should: 

Page 131



 80  

Be rights based, based on the relationships that are important to the adult, and 
relentlessly focused on putting the adult at the centre of decision making and improving 
outcomes with them and for them. (page 21)  … 

Provide a No Wrong Door approach to access to care and support, so that people only 
have to enter services once, and are supported within a coordinated system of support.  
(page 22)’ 

While we welcome the intent, we would like to understand what the practical 
implications of a rights-based approach would be.  How would the Scottish Government 
fund the new universal access to services, and would this draw funding away from other 
existing public services?    How soon can members of the public expect to exercise their 
rights, and be able to rely on a co-ordinated system of support, regardless of where and 
how they enter services?   

Arguably a single Government department with accountability for health and social care 
would be in a stronger position to arrive at: 

• A holistic and clear methodology for determining the quantum of funding for 
health & social care.   We anticipate that there will be challenges in establishing 
the baseline functions and services that are caught by ‘social care’ and the 
associated costs which will determine the basis for a 25% increase. 

• A model to equitably distribute resources for health & social care around the 
country, which could underpin the gradual implementation of new universal 
rights.   The NHS already has NRAC. 

• A clear and relatively simple system of governance and accountability for public 
money from the Scottish Ministers to front-line services. 

 
 
What we would welcome is further consideration on how the health and social care 
system can be re-structured to work differently and provide a smoother service and the 
intended outcomes for the service users.   The focus needs to be on creating a whole 
system integrated approach to safe, effective, person-centred care. 

 
A helpful example from elsewhere is the Republic of Ireland, where they produce a 
single National Service Plan which encompasses both health and social care. 
https://www.hse.ie/eng/services/publications/serviceplans/national-service-plan-
2019.pdf 
 
We would recommend that a similar approach is taken in Scotland. 

 
At a more local level, the proposals appear to separate the planning and delivery of 
community health & social care from other aspects of health care (secondary, tertiary, 
national and regional services).    The proposals also include moving responsibility for 
GPs to the National Care Service, which would take them out of the NHS.    We strongly 
believe that all health services should remain within the NHS, given the relationship and 
interdependencies between health services, and the need to recruit, retain and develop 

Page 132

https://www.hse.ie/eng/services/publications/serviceplans/national-service-plan-2019.pdf
https://www.hse.ie/eng/services/publications/serviceplans/national-service-plan-2019.pdf


 81  

the workforce which underpin those services.  A high volume of employing bodies would 
inevitably create competition for scarce highly skilled staff, increase the risk of variation 
in the quality of care, and minimise the opportunities for efficiency and productivity 
 

Some specific questions on this area. 
 

• How would the National Care Service work in parallel but still be 
independent of the National Health Service (see page 52 of the 
consultation)?   At page 49 of the consultation, one of the arguments for 
the National Care Service is ‘ensure strategic level integration with the 
NHS that promotes preventative care and reduces the need for hospital 
stays’. 

• Page 52 of the consultation says the National Care Service ‘will define the 
strategic direction, quality standards and the framework for person-centred 
operational delivery of community health and social care in Scotland.’   
The reference to community health relates to functions which NHS Boards 
and integration joint boards are currently responsible and accountable for.   
It is noted that there are separate proposals to replace integration joint 
boards.   What are the full implications for NHS Boards from these 
proposals?   What, if any, responsibilities, and accountability will they have 
for community health functions? 

 
4. The implications for local ownership and local accountability of public sector 

bodies 
 
NHS Lothian has a clear commitment to the provision of person-centred services and 
has been a strong supporter in word and deed of the integration of services in line with 
the principles laid out by the Christie Commission. The organisation sees itself as an 
equal partner in the Lothian health and care system with its four integration joint boards, 
and indeed the five organisations are collaborating closely on developing a single 
Strategic Development Framework to guide the development of an integrated system 
over the next five years. Equally, NHS Lothian works closely with its four local authority 
partners and the third and independent sectors.  
 
Collectively, the Lothian health and care system cares for a million people. At one end 
of the spectrum of provision, we have the state-of-the-art Royal Hospital for Children 
and Young People, the South-East Scotland Major Trauma Centre, Scotland’s busiest 
Emergency Department, the Edinburgh Cancer Centre, the Royal Edinburgh Hospital, 
and multiple nationally commissioned services. At the other, we provide general medical 
services in both urban and rural settings through 126 general practices, support over 
500 people with complex learning disabilities and mental health challenges in their own 
homes and run a highly integrated system of primary and community care.   We see 
these multiple services as complementary in- service provision and have a proud 
tradition of innovation, with excellent examples such as the Willow Project, our same-
day emergency care services, mental health workers in general practice, and the 
Wester Hailes Health Living Centre.  
 

Page 133



 82  

It will be essential to identify the full implications of a National Care Service on the role 
of local authorities, their relationship to Scottish Ministers, and the concept of local 
democracy.     Similarly, it would be helpful to understand what the role of local NHS 
Boards will be.    
 
We would encourage a reflection on the Christie report.  We would highlight that it 
included the following: 
 

‘The key objectives of the reform programme must be to ensure that: 
• public services are built around people and communities, their needs, 

aspirations, capacities and skills, and work to build up their autonomy and 
resilience; 

• public service organisations work together effectively to achieve outcomes; 
• public service organisations prioritise prevention, reducing 

inequalities and promoting equality; and 
• all public services constantly seek to improve performance and reduce 

costs, and are open, transparent and accountable.’ 
 
 

Page 52 of the consultation says ‘IJBs will be reformed and will become Community 
Health and Social Care Boards (CHSCBs) and will be the local delivery body for the 
National Care Service.’   Currently NHS Boards and local authorities have primary 
legal responsibility for health and social care functions and services.   NHS Boards 
and local authorities currently delegate certain ‘integration functions’ to integration 
authorities (most of which are IJBs).   IJBs are not delivery bodies of the NHS Board 
and the local authority, but rather prepare strategic plans and issue directions back 
to them.    

If CHSCBs are delivery bodies of the National Care Service, the implication is that 
health boards and local authorities will no longer have primary legal responsibility for 
these functions.   Is that correct?     Will NHS Boards have no role in determining the 
scope of functions which CHSCBs are responsible for, as they currently do for IJBs 
through integration schemes? 

 

The consultation question refers to ‘the accountability for the delivery of social care’, but 
the proposals also include community health within the scope of the National Care 
Service.   Regarding the National Care Service and CHSCBs, there needs to be a very 
clear and consistent definition of what functions and services are in its scope, and what 
are not. 

Page 49 of the consultation states that a National Care Service will ‘vitally bring national 
oversight and accountability to ensure that all individuals universally have access to the 
services needed.’    What are the implications of this on the current core governance 
responsibilities of NHS Boards and local authorities?   

 

5. The impact on regulatory bodies 

Page 134



 83  

Page 49 of the consultation states that a National Care Service which is accountable 
to Scottish Ministers ‘sets clear national standards and terms and conditions for the 
commissioning and delivery of services’.    

Regarding setting standards, what are the implications of this for Healthcare 
Improvement Scotland and the Care Inspectorate?    

If any public body has a continuing role in providing services, what autonomy does it 
have to carry out is functions if the National Care Service is defining all the terms 
and conditions?    

 

6. The nature and responsibilities of any new public body. 
 

A key lesson from the introduction of the Public Bodies (Joint Working) Act 2014 is 
that a new public body will acquire a host of general and specific legal duties and 
responsibilities.    There has been considerable challenges with the governance and 
legal issues which IJBs present, and we welcome any steps to simplify the public 
sector landscape and remove those issues.      

Whether or not a legal entity is an employer has a bearing on its corporate 
responsibilities and accountability under the Health & Safety Act and other 
legislation.  Please see Health and safety at work: criminal and civil law - HSE.   IJBs 
are currently not employers.    

The consultation document does generate a host of further questions which need to 
be worked through: 

• What kind of legal entities would the National Care Service and NHS Scotland 
be?    Does the Scottish Government intend to create a new legal entity for NHS 
Scotland? 

• Will CHSCBs be distinct legal entities, and if so, what type?   This has a bearing 
on the legal responsibilities which they subsequently must discharge.  It is worth 
noting that IJBs are treated as local authority bodies for finance and audit 
purposes, due to Section 13 of the Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 
2014. 

• Will the National Care Service, NHS Scotland, and CHSCBs be employers?  Will 
the Scottish Government require staff to be transferred from NHS Boards and 
local authorities to the National Care Service and CHSCBs? 
 
 

7. Workforce Planning 
 
 

The consultation document (at page 52) says: ‘The NCS will be responsible for 
national workforce planning and development, data to support planning, 

Page 135

https://www.hse.gov.uk/simple-health-safety/law/index.htm
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2014/9/section/13
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2014/9/section/13


 84  

commissioning and procurement, research to support improvement, digital 
enablement, and national and regional service planning.’  

The workforce engaged in health and social care are currently employed by health 
boards, local authorities, independent primary care contractors, and organisations in 
the private and third sectors.   

Workforce planning will be a big challenge, and any help in that area will be 
undoubtedly beneficial.   However, we recognise that people with workforce planning 
expertise are in short supply, and this will need to be considered in terms of how to 
practically take this forward. 

Any changes to the employment arrangements of the health & social care workforce 
will have a bearing on who has responsibility for the workforce, and how any 
planning should be taken forward.  If there is a significant change in employers, this 
will bring challenges in terms of determining pay and conditions, job evaluation, 
professional standards, implementing TUPE etc., which could take years to work 
through.   Any new employer will also need the support from a HR function. 

It is also worth bearing in mind the considerable pressure that the whole health & 
social care workforce is under.     Introducing any significant organisational change 
where people are required to apply for new roles will add to that pressure.   If the 
new structures are unclear, then there is the risk that they will not apply, and the 
health & social care system loses people as a result of it.     

We support an approach which strengthens our capability for effective workforce 
planning but encourage careful consideration of the scope of the workforce being 
captured within this approach to national workforce planning and development, and 
the implications of any proposed changes to employment arrangements. 

 
 

Q21. Are there any other services or functions the National Care Service should be 
responsible for, in addition to those set out in the chapter? 

 
At this point we think it would be helpful to first clarify the responsibilities and 
accountability of the proposed National Care Service and all affected public bodies.   
Once the model is understood we would be in a better position to consider which 
functions the National Care Service should or should not be responsible for. 

The description of functions and services at pages 49 & 50 of the consultation 
document needs to be clarified.   Health boards and local authorities must delegate the 
prescribed functions and services as they relate to people who are at least 18 years of 
age.   They may delegate functions and services for those under 18 years.   So, to 
clarify the listed health services only relate to those who are at least 18 years of age. 

Page 50 is incorrect where it states that school nursing and health visiting are functions 
which the health board must delegate.  These are services for children so ‘may’ be 
delegated under Section 1(6) of the Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 2014. 

Page 136

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2014/9/section/1


 85  

 

Q22. Are there any services or functions listed in the chapter that the National Care 
Service should not be responsible for? 

 
 

We believe that health services (including GPs and other independent contractors) 
should remain within the NHS, rather than the proposed National Care Service. 

At this point we think it would be helpful to first clarify the responsibilities and 
accountability of the proposed National Care Service and all affected public bodies, and 
answer the queries highlighted in our response to Question 20 (above).   Once the 
model is understood we would be in a better position to consider which functions 
the National Care Service should or should not be responsible for. 

 

 

Page 137



 86  

Scope of the National Care Service  
 
 
Children’s services 

 
 

Q23. Should the National Care Service include both adults and children’s social work 
and social care services?  

  
 Yes  

 No  

Please say why.  

 

We believe that this question should make a clearer distinction between children’s social 
work and children’s social care services.   We do support adults’ social care services 
being included in the National Care Service, however at this point we are not clear on 
the rationale for including children’s social work and/or children’s social care services. 

The consultation document sets out a structural change.  However, it does not explain 
how that structural change is necessary to drive a change on behaviours and working 
practices to deliver desired outcomes.   It may be that the necessary changes in 
behaviours and working practices can be achieved without structural change.  This 
needs to be explored further, together with a consideration of how children’s social work 
and children’s social care functions relate to education services and health services.   

 

 
Q24. Do you think that locating children’s social work and social care services within the 

National Care Service will reduce complexity for children and their families in 
accessing services?  
For children with disabilities, 

 Yes 

 No  

Please say why. 

We do not think it is possible to answer this question at this point.  There needs to be a 
clearer distinction between children’s social work services and children’s social care 
services.   It would be helpful to clarify what exactly is in scope for these two things.  We 
would welcome clarification as to whether the proposal is to include just children’s social 
work services in the National Care Service, or also to include children’s social care 
services.  In either case we would welcome clarification on the rationale for including 
these services in the National Care Service. 

 

Page 138



 87  

For transitions to adulthood 

 Yes 

 No  

Please say why.  

We do not think it is possible to answer this question at this point.  There needs to be a 
clearer distinction between children’s social work services and children’s social care 
services.   It would be helpful to clarify what exactly is in scope for these two things.  We 
would welcome clarification as to whether the proposal is to include just children’s social 
work services in the National Care Service, or also to include children’s social care 
services.  In either case we would welcome clarification on the rationale for including 
these services in the National Care Service. 

 
For children with family members needing support 

 Yes 

 No  

Please say why.  

We do not think it is possible to answer this question at this point.  There needs to be a 
clearer distinction between children’s social work services and children’s social care 
services.   It would be helpful to clarify what exactly is in scope for these two things.  We 
would welcome clarification as to whether the proposal is to include just children’s social 
work services in the National Care Service, or also to include children’s social care 
services.  In either case we would welcome clarification on the rationale for including 
these services in the National Care Service. 

 
Q25. Do you think that locating children’s social work services within the National Care 

Service will improve alignment with community child health services including 
primary care, and paediatric health services?  

 
 Yes 

 No 

Please say why. 

We do not think it is possible to answer this question at this point.  There needs to be a 
clearer distinction between children’s social work services and children’s social care 
services.   It would be helpful to clarify what exactly is in scope for these two things.  We 
would welcome clarification as to whether the proposal is to include just children’s social 
work services in the National Care Service, or also to include children’s social care 
services.  In either case we would welcome clarification on the rationale for including 
these services in the National Care Service. 

Page 139



 88  

 
Q26. Do you think there are any risks in including children’s services in the National 

Care Service?  
 

 Yes 

 No  

If yes, please give examples 

We do not think it is possible to answer this question at this point.  There needs to be a 
clearer distinction between children’s social work services and children’s social care 
services.   It would be helpful to clarify what exactly is in scope for these two things.  We 
would welcome clarification as to whether the proposal is to include just children’s social 
work services in the National Care Service, or also to include children’s social care 
services.  In either case we would welcome clarification on the rationale for including 
these services in the National Care Service. 

  

Page 140



 89  

Healthcare 
 
 
Q27. Do you agree that the National Care Service and at a local level, Community 

Health and Social Care Boards should commission, procure and manage 
community health care services which are currently delegated to Integration Joint 
Boards and provided through Health Boards?  

 
 Yes 

 No 

Please say why.  

Currently NHS Boards and local authorities have primary legal responsibility for health 
and social care functions and services.   NHS Boards and local authorities delegate 
certain ‘integration functions’ to integration authorities (most of which are IJBs).   IJBs 
are not delivery bodies of the NHS Board and the local authority, but rather prepare 
strategic plans and issue directions back to them.  The law provides grounds where the 
NHS Board and the local authority may challenge IJB directions and their strategic 
plans. 

IJBs do not employ anyone.  We are not aware of Ministers making orders under 
Sections 11 & 12 of the 2014 Act which would allow IJBs to employ people or enter 
contracts.  So IJBs currently do not carry out any procurement nor do they directly 
manage any services. 

A proposal for CHSCBs to commission, procure and manage community health care 
services would lead to a radical alteration of employment and procurement 
arrangements.   It would involve breaking up the infrastructure which carries out these 
activities for community healthcare and all other types of healthcare (which presumably 
CHSCBs would not be responsible for).   In Lothian where there are four IJBs, it could 
lead to considerable inefficiencies if an additional four bodies each try to establish their 
own systems to employ staff, enter contracts, and manage services. 

Page 52 of the consultation says: 

‘The NCS itself will lead on aspects of community health and social care improvement 
and support that are best managed on a once for Scotland basis. It will also deliver 
community health and social care provision at a national level for people whose needs 
are very complex or highly specialist, and the planning and delivery of care in custodial 
settings, including prisons.’ 

 

It will be very helpful to understand the criteria which will determine which aspects of 
community health and social care improvement are best managed on a Once for 
Scotland basis.   It would be helpful also to consider evidence from experiences of 
centralising services, and whether this has led to improvements in outcomes.   

Page 141



 90  

It is not clear what the impact of this proposal would be on the funding and operating 
budgets of NHS Boards.  Would the funding simply be removed from the National 
Health Service and given to the National Care Service for it to allocate to CHCSBs as it 
sees fit?     Will there be a consequent effect on the number, size and role of NHS 
Boards? 

 
Q28. If the National Care Service and Community Health and Social Care Boards take 

responsibility for planning, commissioning and procurement of community health 
services, how could they support better integration with hospital-based care 
services?  

 
This issue needs to be explored further after there is a clearer understanding of the 
proposed arrangements.   

 
Q29. What would be the benefits of Community Health and Social Care Boards 

managing GPs’ contractual arrangements? (Please tick all that apply) 
 

 Better integration of health and social care 

 Better outcomes for people using health and care services 

 Clearer leadership and accountability arrangements 

 Improved multidisciplinary team working 

 Improved professional and clinical care governance arrangements 

X    Other (please explain below) 

We strongly support the above benefits as aims for the new system.  However, we do 
not agree that CHSCBs should manage GPs’ contractual arrangements, and do not 
think that this proposal would deliver any of the suggested benefits.   We have set out 
the risks in response to Question 30. 

The consultation document does not explain which organisation would be responsible 
for preventing any service failures or ensuring that services are consistently provided to 
a high standard.    This is relevant to the provision of services generally, as well as the 
NHS Board Medical Director’s professional oversight of doctors. 

We would welcome further discussion on what the proposal exactly means.  Legally 
NHS Boards are responsible for primary care, hold the contracts, and deal with the day-
to-day management of the contracts.   However, the discussion of the management of 
contracts is a lesser issue than the concern amongst GPs for the proposals, and the 
questions it raises regarding professional standards and accountability, and their 
identity as part of the wider NHS.    

 

Page 142



 91  

We believe that like all health services, GPs should remain within the NHS.  Switching 
the management of the contracts to the CHSCBs would move these services to the 
National Care Service.    

We would suggest that as part of a holistic review, the first consideration is to consider 
what outcomes we wish to achieve, and what is the best way of achieving them.   As 
part of that, there should be consideration of how the provisions of the GP contract can 
enable those outcomes.  If there are areas where GP contract does not enable those 
outcomes, then there should be consideration of how the whole system can respond to 
any gaps.    At the end of this process, a decision can be made as to the most effective 
approach to managing contracts with GPs and other independent contractors. 

 
  

Page 143



 92  

Q30. What would be the risks of Community Health and Social Care Boards managing 
GPs’ contractual arrangements? (Please tick all that apply) 

 
 Fragmentation of health services 

 Poorer outcomes for people using health and care services 

X Unclear leadership and accountability arrangements 

X Poorer professional and clinical care governance arrangements 

X Other (please explain below) 

It is not clear how removing GP contract management from the NHS Board will have 
any bearing on the ‘issues and problems’ described at page 59 of the consultation 
document. 

As a general observation, we are concerned that transferring GP contract management 
to CHSCBs and the infrastructure of the National Care Service may give a signal that 
primary care is not part of the National Health Service.  There is a risk that this could 
raise concerns amongst GPs and others working in primary care, which may exacerbate 
the recruitment and retention issues in what is already a fragile workforce. 

The proposal is that CHSCBs should manage the GP contractual arrangements.   The 
GMS contract is nationally agreed, and it does require expertise to be implement with 
each individual GP practice.   The NHS Board is currently the single contracting body 
which offers simplicity and transparency and is overseen within the NHS Board’s 
governance arrangements.  In NHS Lothian there is one team (Primary Care 
Contracting) which carries out this function for all types of independent contractors 
(GPs, dentists, ophthalmologists, pharmacists) across four local authority areas.  It is 
not clear why the proposal refers just to GP contracting, but does not consider the 
contribution of other independent contractors which are central to the delivery of primary 
and community health care. 

Shifting the contractual responsibilities from the NHS Board to four CHSCBs will 
complicate the process and break up a team with knowledge, skills and experience of 
contracting.     

The strategic planning and commissioning of services is a different process from 
contracting and managing the implementation of a contract.  Strategic planning and 
commissioning should address any risks associated with the fragmentation of health 
services and poor outcomes for those who use health and care services.       A small 
number of contracting functions could follow the directions of the relevant strategic 
planning body. 

 
Q31. Are there any other ways of managing community health services that would 

provide better integration with social care? 
 

Page 144



 93  

To inform any system development, it would be helpful to reflect on the evidence of the 
successes or failures of the current arrangements, and the driving factors behind them.      

There should be a solid objective understanding of what has and hasn’t worked 
regarding the integration of health & social care services, integration joint boards, and 
health & social care partnerships.    

There are opportunities to maximise the value of GP clusters and formally recognise 
them within the future governance and management infrastructure.   The process of 
local service redesign of health and social care should systematically use the 
knowledge and expertise of GPs. 

 

Page 145



 94  

Social Work and Social Care 
 
 
Q32. What do you see as the main benefits in having social work planning, assessment, 

commissioning and accountability located within the National Care Service? 
(Please tick all that apply.) 

 
 Better outcomes for service users and their families. 

 More consistent delivery of services. 

 Stronger leadership. 

 More effective use of resources to carry out statutory duties. 

 More effective use of resources to carry out therapeutic interventions and 
preventative services. 

 Access to learning and development and career progression. 

 Other benefits or opportunities, please explain below: 

We have not offered a response to this question as it relates to social work and believe 
it is appropriate for other organisations to respond. 

 
Q33. Do you see any risks in having social work planning, assessment, commissioning 

and accountability located within the National Care Service? 
 
We have not offered a response to this question as it relates to social work and believe 
it is appropriate for other organisations to respond. 

 

 
  

Page 146



 95  

Nursing 
 
 
Q34. Should Executive Directors of Nursing have a leadership role for assuring that the 

safety and quality of care provided in social care is consistent and to the 
appropriate standard?  Please select one. 
 

 Yes  

X No 

 Yes, but only in care homes 

 Yes, in adult care homes and care at home  

Please say why 

With the creation of the National Care Service, it is logical that the leadership role 
should be embedded within the National Care Service.  

Executive Directors of Nursing in NHS Boards have enormous roles in relation to health 
care.   It is simply not pragmatic nor logical to make them responsible for the safety and 
quality of care in social care.   Their NHS Boards are not responsible for those 
functions, and an executive of an NHS Board has no authority to lead and manage 
them. 

Whatever public body is responsible for a function or service should be corporately 
responsible and accountable in law for the safety and quality of care.   That public body 
should in turn ensure that its executives are responsible and accountable to its board for 
the safety and quality of care.     The proposals are indicating that the bodies 
responsible for community health and social care will be the National Care Service or 
the CHSCBs, not the NHS Board. 

If the CHSCBs are employers, then they will certainly have responsibilities for the 
quality and safety of care (for example, Health and safety at work: criminal and civil law 
- HSE) . 

 
Q35. Should the National Care Service be responsible for overseeing and ensuring 

consistency of access to education and professional development of social care 
nursing staff, standards of care and governance of nursing? Please select one. 
 
X Yes 

 No, it should be the responsibility of the NHS 

 No, it should be the responsibility of the care provider 

 

Please say why 

Page 147

https://www.hse.gov.uk/simple-health-safety/law/index.htm
https://www.hse.gov.uk/simple-health-safety/law/index.htm


 96  

With the creation of the National Care Service, it is logical that the leadership role 
should be embedded within the National Care Service.  

There is a contradiction to suggest that an NHS Board Director of Nursing should be 
responsible for the safety and quality of care, but the National Care Service be 
responsible for overseeing and ensuring consistency of access to education and 
professional development of social care nursing staff, standards of care and 
governance of nursing.   The two are inextricably linked. 

This takes us back to the point made in the previous question.  Whatever public body is 
responsible for a function or service should be corporately responsible and accountable 
in law for the safety and quality of care.   The proposals are indicating that the bodies 
responsible for community health and social care will be the National Care Service or 
the CHSCBs.  However, there needs to be clarity on which organisations are employing 
staff. 

 
  

Page 148



 97  

Q36. If Community Health and Social Care Boards are created to include community 
health care, should Executive Nurse Directors have a role within the Community 
Health and Social Care Boards with accountability to the National Care Service for 
health and social care nursing? 

 
 Yes 

X No 

If no, please suggest alternatives 

Whatever public body is responsible for a function or service should be corporately 
responsible and accountable in law for the safety and quality of care.   That public body 
should in turn ensure that its executives are responsible and accountable to its board for 
the safety and quality of care.     The proposals are indicating that the bodies 
responsible for community health and social care will be the National Care Service or 
the CHSCBs, not the NHS Board. 

This question takes us back to the fundamental question of employment, and 
specifically which organisation will be employing nurses.   It is not practical to have an 
executive director of an NHS Board accountable to the National Care Service for the 
activities of individuals that the NHS Board does not employ nor have any control over.     
If the NHS Board Director of Nursing was also to have a role in CHSCBs that would 
further complicate the arrangements – he or she would then be responsible and 
accountable to the NHS Board, the CHSCB, the National Care Service, and the Scottish 
Government (as an appointed executive board member of the NHS Board).   
Furthermore, NHS Lothian covers four local authority areas and potentially four 
CHSCBs – is the NHS Board’s Director of Nursing meant to have a role in all four? 

 

 
  

Page 149



 98  

Justice Social Work  
 
Q37. Do you think justice social work services should become part of the National Care 

Service (along with social work more broadly)? 
 

 Yes 

 No 

Please say why.  

We have not offered a response to this question as it relates to social work and believe 
it is appropriate for other organisations to respond. 

 

 
Q38. If yes, should this happen at the same time as all other social work services or 

should justice social work be incorporated into the National Care Service at a later 
stage? 

 
 At the same time 

 At a later stage 

Please say why.  

We have not offered a response to this question as it relates to social work and believe 
it is appropriate for other organisations to respond. 

 

 
Q39. What opportunities and benefits do you think could come from justice social work 

being part of the National Care Service? (Tick all that apply) 
Q40.  

 More consistent delivery of justice social work services 

 Stronger leadership of justice social work 

 Better outcomes for service users 

 More efficient use of resources 

 Other opportunities or benefits - please explain 

We have not offered a response to this question as it relates to social work and believe 
it is appropriate for other organisations to respond. 

 

  

Page 150



 99  

Q42. What risks or challenges do you think could come from justice social work being 
part of the National Care Service? (Tick all that apply) 

Q43.  
 Poorer delivery of justice social work services. 

 Weaker leadership of justice social work. 

 Worse outcomes for service users. 

 Less efficient use of resources. 

 Other risks or challenges - please explain: 

We have not offered a response to this question as it relates to social work and believe 
it is appropriate for other organisations to respond. 

 

 
Q44. Do you think any of the following alternative reforms should be explored to improve 

the delivery of community justice services in Scotland? (Tick all that apply) 
Q45.  

 Maintaining the current structure (with local authorities having responsibility for 
delivery of community justice services) but improving the availability and 
consistency of services across Scotland. 

 Establishing a national justice social work service/agency with responsibility for 
delivery of community justice services. 

 Adopting a hybrid model comprising a national justice social work service with 
regional/local offices having some delegated responsibility for delivery. 

 Retaining local authority responsibility for the delivery of community justice 
services, but establishing a body under local authority control to ensure 
consistency of approach and availability across Scotland. 

 Establishing a national body that focuses on prevention of offending (including 
through exploring the adoption of a public health approach). 

 No reforms at all. 

 Another reform – please explain: 

We have not offered a response to this question as it relates to social work and believe 
it is appropriate for other organisations to respond. 

 

 

  

Page 151



 100  

 
Q46. Should community justice partnerships be aligned under Community Health and 

Social Care Boards (as reformed by the National Care Service) on a consistent 
basis?  
 

 Yes 

 No  

Please say why. 

We have not offered a response to this question as it relates to social work and believe 
it is appropriate for other organisations to respond 

Q47.  
Q48.  
  

Page 152



 101  

Prisons 
Q49.  
Q50. Do you think that giving the National Care Service responsibility for social care 

services in prisons would improve outcomes for people in custody and those being 
released? 

 
 Yes  

 No  

Please say why. 

We will not offer comment on the social care services aspect, other than a general 
comment that there should be evidence to support to why a structural change will of 
itself improve outcomes. 

The consultation at page 77 states: ‘Responsibility for healthcare in prisons was 
transferred to the NHS in 2011 and is delegated to integration authorities as a result of 
the Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 2014.’ 

This should be checked as there is no reference to prison healthcare being delegated in 
the regulations: Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Prescribed Health Board Functions) 
(Scotland) Regulations 2014 (legislation.gov.uk) 

However, Lothian NHS Board did, through the City of Edinburgh integration scheme, 
delegate as an additional function prison healthcare (HMP Edinburgh, HMP Addiewell). 

Under the new arrangements, will the primary legal responsibility for healthcare in 
prisons be transferred from NHS Boards to CHSCBs? 

 
Q51. Do you think that access to care and support in prisons should focus on an 

outcomes-based model as we propose for people in the community, while taking 
account of the complexities of providing support in prison? 
 
X Yes 

 No 

Please say why. 

It is always appropriate to take an equitable, outcome-based approach to providing any 
public service. 

 

  

Page 153

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ssi/2014/344/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ssi/2014/344/contents/made


 102  

Alcohol and Drug Services 
Q52.  
Q53.  
Q54. What are the benefits of planning services through Alcohol and Drug 

Partnerships? (Tick all that apply) 
 
X Better co-ordination of Alcohol and Drug services  

X Stronger leadership of Alcohol and Drug services 

X Better outcomes for service users  

X More efficient use of resources 

X Other opportunities or benefits - please explain  

Alcohol and Drug Partnerships bring senior decision-makers to focus on a subject that 
in the past was, and perhaps continues to be peripheral to the mainstream operation 
of statutory services.  Prior to Drug Action Teams (ADPs’ predecessor) several areas 
had joint planning mechanisms for drug and alcohol misuse, but it was not consistent 
across the country.  They were always intended to offer a way for shared decision-
making to occur.  They also consider issues beyond treatment and care, such as 
prevention, harm reduction and enforcement.  They have been locally focused which 
can have benefits for responding to local issues as drug problems vary around the 
country to some extent.  Solutions and innovation often have a local beginning too 
and they can nurture those initiatives 

Q55.  
Q56. What are the drawbacks of Alcohol and Drug Partnerships? (Tick all that apply) 

 
 Confused leadership and accountability  

 Poor outcomes for service users  

 Less efficient use of resources 

X Other drawbacks - please explain  

Drawbacks can be like any partnership forum if some partners do not prioritise the work 
or find it difficult to participate.  They have also tended to lack consistent input from 
people with lived experience at the table. 

 

 
Q57. Should the responsibilities of Alcohol and Drug Partnerships be integrated into the 

work of Community Health and Social Care Boards?  
 

 Yes  

X No  

Please say why.  

Page 154



 103  

The consultation document says (at page 81): ‘We expect that Community Health and 
Social Care Boards (CHSCBs) will continue to be key partners in ADPs, taking the 
place of Integration Joint Boards (IJBs) and will continue to provide the governance, 
finance and procurement functions for them. However, we will consider whether 
changes can be made to make ADPs more effective and whether they should become 
part of the National Care Service (NCS) nationally and part of CHSCBs. We would like 
to hear your views on what changes might be helpful.’ 

This consultation question appears to confuse Alcohol and Drug Partnerships with the 
subject of the direct management of alcohol and drug services.   

Alcohol and Drug Partnerships are an important partnership vehicle for tackling complex 
issues on a multi-agency basis.  The risk is that if they become wholly a creature of the 
Community Health and Social Care Boards that the partnership element will be much 
weaker or lost. 

We support the principle that the Community Health and Social Care Boards will 
manage alcohol and drug services and will be a key partner in Alcohol and Drug 
Partnerships, but the Alcohol and Drug Partnerships are there to ensure that they work 
across the many issues involved in harm reduction, recovery and prevention. 

 

 

 
  

Page 155



 104  

Q58. Are there other ways that Alcohol and Drug services could be managed to provide 
better outcomes for people?  
 

We interpret this as a broader question on the management of alcohol and drug 
services, rather than the function and form of Alcohol & Drug Partnerships. 

We would welcome the opportunity for further discussion on this topic.   

Given the wide variety of issues and stakeholders, we fully support the development of 
a fully integrated approach which will maximise the opportunities to improve public 
health outcomes.   Recognising that drug and alcohol issues vary across the country, 
we would welcome an approach where local bodies own the planning and 
commissioning of services, involving and engaging local communities as an integral part 
to that approach.    The Scottish Government can develop a national framework to 
support the local partnerships, which can support and promote good practice, and 
provide equitable access to resources to meet the needs of the population. 

 
Q59. Could residential rehabilitation services be better delivered through national 

commissioning?  
 
X Yes  

 No  

Please say why.  

This is subject to there being consistent and generous provision of funding for 
rehabilitation, and excellent local support for each placement.  It would be a backward 
step if national commissioning squashed good local provision of services that already 
exist in this sphere. 

 
Q60. What other specialist alcohol and drug services should/could be delivered through 

national commissioning? 
 

We would welcome the opportunity for further discussion on this topic.  We have 
nothing to add at this point. 

 
Q61. Are there other ways that alcohol and drug services could be planned and 

delivered to ensure that the rights of people with problematic substance use 
(alcohol or drugs) to access treatment, care and support are effectively 
implemented in services?  
 

Services need to be person centred and responsive.  A service being person centred 
and rights based is not dependent on the structure of the service but the ethos of the 
management and staff of the service.  A national care service or an alternative to ADPS 
will not of itself change that ethos where it is perceived or found to be weak or lacking. 

Page 156



 105  

 
Mental Health Services 
 
 
Q62. What elements of mental health care should be delivered from within a National 

Care Service? (Tick all that apply) 
 
X Primary mental health services 

 Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services 

 Community mental health teams 

 Crisis services 

 Mental health officers 

X Mental health link workers 

 Other – please explain 

What is listed here includes core functions of NHS Boards which are not included with 
‘integration functions’.  Will there be a change to primary legislation to move these 
functions away from NHS Boards? 

From experience we think it is better to retain acute mental health services within the 
NHS, and so do not support moving Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services. We 
support a position where the provision of mental health services should move away 
from an institutional model as far as possible. 

The delivery of specialist Mental Health Care, that focuses on the assessment and 
treatment of mental illness, is a function that should sit alongside all over specialist 
healthcare i.e., be the responsibility of the local NHS Board.  These specialist services 
provide both community and in-patient treatment: dividing responsibilities between 
health boards and the National Care Service by location of service would not offer a 
useful way of providing high quality care to people who need it.  The governance 
required to provide safe, effective care and treatment for people with mental illness 
does need specialist skills, knowledge, and for these services to support each other.  
Isolated specialist mental health teams, particularly in the community, that are managed 
as part of more generic services can really struggle to maintain their core functions.  
The need to create a structure that supports these services is vital and it would be very 
challenging to do this is part of a wider primary care/social care focused board.   

In contrast primary mental health care, alongside mental health link workers and wider 
social capital building/prescribing, would be much better integrated as part of a National 
Care Service.  This would offer an opportunity to further develop holistic responses to 
distress and psychosocial disadvantage that do not need specialist mental health 
treatment. Wider primary mental health care teams that include provision for lower-level 
matrix psychological interventions and social work would provide a strong structure to 
enhance and develop these pathways. 

Page 157



 106  

Crisis services provide a crucial interface between these two elements but vary 
considerably between areas – both supporting people in distress but also assessing if 
specialist mental health assessment or treatment is needed (mostly specialist 
community-based services but also inpatient care).  There may be an opportunity to 
look to local areas to develop their own plans that may place these services with either 
the health board or the National Care Service. 

The integration of Mental Health Officers into specialist mental health teams, whose role 
is focused on people suffering from severe mental illness has, in our experience, been 
really positive. 

 
Q63. How should we ensure that whatever mental health care elements are in a 

National Care Service link effectively to other services e.g. NHS services? 
 

The recent proposals for local areas to develop co-designed plans for primary mental 
health care offer a model on how to ensure integrated planning and simple pathways for 
people.  These could be built on to provide the key forum for the National Care Service 
and NHS Board services to link specialist mental health teams and primary mental 
health care.   

  

Page 158



 107  

National Social Work Agency 
 
 
Q64. What benefits do you think there would be in establishing a National Social Work 

Agency? (Tick all that apply) 
 

 Raising the status of social work 

 Improving training and continuous professional development 

 Supporting workforce planning 

 Other – please explain 

We have not offered a response to this question as it relates to social work and believe 
it is appropriate for other organisations to respond 

 

 
Q65. Do you think there would be any risks in establishing a National Social Work 

Agency? 
 

We have not offered a response to this question as it relates to social work and believe 
it is appropriate for other organisations to respond 

 

 
Q66. Do you think a National Social Work Agency should be part of the National Care 

Service?  
 

 Yes 

 No  

Please say why 

We have not offered a response to this question as it relates to social work and believe 
it is appropriate for other organisations to respond 

 

  

Page 159



 108  

Q67. Which of the following do you think that a National Social Work Agency should 
have a role in leading on? (Tick all that apply) 
 

 Social work education, including practice learning 

 National framework for learning and professional development, including 
advanced practice 

 Setting a national approach to terms and conditions, including pay 

 Workforce planning 

 Social work improvement 

 A centre of excellence for applied research for social work 

 Other – please explain 

We have not offered a response to this question as it relates to social work and believe 
it is appropriate for other organisations to respond. 

 

 

  

Page 160



 109  

9. Reformed Integration Joint Boards: Community Health and 
Social Care Boards 

 
Governance model 
 
Q68. “One model of integration… should be used throughout the country.” (Independent 

Review of Adult Social Care, p43). Do you agree that the Community Health and 
Social Care Boards should be the sole model for local delivery of community 
health and social care in Scotland?  
 

 Yes 

 No 

Please say why.  

While we are supportive of a National Care Service, at this point we do not understand 
what type of organisation Community Health and Social Care Boards will be.   Please 
refer to our comments on accountability in our response to Question 20. 

The proposal is a fundamental change with significant implications for both NHS Boards 
and local authorities and needs to be carefully thought through.   IJBs are not delivery 
bodies.    As NHS Boards are the providers of all health care, how can CHSCBs be the 
delivery bodies for community health services?  Will they be employing front-line staff? 

There is interaction between community health, social care, and health care provided in 
hospitals.   Which public body will be held accountable for unscheduled hospital care?   
If CHSCBs are the sole model of local delivery, what current performance measures will 
be explicitly removed from NHS Boards? 

 
Q69. Do you agree that the Community Health and Social Care Boards should be 

aligned with local authority boundaries unless agreed otherwise at local level?  
 

 Yes 

X No 

 
 
Q70. What (if any) alternative alignments could improve things for service users?  
 
On 4 October 2021 Elma Murray, Interim Chair of the Accounts Commission, published 
a blog titled ‘Christie – It really is now or never’.  It highlighted that 10 years after the 
Christie report:‘ The shortcomings highlighted in 2011 in how public services were 
delivered are still all too real in 2021. They undermine our capacity to produce better 
outcomes and help people live better lives.  There is still much fragmentation and 
complexity in how services are organised, resulting in duplication and confusion. Yes, 
services need to be delivered to fit local needs, but good practice from elsewhere is not 
embraced and adopted enough.’ 

Page 161

https://www.gov.scot/publications/independent-review-adult-social-care-scotland/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/independent-review-adult-social-care-scotland/
https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/report/blog-christie-it-really-is-now-or-never


 110  

The Christie Report (June 2011) argued that there was urgent need for substantial 
public sector reform.   The report highlighted the complexity of the Scottish public sector 
and poor co-ordination between public bodies.   It also criticised the position of the 
Government being the dominant architect and provider of public services (which will be 
increased through the proposals for a National Care service).    The Christie report also 
said that public services lacked transparency and accountability for performance is often 
unclear. 

Christie set out four key objectives for public sector reform.   In summary they were  that 
public services are built around people and communities; public service organisations 
work together effectively to achieve outcomes; public service organisations prioritise 
prevention, reducing inequalities and promoting equality; and all public services 
constantly seek to improve performance and reduce costs, and are open, transparent, 
and accountable. 

Following this report came the Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 2014.   

The Scottish public sector landscape has many discrete legal entities all trying to 
achieve similar or related outcomes.    This leads to a lot of waste, e.g. duplication of 
effort, additional sets of annual accounts (and external audit), other statutory reports, 
additional meetings, overhead activities which add no or very little value to service-
users and the public.    All these entities are competing for a limited pool of resources, 
including managers to carry out activities that are only required because the 
organisation exists.  It is also debatable how much strategic influence that each of these 
bodies can achieve.          

The 2014 Act and the subsequent creation of 30 integration joint boards (in addition to 
the bodies which already existed) exacerbated this issue.  The integration joint boards 
are not directly accountable either to the Scottish Ministers or the local electorate.  The 
Act introduced a highly complex and flawed system of governance into health and social 
care, which has never been properly understood.   We will not discuss the details of the 
various issues however we welcome changes to the law which will address them.    

Within the NHS Lothian boundary there are nine legal entities with statutory 
responsibility for health & social care specifically for Lothian: Lothian NHS Board, four 
local authorities, and four integration joint boards.   In addition to them, there is the 
Scottish Government, four community planning partnerships, Public Health Scotland, 
NHS 24, NHS National Services Scotland, the Scottish Ambulance Service, NHS 
Golden Jubilee, NHS Education for Scotland, Healthcare Improvement Scotland, other 
NHS Boards (particularly those in the East region), and numerous regulators,  which are 
all feeding into the governance, management, and delivery of health & social care.   
Separate to all of this, other public bodies lead on fundamental issues relevant to health 
& wellbeing (e.g. housing, education, poverty). 

The consultation document states at page 91 states: ‘We expect that CHSCBs will be 
aligned with local authority boundaries, unless otherwise agreed at local level.’   This 
same provision is in the Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 2014, and there 

Page 162

https://www.gov.scot/publications/commission-future-delivery-public-services/pages/5/


 111  

was only one occasion where two local authorities were parties to an integration 
scheme (Clackmannanshire and Stirling).    So, it is likely that the proposal will do 
nothing to reduce the number of public bodies in Scotland and improve transparency 
and accountability. 

We would recommend that the Scottish Government revisits the Christie Report, and 
tests all the proposals in the consultation against its conclusions and recommendations.   
This would bring the focus to service users. 

 

 
Q71. Would the change to Community Health and Social Care Boards have any impact 

on the work of Adult Protection Committees?  
 

We have not offered a response to this question as we believe it is appropriate for other 
organisations to respond. 

 

 

  

Page 163



 112  

Membership of Community Health and Social Care Boards 
 

Q72. The Community Health and Social Care Boards will have members that will 
represent the local population, including people with lived and living experience 
and carers, and will include professional group representatives as well as local 
elected members. Who else should be represented on the Community Health and 
Social Care Boards?  
 

The proposal appears to be that the membership of CHSCBs will follow the approach 
taken for NHS Boards and IJBs where the membership includes stakeholder members 
to represent various interests.    We would recommend that a different approach is 
taken for four fundamental reasons. 

The first reason is that all board members should have the knowledge, skills & 
experience to competently carry out the roles and responsibilities of a member of a 
governing body.   The board should then ensure that it has systems in place to 
meaningfully involve, engage and consult stakeholders as an integral part of doing 
business.    Board members should not be appointed simply because they apparently 
represent a stakeholder, and their contribution to the system of governance should not 
be limited to that capacity.   There is also the inherent risk that an individual 
representative does not in fact adequately represent the views of the stakeholder.   If 
CHSCBs are to be directly accountable to the National Care Service and the Scottish 
Ministers, then the Scottish Ministers should appoint all members of public bodies after 
the individuals have applied through the public appointment process and assessed 
through the recruitment and selection process.    The Ethical Standards Commissioner 
regulates that process so that should give public confidence in the fairness of the 
system.   Ministerial appointment also gives direct accountability to Scottish Ministers. 

 

The second reason is that the proposal appears to give CHSCBs similar responsibilities 
to an NHS Board, a body that is accountable to a national body (the National Care 
Service) and ultimately the Scottish Ministers.   In practice this means that CHSCBs will 
need to implement national policy and Scottish Government directions.  The 
consultation document states (at page 90) that CHSCBs ‘will be the local delivery body 
for the NCS, funded directly by the Scottish Government.’  There is nothing in the 
consultation document to suggest that a CHSCB will be in any way accountable to a 
local authority.   It also states (at page 91): ‘The members will include local elected 
members to preserve local democratic accountability.’  In these circumstances, local 
democratic accountability is not relevant. The members of CHCSBs must carry out a 
governance role on behalf of the Scottish Government implementing Government 
policy, which is different from a local political or representative role.     It would be 
helpful if the membership simply reflects how the system of governance and 
accountability works.       

Page 164



 113  

The public appointments process could take steps to ensure that local people are aware 
of the opportunities to apply and have access to guidance and support should they wish 
to apply. 

It is notable that the proposals on CHSCB membership do not mention health boards, 
despite the proposal that they will be responsible for community health functions and 
services.   The voting members of IJBs are made up of local authority and NHS Board 
members (50% each).   This raises questions on what the future role of NHS Boards will 
be. 

The third reason is there is an inherent conflict of interest for individuals who are subject 
to the Ethical Standards in Public Life Act and sit on more than one public body.   It is 
possible for a councillor to be one of the local authority’s voting members on the IJB and 
a member of the NHS Board.   Those individuals must observe three codes of conduct 
and maintain entries in three different registers of interest simultaneously, and act in the 
interests of each of the bodies they are members of.     It is entirely possible for a local 
authority, an IJB, and an NHS Board to have a different position on a particular issue 
(funding would be a key example).  We would presume that members of the CHSCBs 
would also be subject to the Ethical Standards Act. The current arrangements for health 
& social care do create a fundamental and unresolvable conflict of interest for 
individuals, and realistically very difficult for them to exercise independent judgement on 
each of the governing bodies that they are members of.     It may be helpful to consider 
the following guidance: 

The 12 elements of independent judgement for a UK board: A guide for directors 
(cgi.org.uk) 

 

The fourth reason is that the Scottish public sector should give regard to good practice 
in corporate governance.  There are pros and cons to having small or large boards (see 
Governance Today).   There are various articles and publications which discuss the size 
of boards ( Diligent Insights, Investopedia, Boardroommetrics ), but none identify a 
definitive ideal number, advising that it depends on the circumstances.     
Boardroommetrics highlight that  Apple has 8 members and Amazon 10, and the right 
number is likely to be between 5 and 11.  In 2020 the average size of boards in the 
FTSE 150 was 10.1 (Spencer Stuart). Notably Spencer Stuart offered the following 
comment ‘From our experience conducting board evaluations, it can be challenging for 
chairs to involve the whole board in open debate when there are more than 12 people 
around the table’. 

The Institute of Directors published guidance ‘Corporate Governance Guidance and 
Principles for Unlisted Companies in the UK’ which includes the following comment 

‘the ability of any form of committee to make decisions and exercise proper scrutiny 
becomes increasingly difficult at sizes in excess of 10-12 members. A smaller board 
size will improve the quality of communication and is likely to result in more focused 
discussions. They will also make board meetings easier to organise.’ 

Page 165

https://www.cgi.org.uk/knowledge/research/12-elements-of-judgement
https://www.cgi.org.uk/knowledge/research/12-elements-of-judgement
https://www.governancetoday.com/GT/Articles/What_is_the_optimum_Board_size.aspx#:%7E:text=In%20deciding%20the%20optimal%20numbers%20for%20an%20organisation%27s,suitable%20for%20a%20smaller%20organisation%20or%20sporting%20club.
https://insights.diligent.com/board-diversity/best-practices-board-size-and-corporate-governance/
https://www.investopedia.com/articles/analyst/03/111903.asp
https://www.boardroommetrics.com/blog/board-composition-whats-the-right-size-20180225.htm
https://www.spencerstuart.com/research-and-insight/uk-board-index/board-composition
https://www.iod.com/Portals/0/Badges/PDF's/Factsheets/Related%20docs/Corporate%20Governance%20guidance%20for%20unlisted%20companies%20launched%20by%20IoD%20sponsored%20by%20Deloitte%20-for%20web.pdf?ver=2016-07-15-142230-650
https://www.iod.com/Portals/0/Badges/PDF's/Factsheets/Related%20docs/Corporate%20Governance%20guidance%20for%20unlisted%20companies%20launched%20by%20IoD%20sponsored%20by%20Deloitte%20-for%20web.pdf?ver=2016-07-15-142230-650


 114  

There is a stark contrast between these numbers and those used in the Scottish public 
sector.  If Lothian Health Board had no vacancies it would have 25 members.  The City 
of Edinburgh Integration Joint Board has places for 26 members (10 voting and 16 non-
voting). 

Private sector organisations have complete autonomy to determine what activities to 
engage in, how they are constituted, and appoint their own board members.   The 
concept of corporate governance has dramatically developed since the 1990s, as has 
the breadth of corporate law which all organisations must observe.   Public bodies in 
Scotland such as NHS Boards also must observe an increasing body of law which 
prescribes how they should govern themselves and publish additional reports to 
account for various aspects.    However, law from 43 years ago essentially determines 
the constitution of NHS Boards.   The focus needs to on what the requirements of the 
organisation are to sustainably carry out its responsibilities, rather than seeking to 
represent everyone in the board’s membership. 

Fewer public boards each with fewer members may improve the quality of governance 
in the public sector.    

 
 
Q73. “Every member of the Integration Joint Board should have a vote” (Independent 

Review of Adult Social Care, p52). Should all Community Health and Social Care 
Boards members have voting rights?  
 
X Yes 

 No 

 
 
Q74. Are there other changes that should be made to the membership of Community 

Health and Social Care Boards to improve the experience of service users?  
 
We recommend that where a public body is to be in the direct control of the Scottish 
Ministers and the National Care Service, then the Scottish Ministers should appoint 
every member after a public appointment recruitment exercise.   There should be no 
stakeholder members who are nominated for membership, but rather firm expectations 
on the public body to improve the experience of service-users through how it carries out 
its activities.     Every appointed member of the public body should have equal 
responsibilities, and consequently should have equal voting rights.     To make this 
possible, the public appointments process needs to be accessible to people from 
different backgrounds and ranges of experience, so to increase the likelihood that they 
can be appointed. 

Being a member of a public body is a demanding role.    In February 2021 the Ethical 
Standards Commissioner published a Report on a Survey on Time Commitment, 
Remuneration, and Other Aspects of the Role of Public Appointees 2020 (February 

Page 166

https://www.gov.scot/publications/independent-review-adult-social-care-scotland/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/independent-review-adult-social-care-scotland/
https://www.ethicalstandards.org.uk/sites/default/files/publications/2021-02-05%20%28Results%20Report%29%20-%20FINAL.pdf
https://www.ethicalstandards.org.uk/sites/default/files/publications/2021-02-05%20%28Results%20Report%29%20-%20FINAL.pdf


 115  

2021).   Two key issues are the actual time commitment of the role, and the level of 
remuneration.      These could be barriers to individuals applying for the role.   The 
Commissioner has recommended that the Scottish Government read the report and 
publish its response to it.   The Commissioner is going to use the findings to inform the 
forthcoming changes to the current Code of Practice on Ministerial Appointments and 
associated statutory guidance.   This report should be considered when designing the 
approach to CHSCBs. 

Another relevant report is NHS Confederation (June 2021): Strengthening NHS Board 
Diversity.  It is noteworthy that some of the causes of a lack of diversity are not due to 
the recruitment & selection processes. It also highlights that the time commitment of the 
role and the remuneration are key barriers.  The report does not recommend creating 
dedicated positions for members who represent equality and diversity.   It does include 
a recommendation to carry out a competency review to ensure that access to the roles 
can come from a wide a cross-section of the community as possible, and those 
appointed can govern and do so with empathy to EDI issues    Arguably this point is 
also relevant to ensuring that access to roles can come from different stakeholders. 

Currently NHS Boards and local authorities ‘nominate’ their voting members for each 
IJB.   Some non-voting members are automatically members by virtue of the post they 
hold, e.g. Chief Officer, Chief Social Work Officer.   The NHS Board appoints three non-
voting members (two doctors, one nurse).   The IJB appoints all other non-voting 
members and can elect to create additional non-voting members.   The Scottish 
Ministers have no role in any of these appointments.     

Will there be a fundamental change to the law which would remove the NHS Board and 
local authority from the process of determining members of the new CHSCBs?  This 
seems to be the implication of the proposals for CHSCBs being directly funded and 
directly accountable to the National Care Service. 

 
Community Health and Social Care Boards as employers 
 
Q75. Should Community Health and Social Care Boards employ Chief Officers and their 

strategic planning staff directly?  
 
X Yes 

 No 

There are fundamental issues which first need to be worked through.     Currently IJBs 
do not employ anyone, and Chief Officers are currently either an employee of the NHS 
Board or the local authority.   At the recruitment stage, candidates can select which 
body they would like to be the employer – they have different terms & conditions. 

If a CHSCB was to be an employer, what terms & conditions of employment would it 
use?    Would existing staff be transferred from the NHS Board and the local authority?    
Has any analysis been made of the impact of this proposal on the NHS Board and the 

Page 167

https://www.ethicalstandards.org.uk/sites/default/files/publications/2021-02-05%20%28Results%20Report%29%20-%20FINAL.pdf
https://www.nhsconfed.org/publications/strengthening-nhs-board-diversity-summary
https://www.nhsconfed.org/publications/strengthening-nhs-board-diversity-summary


 116  

local authority and their capability to carry out their functions?      If for example each 
CHSCB employs its own strategic planning teams, will there be losses in efficiency and 
productivity when current teams in NHS Boards and local authorities are broken up?    
This is particularly true where an NHS Board covers more than one local authority area.       

Will the Chief Executive of a CHSCB be designated an Accountable Officer under the 
Public Finance and Accountability Act?   Are there enough individuals in the job market 
to fill all the positions which these reforms will create?   IJBs currently are not 
empowered to hold assets and do not have a capital budget.   Is there any intention to 
change this for CHSCBs?  If CHSBs were to become employers, then this subject may 
be relevant. 

The consultation document states (at page 91): ‘The chief executive of each CHSCB 
will report to the chief executive of the NCS.’     If the CHSCB is to employ the Chief 
Executive, then we would expect the Chief Executive to report to the Chair of the 
CHSCB and the CHSCB itself. 

Who or what will appoint the Chair of the CHSCB, and to whom will that individual be 
accountable to?   Currently with IJBs, the NHS Board and local authority rotate the right 
to appoint one of their voting members as the IJB chair. 

There needs to be clarity on the implications of the proposals in the consultation on 
what functions and services local authorities and NHS Boards will be responsible for.   

 
Q76. Are there any other staff the Community Health and Social Care Boards should 

employ directly? Please explain your reasons. 
 

Please see our responses to previous questions.   It needs to be clear which 
organisations would be employing front-line staff, and why.  This in turn has a bearing 
on the legal responsibilities of the National Care Service and CHSCBs.  By focussing on 
just senior management and strategic planning roles, this appears to be limiting the 
scope of what CHSCBs will do. 

 

Page 168



 117  

Commissioning of services 
 
 
Structure of Standards and Processes 
 
Q77. Do you agree that the National Care Service should be responsible for the 

development of a Structure of Standards and Processes 
 
X Yes 

 No 

If no, who should be responsible for this? 

 Community Health and Social Care Boards 

 Scotland Excel 

 Scottish Government Procurement  

 NHS National Procurement 

 A framework of standards and processes is not needed 

 

Q78. Do you think this Structure of Standards and Processes will help to provide 
services that support people to meet their individual outcomes? 
 
X Yes 

 No 

 
Q79. Do you think this Structure of Standards and Processes will contribute to better 

outcomes for social care staff? 
 
X Yes 

 No 

 
 
Q80. Would you remove or include anything else in the Structure of Standards and 

Processes?  
 

 
Market research and analysis 
 
Q81. Do you agree that the National Care Service should be responsible for market 

research and analysis? 
 
X Yes 

 No 

Page 169



 118  

 

If no, who should be responsible for this? 

 Community Health and Social Care Boards 

 Care Inspectorate 

 Scottish Social Services Council 

 NHS National Procurement 

 Scotland Excel 

 No one 

 Other- please comment 

 

 
National commissioning and procurement services 
 
Q82. Do you agree that there will be direct benefits for people in moving the complex 

and specialist services as set out to national contracts managed by the National 
Care Service?  
 
X Yes 

 No 

 

If no, who should be responsible for this? 

 Community Health and Social Care Boards 

 NHS National Procurement 

 Scotland Excel 

  

Page 170



 119  

 
10. Regulation 

 
 
Core principles for regulation and scrutiny 
 
 
Q83. Is there anything you would add to the proposed core principles for regulation and 

scrutiny?  
 

It may be helpful to add a summary statement which sets out what the outcomes of the 
regulatory system should be, e.g. safe, person-centred, effective care.    A lot of the 
principles are focussed on how regulation is to be done but would be good to start with 
the ‘why’. 

 
Q84. Are there any principles you would remove?  

 
No but the text could be edited down to simplify the principles. 

 
Q85. Are there any other changes you would make to these principles? 

 
Principle 10 states: ‘Where appropriate, scrutiny and assurance should take account of 
legislative requirements, Scottish Government policy, national standards, and codes of 
practice.’    The use of ‘Where appropriate’ seems to qualify this principle.   At a basic 
level any public service activity has to comply with the law, and presumably there is no 
intent for regulatory activity to depart from standards and codes of practice. 

 

 
 
  

Page 171



 120  

Strengthening regulation and scrutiny of care services 
 
 
Q86. Do you agree with the proposals outlined for additional powers for the regulator in 

respect of condition notices, improvement notices and cancellation of social care 
services?  
 

 Yes 

 No  

 Please say why.  

We have not offered a response to this question as it relates to social care and believe it 
is appropriate for other organisations to respond. 

 

 

 
Q87. Are there any additional enforcement powers that the regulator requires to 

effectively enforce standards in social care?  
 

We have not offered a response to this question as it relates to social care and believe it 
is appropriate for other organisations to respond. 

 

 
  

Page 172



 121  

Market oversight function 
 
 
Q88. Do you agree that the regulator should develop a market oversight function? 

  
 Yes 

 No 

 
Q89. Should a market oversight function apply only to large providers of care, or to all? 

 
 Large providers only  

 All providers 

 
Q90. Should social care service providers have a legal duty to provide certain 

information to the regulator to support the market oversight function?  
 

 Yes 

 No 

 
 
Q91. If the regulator were to have a market oversight function, should it have formal 

enforcement powers associated with this?  
 

 Yes  

 No 

 
 
Q92. Should the regulator be empowered to inspect providers of social care as a whole, 

as well as specific social care services? 
 

 Yes  

 No 

Please say why 
 

We have not offered a response to questions 78-82 as they relate to social care and 
believe it is appropriate for other organisations to respond. 

 

 

  

Page 173



 122  

Enhanced powers for regulating care workers and professional standards 
 
 
Q93. Would the regulator’s role be improved by strengthening the codes of practice to 

compel employers to adhere to the codes of practice, and to implement sanctions 
resulting from fitness to practise hearings?  
 

We have not offered a response to this question as it relates to social care and believe it 
is appropriate for other organisations to respond. 

 

 
Q94. Do you agree that stakeholders should legally be required to provide information to 

the regulator to support their fitness to practise investigations? 
 

We have not offered a response to this question as it relates to social care and believe it 
is appropriate for other organisations to respond. 

 

 
Q95. How could regulatory bodies work better together to share information and work 

jointly to raise standards in services and the workforce?  
 

We have not offered a response to this question as it relates to social care and believe it 
is appropriate for other organisations to respond. 

 

 

 
Q96. What other groups of care worker should be considered to register with the 

regulator to widen the public protection of vulnerable groups? 
 

We have not offered a response to this question as it relates to social care and believe it 
is appropriate for other organisations to respond. 

 

 

  

Page 174



 123  

11. Valuing people who work in social care 
 
 
Fair Work 
 
 
Q97. Do you think a ‘Fair Work Accreditation Scheme” would encourage providers to 

improve social care workforce terms and conditions? 
 

 Yes 

 No 

Please say why. 

We have not offered a response to this question as it relates to social care and believe it 
is appropriate for other organisations to respond. 

 

 
Q98. What do you think would make social care workers feel more valued in their role? 

(Please rank as many as you want of the following in order of importance, e.g. 1, 
2, 3…) 

 
 Improved pay 

 Improved terms and conditions, including issues such as 
improvements to sick pay, annual leave, maternity/paternity pay, 
pensions, and development/learning time 

 Removal of zero hour contracts where these are not desired 

 More publicity/visibility about the value social care workers add to 
society 

 Effective voice/collective bargaining 

 Better access to training and development opportunities 

 Increased awareness of, and opportunity to, complete formal 
accreditation and qualifications  

 Clearer information on options for career progression  

 Consistent job roles and expectations 

 Progression linked to training and development 

Page 175



 124  

 Better access to information about matters that affect the workforce 
or people who access support 

 Minimum entry level qualifications 

 Registration of the personal assistant workforce  

 Other (please say below what these could be) 

 
Please explain suggestions for the “Other” option in the below box 

We have not offered a response to this question as it relates to social care and believe it 
is appropriate for other organisations to respond. 

 
 

Q99. How could additional responsibility at senior/managerial levels be better 
recognised? (Please rank the following in order of importance, e.g. 1, 2, 3…): 

 
 Improved pay 

 Improved terms and conditions 

 Improving access to training and development opportunities to support 
people in this role (for example time, to complete these) 

 Increasing awareness of, and opportunity to complete formal 
accreditation and qualifications to support people in this role  

 Other (please explain) 

 
Please explain suggestions for the “Other” option in the below box 

We have not offered a response to this question as it relates to social care and believe it 
is appropriate for other organisations to respond. 

 

 

  

Page 176



 125  

 
Q100. Should the National Care Service establish a national forum with workforce 

representation, employers, Community Health and Social Care Boards to advise it 
on workforce priorities, terms and conditions and collective bargaining? 

 
X Yes 

 No 

Please say why or offer alternative suggestions 

NHS Boards and a host of other organisations employ people who are currently 
engaged in delivering community health & social care functions.  It would be sensible to 
ensure that they are all represented in any forum which is considering issues relating to 
the health & social care workforce. 

 

 
Workforce planning 
 
 
Q101. What would make it easier to plan for workforce across the social care sector?  

(Please tick all that apply.) 
 
X A national approach to workforce planning 

X Consistent use of an agreed workforce planning methodology 

X An agreed national data set 

X National workforce planning tool(s) 

X A national workforce planning framework 

X Development and introduction of specific workforce planning capacity 

X Workforce planning skills development for relevant staff in social care 

X Something else (please explain below) 

We recognise the benefits of national workforce planning, however this needs to be 
taken forward with local workforce planning to fine-tune the workforce response . 

 

 

 
  

Page 177



 126  

Training and Development 
 
 
Q102. Do you agree that the National Care Service should set training and development 

requirements for the social care workforce? 
 
X Yes 

 No 

Please say why 

This is consistent with the principle that the National Care Service should be 
responsible for the education and development of its nursing staff (see responses to 
Questions 34 & 35). 

 
Q103. Do you agree that the National Care Service should be able to provide and or 

secure the provision of training and development for the social care workforce? 
 
X Yes 

 No 

 
 
 

  

Page 178



 127  

Personal Assistants 
 
 
Q104. Do you agree that all personal assistants should be required to register centrally 

moving forward? 
 

 Yes 

 No 

Please say why.  

We have not offered a response to this question as it relates to social care and believe it 
is appropriate for other organisations to respond. 

 
Q105. What types of additional support might be helpful to personal assistants and 

people considering employing personal assistants? (Please tick all that apply) 
 

 National minimum employment standards for the personal assistant employer 

 Promotion of the profession of social care personal assistants 

 Regional Networks of banks matching personal assistants and available work 

 Career progression pathway for personal assistants 

 Recognition of the personal assistant profession as part of the social care 
workforce and for their voice to be part of any eventual national forum to 
advise the National Care Service on workforce priorities 

 A free national self-directed support advice helpline 

 The provision of resilient payroll services to support the personal assistant’s 
employer as part of their Self-directed Support Option 1 package 

X Other (please explain) 

We have not offered a response to this question as it relates to social care and believe it 
is appropriate for other organisations to respond. 

 
Q106. Should personal assistants be able to access a range of training and 

development opportunities of which a minimum level would be mandatory?  
 

 Yes 

 No 

We have not offered a response to this question as it relates to social care and believe it 
is appropriate for other organisations to respond. 

 

  

Page 179



 128  

3.  Edinburgh Child Protection Committee 

 
 
 
A National Care Service for Scotland - Consultation 
 
RESPONDENT INFORMATION FORM 
 
Please Note this form must be completed and returned with your response. 

To find out how we handle your personal data, please see our privacy policy: 
https://www.gov.scot/privacy/ 
 
Are you responding as an individual or an organisation?  

 Individual 

 Organisation 

Full name or organisation’s name 

Phone number  

Address  

 

Postcode  
 
 
Email 

 
The Scottish Government would like your  
permission to publish your consultation  
response. Please indicate your publishing  
preference: 
 

 Publish response with name 

 Publish response only (without name)  

 Do not publish response 

Edinburgh Child Protection Committee 

c/o City of Edinburgh Council, Waverley Court, 4 East Market Street, Edinburgh 

0131 469 6159 

EH8 8BG 

Euan.currie@edinburgh.gov.uk 

Information for organisations: 

The option 'Publish response only (without name)’ is 
available for individual respondents only. If this 
option is selected, the organisation name will still be 
published.  

If you choose the option 'Do not publish response', 
your organisation name may still be listed as having 
responded to the consultation in, for example, the 
analysis report. 

 

Page 180

https://www.gov.scot/privacy/


 129  

We will share your response internally with other Scottish Government policy teams 
who may be addressing the issues you discuss. They may wish to contact you again in 
the future, but we require your permission to do so. Are you content for Scottish 
Government to contact you again in relation to this consultation exercise? 

 Yes 

 No 

 
Individuals - Your experience of social care and support 
If you are responding as an individual, it would be helpful for us to understand what 
experience you have of social care and support. Everyone’s views are important, and it 
will be important for us to understand whether different groups have different views, but 
you do not need to answer this question if you don’t want to. 
 
Please tick all that apply 

 I receive, or have received, social care or support 

 I am, or have been, an unpaid carer  

 A friend or family member of mine receives, or has received, social care or 
support 

 I am, or have been, a frontline care worker 

 I am, or have been, a social worker 

 I work, or have worked, in the management of care services 

 I do not have any close experience of social care or support. 

Organisations – your role 
Please indicate what role your organisation plays in social care 
 

 Providing care or support services, private sector 

 Providing care or support services, third sector 

 Independent healthcare contractor 

 Representing or supporting people who access care and support and their 
families 

 Representing or supporting carers 

 Representing or supporting members of the workforce 

 Local authority 

 Health Board 

 Integration authority 

 Other public sector body 

 Other  

Page 181



 130  

Questions 
 
1. Improving care for people 
 
 
Improvement 
 
 
Q1. What would be the benefits of the National Care Service taking responsibility for 

improvement across community health and care services? (Please tick all that 
apply) 

 
 Better co-ordination of work across different improvement organisations 

 Effective sharing of learning across Scotland 

 Intelligence from regulatory work fed back into a cycle of continuous 
improvement 

 More consistent outcomes for people accessing care and support across 
Scotland 

 Other – please explain below 

 

 

 

 
Q2. Are there any risks from the National Care Service taking responsibility for 

improvement across community health and care services? 
 

 

 

 

  

Page 182



 131  

Access to Care and Support 
 
 
Accessing care and support 
 
Q3. If you or someone you know needed to access care and support, how likely would 

you be to use the following routes if they were available? 
 

Speaking to my GP or another health professional. 

Not at all 
likely 

Unlikely Neither likely 
nor unlikely 

Likely Very likely 

     
 

Speaking to someone at a voluntary sector organisation, for example my local 
carer centre, befriending service or another organisation. 

Not at all 
likely 

Unlikely Neither likely 
nor unlikely 

Likely Very likely 

     
 

Speaking to someone at another public sector organisation, e.g. Social Security 
Scotland  

Not at all 
likely 

Unlikely Neither likely 
nor unlikely 

Likely Very likely 

     
 

Going along to a drop in service in a building in my local community, for example 
a community centre or cafe, either with or without an appointment. 

Not at all 
likely 

Unlikely Neither likely 
nor unlikely 

Likely Very likely 

     
 

Through a contact centre run by my local authority, either in person or over the 
phone. 

Not at all 
likely 

Unlikely Neither likely 
nor unlikely 

Likely Very likely 

     
 

Contacting my local authority by email or through their website.  

Not at all 
likely 

Unlikely Neither likely 
nor unlikely 

Likely Very likely 

     
  

Page 183



 132  

Using a website or online form that can be used by anyone in Scotland. 

Not at all 
likely 

Unlikely Neither likely 
nor unlikely 

Likely Very likely 

     
 

Through a national helpline that I can contact 7 days a week. 

Not at all 
likely 

Unlikely Neither likely 
nor unlikely 

Likely Very likely 

     
 

Other – Please explain what option you would add. 

 

 

 

 
Q4. How can we better co-ordinate care and support (indicate order of preference)?  
 

 Have a lead professional to coordinate care and support for each individual. 
The lead professional would co-ordinate all the professionals involved in the 
adult’s care and support. 

 Have a professional as a clear single point of contact for adults accessing care 
and support services. The single point of contact would be responsible for 
communicating with the adult receiving care and support on behalf of all the 
professionals involved in their care, but would not have as significant a role in 
coordinating their care and support.  

 Have community or voluntary sector organisations, based locally, which act as 
a single point of contact. These organisations would advocate on behalf of the 
adult accessing care and support and communicate with the professionals 
involved in their care on their behalf when needed.  

 
  

Page 184



 133  

Support planning 
 

Q5. How should support planning take place in the National Care Service? For each of 
the elements below, please select to what extent you agree or disagree with each 
option: 

 
d. How you tell people about your support needs 

 
Support planning should include the opportunity for me and/or my family and 
unpaid carers to contribute. 
Strongly 
Agree 

Agree Neither 
Agree/Disagree 

Disagree Strongly 
Disagree 

     
 

If I want to, I should be able to get support from a voluntary sector organisation or 
an organisation in my community, to help me set out what I want as part of my 
support planning.  
Strongly 
Agree 

Agree Neither 
Agree/Disagree 

Disagree Strongly 
Disagree 

     
 
e. What a support plan should focus on: 
 

Decisions about the support I get should be based on the judgement of the 
professional working with me, taking into account my views.  
Strongly 
Agree 

Agree Neither 
Agree/Disagree 

Disagree Strongly 
Disagree 

     
 

Decisions about the support I get should be focused on the tasks I need to carry 
out each day to be able to take care of myself and live a full life. 
Strongly 
Agree 

Agree Neither 
Agree/Disagree 

Disagree Strongly 
Disagree 

     
 

Decisions about the support I get should be focused on the outcomes I want to 
achieve to live a full life. 
Strongly 
Agree 

Agree Neither 
Agree/Disagree 

Disagree Strongly 
Disagree 

     
  

Page 185



 134  

f. Whether the support planning process should be different, depending on the 
level of support you need: 

 
I should get a light-touch conversation if I need a little bit of support; or a more 
detailed conversation with a qualified social worker if my support needs are more 
complex. 
Strongly 
Agree 

Agree Neither 
Agree/Disagree 

Disagree Strongly 
Disagree 

     
 

If I need a little bit of support, a light-touch conversation could be done by 
someone in the community such as a support worker or someone from a 
voluntary sector organisation. 
Strongly 
Agree 

Agree Neither 
Agree/Disagree 

Disagree Strongly 
Disagree 

     
 

However much support I need, the conversation should be the same. 
Strongly 
Agree 

Agree Neither 
Agree/Disagree 

Disagree Strongly 
Disagree 

     
 

Light touch and/or more detailed support planning should take place in another 
way – please say how below  
 

 

 

 

 
Q6. The Getting It Right For Everyone National Practice model would use the same 

language across all services and professionals to describe and assess your 
strengths and needs. Do you agree or disagree with this approach?  

 
 Agree 

 Disagree 

Please say why.  

 

 

 

  

Page 186



 135  

Q7. The Getting It Right for Everyone National Practice model would be a single 
planning process involving everyone who is involved with your care and support, 
with a single plan that involves me in agreeing the support I require. This would be 
supported by an integrated social care and health record, so that my information 
moves through care and support services with me. Do you agree or disagree with 
this approach?  

 
 Agree 

 Disagree 

Please say why.  

 

 

 

 
Q8. Do you agree or disagree that a National Practice Model for adults would improve 

outcomes? 
 

 Agree 

 Disagree 

Please say why.  

 

 

 

  

Page 187



 136  

Right to breaks from caring 
 
 
Q9. For each of the below, please choose which factor you consider is more important 

in establishing a right to breaks from caring. (Please select one option from each 
part. Where you see both factors as equally important, please select ‘no 
preference’.) 

 
Standardised support packages versus personalised support 

 Personalised support to 
meet need 

 Standardised levels of 
support 

No preference 

 
A right for all carers versus thresholds for accessing support 

 Universal right for all 
carers 

 Right only for those who 
meet qualifying thresholds 

 No preference 

 
Transparency and certainty versus responsiveness and flexibility 

 Certainty about 
entitlement 

 Flexibility and 
responsiveness 

 No preference 

 
Preventative support versus acute need 

 Provides preventative 
support 

 Meeting acute need  No preference  

 
Q10. Of the three groups, which would be your preferred approach? (Please select one 

option.)  
 

 Group A – Standard entitlements  

 Group B – Personalised entitlements 

 Group C – Hybrid approaches  

Please say why. 
 

 

 

  

Page 188



 137  

Using data to support care 
 
 

Q11. To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following statements?  
 

There should be a nationally-consistent, integrated and accessible electronic social care 
and health record. 

Strongly 
Agree 

Agree Neither 
Agree/Disagree 

Disagree Strongly 
Disagree 

     
 

Information about your health and care needs should be shared across the services that 
support you.  

Strongly 
Agree 

Agree Neither 
Agree/Disagree 

Disagree Strongly 
Disagree 

     
 

 
Q12. Should legislation be used to require all care services and other relevant parties to 

provide data as specified by a National Care Service, and include the requirement 
to meet common data standards and definitions for that data collection?  

 
 Yes 

 No 

Please say why. 

 

 

 

 
 
Q13. Are there alternative approaches that would address current gaps in social care 

data and information, and ensure a consistent approach for the flow of data and 
information across the National Care Service?  

 
 

 

 

  

Page 189



 138  

Complaints and putting things right 
 
 
Q14. What elements would be most important in a new system for complaints about 

social care services? (Please select 3 options) 
 

 Charter of rights and responsibilities, so people know what they can expect 

 Single point of access for feedback and complaints about all parts of the 
system 

 Clear information about advocacy services and the right to a voice 

 Consistent model for handling complaints for all bodies 

 Addressing complaints initially with the body the complaint is about 

 Clear information about next steps if a complainant is not happy with the initial 
response 

 Other – please explain: 

 

 

 

 
Q15. Should a model of complaints handling be underpinned by a commissioner for 

community health and care?  
 

  Yes 

  No 

Please say why. 

 

 

 

 
  

Page 190



 139  

 
Q16. Should a National Care Service use a measure of experience of those receiving 

care and support, their families and carers as a key outcome measure? 
 

 Yes 

 No 

Please say why. 

 
 
 

  

Page 191



 140  

Residential Care Charges 
 
 

Q17. Most people have to pay for the costs of where they live such as mortgage 
payments or rent, property maintenance, food and utility bills. To ensure fairness 
between those who live in residential care and those who do not, should self-
funding care home residents have to contribute towards accommodation-based 
costs such as (please tick all that apply):  

 
 Rent 

 Maintenance 

 Furnishings 

 Utilities 

 Food costs 

 Food preparation 

 Equipment 

 Leisure and entertainment 

 Transport 

 Laundry 

 Cleaning 

 Other – what would that be 

 

 

 

  

Page 192



 141  

 
Q18. Free personal and nursing care payment for self-funders are paid directly to the 

care provider on their behalf. What would be the impact of increasing personal and 
nursing care payments to National Care Home Contract rates on: 

 
Self-funders 

 

 

 

Care home operators 

 

 

 

Local authorities 

 

 

 

Other 

 

 

 

 
Q19. Should we consider revising the current means testing arrangements?  

 
 Yes 

 No 

If yes, what potential alternatives or changes should be considered?  

 

 

 

  

Page 193



 142  

2. National Care Service 
 
 

Q20. Do you agree that Scottish Ministers should be accountable for the delivery of 
social care, through a National Care Service? 

 
 Yes 

 No, current arrangements should stay in place 

 No, another approach should be taken (please give details) 

 

 

 

 
Q21. Are there any other services or functions the National Care Service should be 

responsible for, in addition to those set out in the chapter? 
 

 

 

 

Q22. Are there any services or functions listed in the chapter that the National Care 
Service should not be responsible for? 

 
 

 

 

  

Page 194



 143  

3. Scope of the National Care Service  
 
 
Children’s services 

 
 

Q23. Should the National Care Service include both adults and children’s social work 
and social care services?  

  
 Yes  

 No  

Please say why.  

Our answer is No, but for the simple reason that the consultation document as it stands 
does not provide sufficient detail to enable us to reach a fully informed position. As 
a multiagency partnership, we are committed to the best outcomes for children 
regardless of how services are structured. On the same note, we highlight that 
collaboration across organisational boundaries is a central element of the work of 
a Child Protection Committee and children’s services more broadly; this would not 
change with the creation of a National Care Service. We would highlight our 
answer to Q26 regarding risks as following the same principles.  

 

In our view, the following issues need to be explored further and the associated 
questions answered in more detail before we could make a fully informed decision 
regarding the inclusion of children’s services within the NCS: 

 - IRASC was focussed on adults. There is very little information about children’s 
services contained in the paper, and the most recent comprehensive review 
process in this service area (The Independent Care Review aka The Promise) did 
not arrive at the conclusion that service reorganisation in this way would benefit 
children. We would argue that form should follow function; whilst it may be 
suggested that the IRASC goes one step further than The Promise in proposing an 
operating structure to implement its findings, we argue that one of the strengths of 
The Promise is that it clearly defines its aspirations, with all associated action 
flowing from these aims. The NCS proposal, in contrast, proposes an operating 
structure and seeks to understand how aspirations could be achieved within it. 
How much consideration has been given to the findings of The Promise and 
associated workplan in developing the proposal for a NCS?  

 - Can the distinctiveness of children’s services be considered solely on the basis of 
social care services? To expand, the work delivered under the auspices of child 
protection tends to be led by a qualified social worker, in concert with a range of 
colleagues from Police, NHS, third sector and others. Child protection plans are 
usually intended as short-term interventions with a child and their family, based on 

Page 195



 144  

reducing identified areas of risk. This stands in contrast to the provision of 
children’s social care (and indeed adult social care) which is longer term in nature, 
focussed around supporting an individual with often life-long conditions and 
centred around the provision of a particular service or package of care, as 
opposed to an ongoing process of risk assessment.  

 - The consultation document is not clear in illustrating what a successful system would 
look like. We know transitions between children and adults services can be an 
issue, but bringing about wholesale systematic change on the basis of an issue 
which is already being responded to in the arena of children’s services (through, 
for example, Continuing Care legislation and resulting practice changes) is not 
clearly justified. On a related note, we are unclear what is it about the system now 
that we need to change, and what an NCS involving children’s services would 
achieve? On a more pressing issue, there is no detail around how children would 
be safer as a result.  

 - The timescale for implementation appears very tight and there is no detail around how 
children’s services could or would be incorporated into an NCS. For example, 
would there be a phased approach?  

 - The consultation does not identify any strengths in the current configuration of 
children’s services and as a result we feel there is a danger that this is seen as 
being the easy solution to a “failing” system. The consultation reads as if there are 
no positives to the way services are currently organised, or indeed how children 
and families experience them. One need only cast their eye over a selection of 
recent Care Inspectorate reports to find many excellent examples of how children’s 
services is delivered – including key elements of collaboration across agencies 
boundaries. Whilst The Promise did identify key changes to the children’s care 
system that needed to be made over a ten year period, these are not solely within 
the sphere of children’s social work and social care and indeed involve significant 
input from Scottish Government, the Care Inspectorate, the Scottish Children’s 
Reporter’s Administration and others.  

 - The framework is, in its totality, focussed around services rather than people’s needs 
and capacities. We are not confident that utilising such a model of service 
provision (which would appear to us to be out of step with current thinking in social 
work and child protection practice) would be sufficient in achieving real positive 
change for children and families. A whole system approach (which is crucially 
different to specific services being provided to tackle issues) is needed to address 
systemic issues.  

 - Regardless of the NCS’ existence – support can and will be provided by third sector 
organisations. Has a particular issue been identified which would be overcome by 
the formation of an NCS?  

 

 

Page 196



 145  

 

 
Q24. Do you think that locating children’s social work and social care services within the 

National Care Service will reduce complexity for children and their families in 
accessing services?  

 
For children with disabilities, 

 Yes 

 No  

Please say why. 

 

As with the previous question, there is insufficient detail provided in the consultation for 
us to answer yes. We qualify our answer with the following: 

Transitions into adulthood will still be necessary for children with disability. This is a 
different phase of life, with the most obvious transition point being the end of 
compulsory education at age 16. Whilst grouping social care for children and adults with 
disabilities within the NCS may make sense on paper, we are unclear how this would 
look in operation and thus how it would be experienced.  

There may be financial benefits to commissioning for disability services. However, a 
budget which follows the child is also a possibility. The question remains about 
resources –how do we fund expensive packages of care?  

 

 

 
For transitions to adulthood 

 Yes 

 No  

Please say why.  

 

Again, we answer no on the basis of lack of information.  

The following issues would need to be considered before we could agree with the 
statement:  

The rationale for the NCS appears to be that one organisation would eliminate issues 
around transition. However these services are currently part of the same local authority. 
A more pertinent question may be asked about adequate levels of funding for such 
services.   

Page 197



 146  

 

 

 
 

For children with family members needing support 

 Yes 

 No  

Please say why.  

Again, further detail is needed around how the NCS would address this perceived issue.  

We would highlight that simply bringing a range of disciplines under the NCS would not 
in itself eliminate complexity and the need for specialisms. We would also note that 
within the NHS, there exists a level of complexity within service provisions even 
when these are currently provided under the one umbrella.   

 

 
Q25. Do you think that locating children’s social work services within the National Care 

Service will improve alignment with community child health services including 
primary care, and paediatric health services?  

 
 Yes 

 No 

Please say why. 

Again we answer No because the consultation does not contain adequate detail around 
this in terms of alignment between community child health and social work.  

There is more information required about what needs to be improved.  

In terms of local practice, Edinburgh is in the fortunate position of having a high level of 
community child health input into Child Protection processes, via the dedicated 
Child Protection Hub. This is not mirrored nationwide and our concern is that this 
would diminish under the National Care Service.  

In addition, we would highlight that Child Protection is always multiagency, and 
organisational boundaries should not be viewed solely as barriers, as the quality of 
working relationships between professionals is key to effective practice. To use 
another example, the role of Police Scotland within Child Protection processes is 
strong and positive collaboration is noted locally.  

 

 
Q26. Do you think there are any risks in including children’s services in the National 

Care Service?  

Page 198



 147  

 
 Yes 

 No  

If yes, please give examples 

We highlight a range of risks: 

As detailed above, lack of detail in the proposals around the complex landscape of 
children’s services may contribute to additional barriers and unforeseen impacts. 
Significant programmes of work, not least The Promise, risk being derailed by the 
swift reorganisation of the workforce.   

Given there has been no consultation with children and families as part of this process, 
and arriving at the proposal, there is a risk that the voices of those who use 
services may go unheard. The design of the NCS should be focussed around a 
commitment to improving wellbeing – driven by a principle of “doing no harm” – not 
focussed on organisational priorities.  

Scotland is a diverse country, incorporating rural and urban areas, and large inequalities 
in income and opportunity. We would note the particular needs of different areas of 
the country in terms of what their social work and social care landscape may look 
like. There is a risk that a national system would not sufficiently address local 
need.  

Finally, we note that one of the principles of The Promise is that there should be no role 
for profit within services which provide care and protection for children. However, 
the National Care Service appears to promote a marketisation approach. With the 
adult social care sector being delivered to a large extent on a for-profit basis, and 
with children’s social care potentially being aligned to this within the National Care 
Service, we note risks around a profit motive becoming embedded within children’s 
services as a result.  

 

  

Page 199



 148  

Healthcare 
 
 
Q27. Do you agree that the National Care Service and at a local level, Community 

Health and Social Care Boards should commission, procure and manage 
community health care services which are currently delegated to Integration Joint 
Boards and provided through Health Boards?  

 
 Yes 

 No 

Please say why.  

 

 

 

 
Q28. If the National Care Service and Community Health and Social Care Boards take 

responsibility for planning, commissioning and procurement of community health 
services, how could they support better integration with hospital-based care 
services?  

 
 

 

 

 
Q29. What would be the benefits of Community Health and Social Care Boards 

managing GPs’ contractual arrangements? (Please tick all that apply) 
 

 Better integration of health and social care 

 Better outcomes for people using health and care services 

 Clearer leadership and accountability arrangements 

 Improved multidisciplinary team working 

 Improved professional and clinical care governance arrangements 

 Other (please explain below) 

 

 

 

 
  

Page 200



 149  

Q30. What would be the risks of Community Health and Social Care Boards managing 
GPs’ contractual arrangements? (Please tick all that apply) 

 
 Fragmentation of health services 

 Poorer outcomes for people using health and care services 

 Unclear leadership and accountability arrangements 

 Poorer professional and clinical care governance arrangements 

 Other (please explain below) 

 

 

 

 
Q31. Are there any other ways of managing community health services that would 

provide better integration with social care? 
 

 

 

 

 
 
  

Page 201



 150  

Social Work and Social Care 
 
 
Q32. What do you see as the main benefits in having social work planning, assessment, 

commissioning and accountability located within the National Care Service? 
(Please tick all that apply.) 

 
 Better outcomes for service users and their families. 

 More consistent delivery of services. 

 Stronger leadership. 

 More effective use of resources to carry out statutory duties. 

 More effective use of resources to carry out therapeutic interventions and 
preventative services. 

 Access to learning and development and career progression. 

 Other benefits or opportunities, please explain below: 

 

 

 

 
Q33. Do you see any risks in having social work planning, assessment, commissioning 

and accountability located within the National Care Service? 
 
 

 

 

 
  

Page 202



 151  

Nursing 
 
 
Q34. Should Executive Directors of Nursing have a leadership role for assuring that the 

safety and quality of care provided in social care is consistent and to the 
appropriate standard?  Please select one. 
 

 Yes  

 No 

 Yes, but only in care homes 

 Yes, in adult care homes and care at home  

Please say why 

 

 

 

 
Q35. Should the National Care Service be responsible for overseeing and ensuring 

consistency of access to education and professional development of social care 
nursing staff, standards of care and governance of nursing? Please select one. 
 

 Yes 

 No, it should be the responsibility of the NHS 

 No, it should be the responsibility of the care provider 

Please say why 

 

 

 

 
  

Page 203



 152  

Q36. If Community Health and Social Care Boards are created to include community 
health care, should Executive Nurse Directors have a role within the Community 
Health and Social Care Boards with accountability to the National Care Service for 
health and social care nursing? 

 
 Yes 

 No 

If no, please suggest alternatives 

 

 

 

 
  

Page 204



 153  

Justice Social Work  
 
Q37. Do you think justice social work services should become part of the National Care 

Service (along with social work more broadly)? 
 

 Yes 

 No 

Please say why.  

 

 

 

 
Q38. If yes, should this happen at the same time as all other social work services or 

should justice social work be incorporated into the National Care Service at a later 
stage? 

 
 At the same time 

 At a later stage 

Please say why.  

 

 

 
 

Q39. What opportunities and benefits do you think could come from justice social work 
being part of the National Care Service? (Tick all that apply) 

Q40.  
 More consistent delivery of justice social work services 

 Stronger leadership of justice social work 

 Better outcomes for service users 

 More efficient use of resources 

 Other opportunities or benefits - please explain 

 

 

 

  

Page 205



 154  

Q42. What risks or challenges do you think could come from justice social work being 
part of the National Care Service? (Tick all that apply) 

Q43.  
 Poorer delivery of justice social work services. 

 Weaker leadership of justice social work. 

 Worse outcomes for service users. 

 Less efficient use of resources. 

 Other risks or challenges - please explain: 

 

 

 

 
Q44. Do you think any of the following alternative reforms should be explored to improve 

the delivery of community justice services in Scotland? (Tick all that apply) 
Q45.  

 Maintaining the current structure (with local authorities having responsibility for 
delivery of community justice services) but improving the availability and 
consistency of services across Scotland. 

 Establishing a national justice social work service/agency with responsibility for 
delivery of community justice services. 

 Adopting a hybrid model comprising a national justice social work service with 
regional/local offices having some delegated responsibility for delivery. 

 Retaining local authority responsibility for the delivery of community justice 
services, but establishing a body under local authority control to ensure 
consistency of approach and availability across Scotland. 

 Establishing a national body that focuses on prevention of offending (including 
through exploring the adoption of a public health approach). 

 No reforms at all. 

 Another reform – please explain: 

 

 

 

  

Page 206



 155  

 
Q46. Should community justice partnerships be aligned under Community Health and 

Social Care Boards (as reformed by the National Care Service) on a consistent 
basis?  
 

 Yes 

 No  

Please say why. 

 

 

 

Q47.  
Q48.  
  

Page 207



 156  

Prisons 
Q49.  
Q50. Do you think that giving the National Care Service responsibility for social care 

services in prisons would improve outcomes for people in custody and those being 
released? 

 
 Yes  

 No  

Please say why. 

 

 

 

 
Q51. Do you think that access to care and support in prisons should focus on an 

outcomes-based model as we propose for people in the community, while taking 
account of the complexities of providing support in prison? 
 

 Yes 

 No 

Please say why. 

 

 

 

  

Page 208



 157  

Alcohol and Drug Services 
Q52.  
Q53.  
Q54. What are the benefits of planning services through Alcohol and Drug 

Partnerships? (Tick all that apply) 
 

 Better co-ordination of Alcohol and Drug services  

 Stronger leadership of Alcohol and Drug services 

 Better outcomes for service users  

 More efficient use of resources 

 Other opportunities or benefits - please explain  

 

 

 

Q55.  
Q56. What are the drawbacks of Alcohol and Drug Partnerships? (Tick all that apply) 

 
 Confused leadership and accountability  

 Poor outcomes for service users  

 Less efficient use of resources 

 Other drawbacks - please explain  

 

 

 

 
Q57. Should the responsibilities of Alcohol and Drug Partnerships be integrated into the 

work of Community Health and Social Care Boards?  
 

 Yes  

 No  

Please say why.  

 

 

 

 
  

Page 209



 158  

Q58. Are there other ways that Alcohol and Drug services could be managed to provide 
better outcomes for people?  
 

 

 

 

 
Q59. Could residential rehabilitation services be better delivered through national 

commissioning?  
 

 Yes  

 No  

Please say why.  

 

 

 

 
Q60. What other specialist alcohol and drug services should/could be delivered through 

national commissioning? 
 

 

 

 

 
Q61. Are there other ways that alcohol and drug services could be planned and 

delivered to ensure that the rights of people with problematic substance use 
(alcohol or drugs) to access treatment, care and support are effectively 
implemented in services?  
 

 

 

 

  

Page 210



 159  

Mental Health Services 
 
 
Q62. What elements of mental health care should be delivered from within a National 

Care Service? (Tick all that apply) 
 

 Primary mental health services 

 Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services 

 Community mental health teams 

 Crisis services 

 Mental health officers 

 Mental health link workers 

 Other – please explain 

 

 

 

 
Q63. How should we ensure that whatever mental health care elements are in a 

National Care Service link effectively to other services e.g. NHS services? 
 

 

 

 

  

Page 211



 160  

National Social Work Agency 
 
 
Q64. What benefits do you think there would be in establishing a National Social Work 

Agency? (Tick all that apply) 
 

 Raising the status of social work 

 Improving training and continuous professional development 

 Supporting workforce planning 

 Other – please explain 

 

 

 

 
Q65. Do you think there would be any risks in establishing a National Social Work 

Agency? 
 

 

 

 

 
Q66. Do you think a National Social Work Agency should be part of the National Care 

Service?  
 

 Yes 

 No  

Please say why 

 

 

 

  

Page 212



 161  

Q67. Which of the following do you think that a National Social Work Agency should 
have a role in leading on? (Tick all that apply) 
 

 Social work education, including practice learning 

 National framework for learning and professional development, including 
advanced practice 

 Setting a national approach to terms and conditions, including pay 

 Workforce planning 

 Social work improvement 

 A centre of excellence for applied research for social work 

 Other – please explain 

 

 

 

  

Page 213



 162  

5. Reformed Integration Joint Boards: Community Health and Social 
Care Boards 
 
Governance model 
 
Q68. “One model of integration… should be used throughout the country.” (Independent 

Review of Adult Social Care, p43). Do you agree that the Community Health and 
Social Care Boards should be the sole model for local delivery of community 
health and social care in Scotland?  
 

 Yes 

 No 

Please say why.  

 

 

 

 
Q69. Do you agree that the Community Health and Social Care Boards should be 

aligned with local authority boundaries unless agreed otherwise at local level?  
 

 Yes 

 No 

 
Q70. What (if any) alternative alignments could improve things for service users?  
 
 

 

 

 
Q71. Would the change to Community Health and Social Care Boards have any impact 

on the work of Adult Protection Committees?  
 

 

 

 

  

Page 214

https://www.gov.scot/publications/independent-review-adult-social-care-scotland/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/independent-review-adult-social-care-scotland/


 163  

Membership of Community Health and Social Care Boards 
 

Q72. The Community Health and Social Care Boards will have members that will 
represent the local population, including people with lived and living experience 
and carers, and will include professional group representatives as well as local 
elected members. Who else should be represented on the Community Health and 
Social Care Boards?  
 

 

 

 

 
Q73. “Every member of the Integration Joint Board should have a vote” (Independent 

Review of Adult Social Care, p52). Should all Community Health and Social Care 
Boards members have voting rights?  
 

 Yes 

 No 

 
Q74. Are there other changes that should be made to the membership of Community 

Health and Social Care Boards to improve the experience of service users?  
 
 

 

 

 
Community Health and Social Care Boards as employers 
 
Q75. Should Community Health and Social Care Boards employ Chief Officers and their 

strategic planning staff directly?  
 

 Yes 

 No 

 
Q76. Are there any other staff the Community Health and Social Care Boards should 

employ directly? Please explain your reasons. 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 215

https://www.gov.scot/publications/independent-review-adult-social-care-scotland/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/independent-review-adult-social-care-scotland/


 164  

  

Page 216



 165  

6. Commissioning of services 
 
 
Structure of Standards and Processes 
 
Q77. Do you agree that the National Care Service should be responsible for the 

development of a Structure of Standards and Processes 
 

 Yes 

 No 

 

If no, who should be responsible for this? 

 Community Health and Social Care Boards 

 Scotland Excel 

 Scottish Government Procurement  

 NHS National Procurement 

 A framework of standards and processes is not needed 

 
Q78. Do you think this Structure of Standards and Processes will help to provide 

services that support people to meet their individual outcomes? 
 

 Yes 

 No 

 
Q79. Do you think this Structure of Standards and Processes will contribute to better 

outcomes for social care staff? 
 

 Yes 

 No 

 
Q80. Would you remove or include anything else in the Structure of Standards and 

Processes?  
 

 

 

 

  

Page 217



 166  

Market research and analysis 
 
Q81. Do you agree that the National Care Service should be responsible for market 

research and analysis? 
 

 Yes 

 No 

 

If no, who should be responsible for this? 

 Community Health and Social Care Boards 

 Care Inspectorate 

 Scottish Social Services Council 

 NHS National Procurement 

 Scotland Excel 

 No one 

 Other- please comment 

 

 

 

 
National commissioning and procurement services 
 
Q82. Do you agree that there will be direct benefits for people in moving the complex 

and specialist services as set out to national contracts managed by the National 
Care Service?  
 

 Yes 

 No 

 

If no, who should be responsible for this? 

 Community Health and Social Care Boards 

 NHS National Procurement 

 Scotland Excel 

  

Page 218



 167  

7. Regulation 
 
 
Core principles for regulation and scrutiny 
 
 
Q83. Is there anything you would add to the proposed core principles for regulation and 

scrutiny?  
 

 

 

 

 
Q84. Are there any principles you would remove?  

 
 

 

 

 
Q85. Are there any other changes you would make to these principles? 

 
 

 

 

 
 
  

Page 219



 168  

Strengthening regulation and scrutiny of care services 
 
 
Q86. Do you agree with the proposals outlined for additional powers for the regulator in 

respect of condition notices, improvement notices and cancellation of social care 
services?  
 

 Yes 

 No  

 Please say why.  

 

 

 

 
Q87. Are there any additional enforcement powers that the regulator requires to 

effectively enforce standards in social care?  
 

 

 

 
  

Page 220



 169  

Market oversight function 
 
 
Q88. Do you agree that the regulator should develop a market oversight function? 

  
 Yes 

 No 

 
Q89. Should a market oversight function apply only to large providers of care, or to all? 

 
 Large providers only  

 All providers 

 
Q90. Should social care service providers have a legal duty to provide certain 

information to the regulator to support the market oversight function?  
 

 Yes 

 No 

 
Q91. If the regulator were to have a market oversight function, should it have formal 

enforcement powers associated with this?  
 

 Yes  

 No 

 
Q92. Should the regulator be empowered to inspect providers of social care as a whole, 

as well as specific social care services? 
 

 Yes  

 No 

Please say why 
 

 

 

  

Page 221



 170  

Enhanced powers for regulating care workers and professional standards 
 
 
Q93. Would the regulator’s role be improved by strengthening the codes of practice to 

compel employers to adhere to the codes of practice, and to implement sanctions 
resulting from fitness to practise hearings?  
 

 

 

 

 
Q94. Do you agree that stakeholders should legally be required to provide information to 

the regulator to support their fitness to practise investigations? 
 

 

 

 

 
Q95. How could regulatory bodies work better together to share information and work 

jointly to raise standards in services and the workforce?  
 

 

 

 

 
Q96. What other groups of care worker should be considered to register with the 

regulator to widen the public protection of vulnerable groups? 
 

 

 

 

  

Page 222



 171  

8. Valuing people who work in social care 
 
 
Fair Work 
 
 
Q97. Do you think a ‘Fair Work Accreditation Scheme” would encourage providers to 

improve social care workforce terms and conditions? 
 

 Yes 

 No 

Please say why. 

 

 

  

 
Q98. What do you think would make social care workers feel more valued in their role? 

(Please rank as many as you want of the following in order of importance, e.g. 1, 
2, 3…) 

 
 Improved pay 

 Improved terms and conditions, including issues such as 
improvements to sick pay, annual leave, maternity/paternity pay, 
pensions, and development/learning time 

 Removal of zero hour contracts where these are not desired 

 More publicity/visibility about the value social care workers add to 
society 

 Effective voice/collective bargaining 

 Better access to training and development opportunities 

 Increased awareness of, and opportunity to, complete formal 
accreditation and qualifications  

 Clearer information on options for career progression  

 Consistent job roles and expectations 

 Progression linked to training and development 

Page 223



 172  

 Better access to information about matters that affect the workforce 
or people who access support 

 Minimum entry level qualifications 

 Registration of the personal assistant workforce  

 Other (please say below what these could be) 

 
Please explain suggestions for the “Other” option in the below box 

 

 

 
 

Q99. How could additional responsibility at senior/managerial levels be better 
recognised? (Please rank the following in order of importance, e.g. 1, 2, 3…): 

 
 Improved pay 

 Improved terms and conditions 

 Improving access to training and development opportunities to support 
people in this role (for example time, to complete these) 

 Increasing awareness of, and opportunity to complete formal 
accreditation and qualifications to support people in this role  

 Other (please explain) 

 
Please explain suggestions for the “Other” option in the below box 

 

 

 

  

Page 224



 173  

 
Q100. Should the National Care Service establish a national forum with workforce 

representation, employers, Community Health and Social Care Boards to advise it 
on workforce priorities, terms and conditions and collective bargaining? 

 
 Yes 

 No 

Please say why or offer alternative suggestions 

 

 

 

 
Workforce planning 
 
 
Q101. What would make it easier to plan for workforce across the social care sector?  

(Please tick all that apply.) 
 

 A national approach to workforce planning 

 Consistent use of an agreed workforce planning methodology 

 An agreed national data set 

 National workforce planning tool(s) 

 A national workforce planning framework 

 Development and introduction of specific workforce planning capacity 

 Workforce planning skills development for relevant staff in social care 

 Something else (please explain below) 

 

 

 

 
  

Page 225



 174  

Training and Development 
 
 
Q102. Do you agree that the National Care Service should set training and development 

requirements for the social care workforce? 
 

 Yes 

 No 

Please say why 

 

 

 

 
Q103. Do you agree that the National Care Service should be able to provide and or 

secure the provision of training and development for the social care workforce? 
 

 Yes 

 No 

 
  

Page 226



 175  

Personal Assistants 
 
 
Q104. Do you agree that all personal assistants should be required to register centrally 

moving forward? 
 

 Yes 

 No 

Please say why.  

 

 

 

 
Q105. What types of additional support might be helpful to personal assistants and 

people considering employing personal assistants? (Please tick all that apply) 
 

 National minimum employment standards for the personal assistant employer 

 Promotion of the profession of social care personal assistants 

 Regional Networks of banks matching personal assistants and available work 

 Career progression pathway for personal assistants 

 Recognition of the personal assistant profession as part of the social care 
workforce and for their voice to be part of any eventual national forum to 
advise the National Care Service on workforce priorities 

 A free national self-directed support advice helpline 

 The provision of resilient payroll services to support the personal assistant’s 
employer as part of their Self-directed Support Option 1 package 

 Other (please explain) 

 

 

 

 
Q106. Should personal assistants be able to access a range of training and 

development opportunities of which a minimum level would be mandatory?  
 

 Yes 

 No 

 
 

Page 227



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3a Minutes of the Edinburgh Partnership of 21 September 2021
	4b Climate Strategy
	4c Collaborative Working with Edinburgh Association of Community Councils
	4d Armed Forces Covenant
	Edinburgh Community Covenant – Progress Report
	1. Executive Summary
	2. Recommendations
	3. Main Report
	4. Contact


	4e Edinburgh Partnership Budget
	Edinburgh Partnership Budget
	1. Executive Summary
	2. Recommendations
	3. Main Report
	4. Contact


	4f National Care Service
	Scottish Government National Care Service Consultation
	1. Executive Summary
	2. Recommendations
	3. Main Report
	4. Contact
	5. Appendices – consultation responses
	1. The City of Edinburgh Council Response
	Summary

	1. The City of Edinburgh Council welcomes this opportunity to respond to the Scottish Government Consultation on the establishment of a new National Care Service for Scotland.
	2. This response is being submitted in addition to a submission responding to the consultation questions. This is being done to ensure the Council’s views on the proposals are adequately articulated as the questions asked are not sufficiently open so ...
	3. In Summary, the Council:
	i. Supports the principles for improving social care and social work articulated by the Feeley Review
	ii. Recognises the challenges in delivering a shift in the balance of care; meeting the needs of service users within reducing budgets; the challenges of mixed local markets and current procurement methods; the undervaluing of care and carers and; the...
	iii. Believes that there are some key opportunities for service and outcome improvements through greater national collaboration; particularly around workforce, careers, pay, service standards, specialist and complex care, data and information sharing
	iv. Asks that these reforms are taken forward in partnership with councils and informed by officers working locally to deliver services alongside those with a strategic expertise.
	However, the council:
	v. Believes that the Scottish Government has not yet laid out a convincing and evidence-based proposal showing that structural change is the best means of resolving these issues or delivering on improvement opportunities.
	vi. Is concerned by the ambiguity in the proposals being put forward for consultation which seem to go well beyond any mandate established during the election and asks that the Scottish Government further consult once it is able to lay out sufficientl...
	vii. Is concerned that proposals for change of this magnitude are being brought forward at a time of great service stress, as a result of the pandemic, and for a workforce and a wider system that continues to operate under great strain with limited re...
	viii. Believes that Children’s services, Criminal Justice Social Work and Homelessness should remain out of scope.
	ix. Notes that many of the issues with the current system identified by the Feeley Review are a result of a reducing/underfunded local authority budget – despite local authority efforts to protect front line service spend.
	x. Believes that a concerted effort to address that underfunding would, at this point in time, have more impact than structural change without the service level upheaval and distraction involved in establishing a new body.
	xi. Notes that the financial implications for local government could extend beyond the services referenced to impact the debt profile of the Council and its ability to leverage capital and borrowing for investment in critical infrastructure and other ...
	xii. Is concerned that the reforms are being proposed without reference to the wider system of interdependent services; in particular, the potential for these reforms to reshape the nature and role of local government as a consequence of the establish...
	xiii. Would like to see greater clarity on how these reforms will positively contribute to tackling poverty; improving wellbeing and shifting the balance of care
	xiv. Expects the Scottish Government to lead by example in terms of producing detailed equality impact assessments and consulting direct with service users including children and young people.
	xv. Notes the experience of establishing Public Health Scotland shows how long establishing a new national body could take with a relatively simple landscape of services and professions and is concerned that the timeframe set out for a National Care S...
	4. The response below further explains the Council position summarised above and includes some more technical detail around key areas such as key service areas, workforce, funding, governance, information sharing and procurement.
	Response to the Consultation

	General comments and questions
	5. The City of Edinburgh Council welcomes this opportunity to respond to the Scottish Government consultation on the establishment of a new National Care Service for Scotland.
	6. The Council shares the Scottish Government’s commitment to ensuring that social care and social work services are highly valued; are built on a rights based and personalised approach; achieve improved outcomes for service users; are adequately reso...
	7. The Council is keen to work with COSLA and the Scottish Government on any forthcoming material with the aim of improving the delivery of health and social care in Scotland and believes that any  proposal for a National Care Service would only be st...
	8. However, the consultation does not describe the form and function of the new care service in sufficient detail to allow meaningfully responses to be made or for this process to be considered as having fulfilled requirements to consult on reform of ...
	9. While the Council provides as full a response as possible on key issues below, the following questions would need to addressed in order to give due consideration to the Government’s ambition for an National Care Service :
	i. What issues, challenges or opportunities is the NCS being established to address?
	ii. What evidence is there that nationalisation of a service is the best answer and were other options considered?
	iii. What services would be in scope of the reform and what is the rationale for their inclusion?
	iv. Is the Government considering progressing that in a single step or as part of a staged approach?
	v. How are staff going to be integrated into the new body and how will they be organised?
	vi. Will the duties relating to all services being nationalised be removed from Local Government?
	vii. How will support functions currently delivered within Councils (such as ICT, procurement, information governance, HR) be impacted?
	viii. How will governance actually work and how is it envisaged that the systems of governance interact?
	ix. There are significant strategies, objectives, ambitions and plans across the proposed scope of the new body and into the wider public service landscape. How will the wider policy landscape be joined up under this new body and as part of the reform...
	x. What level of local democratic accountability is anticipated in the new systems?
	xi. What are the envisaged implications of this move on the form and function of local government and how do these reforms contribute positively to localism?
	xii. What is the proposed means of paying for the substantive costs involved in increasing and extending entitlements as well as the costs associated with structural reform of this scale?
	xiii. How will capital investments and assets be accounted?
	xiv. Given the lack of detail in the current consultation, will there be further consultation before legislation is proposed?
	10. The City of Edinburgh Council has made every effort, within the context of reducing public budgets to protect front line services, particularly those aimed at vulnerable residents and to prioritise poverty and prevention within its work and budget...
	11. As mentioned, the consultation makes several commitments to deliver free and increased provision for services in scope. Estimates from the Scottish Government are for additional investment in excess of £800m to achieve this outcome. If Edinburgh b...
	12. Scottish Government commitment to the additional resource investment required to improve outcomes identified in the consultation regardless of whether or not services are centralised would also ensure that professional and citizen engagement in th...
	13. These general remarks aside, the following issues relating to specific services are highlighted for consideration by the Scottish Government.
	Children’s services and Education
	14. The Council notes that children, young people and their families have not been consulted directly on the proposals for service redesign and that wider impact assessment including those relating to communities with protected characteristics have no...
	15. The published proposals do not consider or describe the interplay between children’s services and education. Councils have previously taken the view that the benefit of having children’s services and social work closely aligned with local educatio...
	16. In addition, audits conducted into child protection incidents or incidents involving vulnerable adults nearly always point to a break down in local relationships, trust and information sharing as a major contributing factor to increased risk and h...
	17. Given that the Scottish Government has not described how inclusion into a national body would meaningfully improve outcomes for children and noting the absence of evidence to support this move and the potential increase in risk to services should ...
	Local Government as a social care provider
	18. The suggestion that local government will retain a role as a social care service provider within the social care market and under a national service model of commissioning is untested. In order to take a view on this, Council’s would need to be cl...
	Criminal Justice Social Work
	19. The CJ community has already, and relatively recently, undergone a period of reform - from the establishment of Community Justice Authorities to the establishment of Criminal Justice Scotland. The case for reform and uncertainty when the service i...
	20. Again, structural change without additional resources will see no change in the level and quality of services offered to our citizens. There needs to be a shift in the amount invested in community disposals rather than prisons.  If the additional ...
	21. In addition, the evidence is clear that better access to welfare, housing, and employability assistance, as well as health care, have an important role in reducing or even prevent offending. Similarly, the shift away from short prison sentences ne...
	Homelessness
	22. Homelessness services are also noted as potentially in scope for the new services although no information as to the scale or rational for its inclusion has been given.
	23. Councils have made considerable progress in addressing homelessness through their Rapid Rehousing Transition Plans, and Edinburgh has introduced effective models of prevention and early intervention in collaboration with a range of local partners.
	24. The local context is crucial in shaping the demand and the type of response needed to support those who find themselves homeless or at risk of being homeless. Edinburgh’s housing market is shaped by its uniquely high cost of renting or buying home...
	25. However, for those with significant health and social care support needs, there may be some benefit in establishing a strengthened approach which offers additional eligibility, entitlements and access to services. The Council would be keen to enga...
	26. More progress is needed to ensure that people are given the support that they need to take up the option of a personal budget to meet their needs in a way that best suits them. This has been challenging for a range of reasons, including the availa...
	Reform of the IJB
	27. The Council recognises that despite local progress on integration, there remains a need to improve the framework of services in place to meet people’s social care needs. A large part of the local challenge relates to pressures arising from the mis...
	28. The consultation does not articulate how or why the proposals for change would be able to improve on and overcome the challenges currently faced by the IJB. Integration is also relatively new as a structure and we should invest in improving the ef...
	Local Partnership working during national restructuring
	29. When considering the benefit, opportunities and risks of the Scottish Government proposals, consideration should be given from the learning and experience of recent centralisation of services and the establishment of national bodies such as Fire, ...
	30. It is unclear what workforce(s) are in scope and what being in scope would mean. There are workforce implications in the long term should a National Care Service be established but the proposals themselves, and the prospect of this level of upheav...
	31. The risk that substantive numbers within the social care and social work profession will take the prospect of change at this magnitude and at this point in time as impetus to leave or retire is significant. In Edinburgh, more people aged over 80 w...
	32. However, workforce is one area where a more national framework would potentially benefit the service and its long term sustainability and attraction as a positive career choice. Harmonisation of pay and fair work principles, improved training and ...
	33. The governance within the consultation is loosely described, with a lack of clarity on the form, duties and responsibilities and how the system would work as a whole and integrate with partners. It is not clear how duties relating to the services ...
	I. The structures which will be put in place to improve service delivery – structural reform does not just result in improved service and there needs to be more detail on what will be put in place;
	II. Where legislative duties will sit whilst ensuring responsibility, accountability and service delivery sit together;
	III. How CHSCBs will be effective with accountability to ministers rather than the National Care Service
	IV. The loss of local democracy and accountability with service delivery being accountable to one minister rather than local people and communities;
	V. How national consistency and oversight will be managed whilst still ensuring local decisions and solutions; and
	VI. Further detail on how the service will integrate on housing, education and policing recognising that being a statutory consultee is not integration.
	VII. The relationship between the NCS and Criminal Justice Scotland and other relevant national bodies
	34. Local democratic accountability is not achieved through the membership of a small number of Councillors on a Board or Partnership. Divorcing services targeting some of our most vulnerable resident from local democratic accountability is not desira...
	Funding
	35. The proposals provide no detail as to how the identified additional entitlements and rights and the costs associated with the development and ongoing running costs of the new body would be funded. In Edinburgh, the budget for the services potentia...
	36. Depending on the scope of the reform, these proposals could therefore remove about 40% of the Council’s budget. The financial implications for local government could extend beyond the services referenced to impact the wider debt profile of the Cou...
	37. The consultation is not clear on how capital and capital assets will be dealt with if social care and social work services are centralised along with their revenue budgets. The purchase, rental or sale of capital assets will need careful operation...
	38. The mixed market of social care is also linked to the overall cost of social care. The consultation document does not deal with the difficult issue of profit within the sector and the different local pressures on markets with a strong private sect...
	39. Audit Scotland report on police integration reflected the challenges of a proposal for change built on the assumption of efficiencies. Nationalising a service does not necessarily result in efficiency especially when a service has experienced a hi...
	40. Scottish Government should provide absolute clarity on these points given the potentially significant ongoing financial implications of these proposals for the whole of Scotland and for the financial stability of local government. This includes de...
	Other considerations
	41. It is acknowledged that for certain service needs there might be some benefits to a more collective approach to procurement in terms of efficiencies and scale that it would be helpful to explore. However, there are existing mechanisms, frameworks ...
	42. In addition, the Council’s experience is that the market is fragmented and locally based, with the majority of social care provision being delivered by SMEs and the third sector. Further, and more importantly in terms of service delivery, there is...
	43. In particular, the Council is currently undertaking work in Community Based Networks and Hubs, through current work in the Edinburgh PACT and 20 minute neighbourhoods, which is seeking to build a community “circle of support” with statutory servic...
	44. Market shaping is certainly required to meet the demands the Council is experiencing in particular sectors, with increases in numbers of older people, especially those with disabilities, complex and multiple needs and increases in the number of ch...
	45. However, the Council’s experience, through listening to social care providers, is that traditional forms of procurement do not necessarily deliver the outcomes that are needed for these services. Instead, better outcomes are more likely to be secu...
	46. While it is recognised that a National Care Service will require data in achieve its functions, the existing legislative landscape already enables proportionate and relevant data sharing.  Data protection law already provides legal gateways which ...
	47. It is accepted that there can be some concerns over the legality of sharing personal data in certain contexts; however, in order to ensure public trust, it is recommended that this be tackled through better communication and guidance to improve co...
	48. Investment in better communications, guidance and/or codes of practice would consolidate a consistent approach to data collection and information flows without eroding individual rights and public trust.
	49. On a practical level, prescriptive data collection would be complex to achieve given the number and variety of organisations involved. It may also cause organisation to collect data that they do not need, and a national record may then retain info...
	50. The creation of an over-arching record will also require consideration in terms of statutory responsibility and control. Should responsibilities for record-keeping be centralised to a single body, that same body will need to also become responsibl...
	51. Such a national recording system is likely to require extensive resource to ensure effective central administration, system support, and regulatory compliance. If a devolved record-keeping model is chosen instead, where different organisations ret...
	52. A more practical and less burdensome approach to support consistent and effective information flow and service user experience would be create a series of thematic but detailed good practice codes addressing record-keeping, data sharing, and right...
	53. Scottish Public Services Ombudsman (SPSO) already provides the priorities identified in the consultation and a model complaints handling system (including for social care services) and it is unclear what is likely to be achieved by introducing a n...

	Improving care for people
	Improvement
	Access to Care and Support
	Right to breaks from caring
	Complaints and putting things right
	Residential Care Charges
	Children’s services
	Healthcare
	Social Work and Social Care

	Reformed Integration Joint Boards: Community Health and Social Care Boards
	Core principles for regulation and scrutiny
	Strengthening regulation and scrutiny of care services
	Market oversight function

	Valuing people who work in social care
	Fair Work
	Workforce planning
	2. NHS Lothian Response


	1. Improving care for people
	Improvement
	Right to breaks from caring
	Using data to support care
	Complaints and putting things right
	Residential Care Charges

	2. National Care Service
	Children’s services
	Healthcare
	Nursing
	Justice Social Work
	Prisons
	Alcohol and Drug Services
	Mental Health Services
	National Social Work Agency

	8.
	9. Reformed Integration Joint Boards: Community Health and Social Care Boards
	10. Regulation
	Core principles for regulation and scrutiny
	Strengthening regulation and scrutiny of care services
	Market oversight function
	Enhanced powers for regulating care workers and professional standards

	11. Valuing people who work in social care
	Fair Work
	Workforce planning
	Training and Development
	Personal Assistants
	3.  Edinburgh Child Protection Committee


	1. Improving care for people
	Improvement
	Access to Care and Support
	Right to breaks from caring
	Using data to support care
	Complaints and putting things right
	Residential Care Charges

	2. National Care Service
	3. Scope of the National Care Service
	Children’s services
	Healthcare
	Social Work and Social Care
	Nursing
	Justice Social Work
	Prisons
	Alcohol and Drug Services
	Mental Health Services
	National Social Work Agency

	4.
	5. Reformed Integration Joint Boards: Community Health and Social Care Boards
	6. Commissioning of services
	7. Regulation
	Core principles for regulation and scrutiny
	Strengthening regulation and scrutiny of care services
	Market oversight function
	Enhanced powers for regulating care workers and professional standards

	8. Valuing people who work in social care
	Fair Work
	Workforce planning
	Training and Development
	Personal Assistants



